
 

 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy    www.facebook.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy  

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Local Pension Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Friday, 26 January 2024 at 9.30 am 

Location: Guthlaxton Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Mrs Angie Smith (0116 305 2583). 

Email: Angie.Smith@leics.gov.uk 

 

AGENDA 
 
Item  Report By  Marked 

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 1 December 
2024  
 

 
 

(Pages 3 - 20) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

6.  
  

Overview of the Current Asset Strategy and 
Proposed 2024 Asset Strategy.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 21 - 108) 

7.  
  

Draft Responsible Investment Plan 2024  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 109 - 
122) 

8.  
  

Pension Fund Training Needs Self 
Assessment.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 123 - 
142) 

9.  Date of next meeting.   
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.facebook.com/LeicsDemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy


 

 

   
 The next meeting is scheduled for 8 March 2024, at 9.30am. 

 
 

10.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

TO: 
   

Leicestershire County Council 
 

 

Mr. T. Barkley CC (Chairman) 
Mr. D. Grimley CC  
Mr. P. King CC 
 
Leicester City Council 
 

Mr. D. Bill CC MBE 
Mrs. A. Wright CC 

Cllr. A. Clarke 
Cllr. M. March 
 

 

District Council Representatives 
 
Cllr. M. Cartwright 
Cllr. R. Denney 
 
University Representative   
  
Mr. Z. Limbada 
 

 

 

Scheme Member Representatives  
  
Mr. V. Bechar 
Mr. N. Booth 
Mr. C. Pitt  
 
 
 
 



 

  

 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Local Pension Committee held at County Hall, 
Glenfield on Friday, 1 December 2023.  
   

PRESENT: 

Leicestershire County Council 

 

 

Mr. D. J. Grimley CC (Chairman) 

Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 

Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC 

 

Mr. D. Harrison CC 

Mr. P. King CC 

 

 

Leicester City Council 

 

Cllr. M. March 

 

 

District Council Representative 
 
Cllr. M. Cartwright 
Cllr. R. Denney 
 
Scheme Member Representatives 

 

Mr. N. Booth 

Mr. C. Pitt 

 

Also in attendance 
 
Cllr. A. Clarke (virtual) – Leicester City Council Representative 

Mr. Z. Limbada (virtual) – University Representative 
 

Independent Advisers and Managers  

 
LGPS Central 
Mr. Patrick O’Hara 
Mr. Edward Baker 
Mr. Alex Galbraith  
 
Legal and General Investment Management (LGIM) 
Mr. James Sparshott 
Mr. Stephen Beer 
 
 

73. Minutes.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 8 September 2023 were taken as read, confirmed 
and signed.  
 
 
 
 

3 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

74. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
34. 
 
 

75. Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 
 

76. Urgent Items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 
 

77. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
Councillor Denney declared an Other Registrable Interest in all of the substantive items 
on the agenda as he had investments managed by companies that also managed some 
of the Fund. 
 
 

78. Funding Position Update.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources which 
provided information on the Fund’s estimated Funding Position as at 30 September 2023. 
A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 6’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Members welcomed the substantial increase in the overall funding level from 105% to 
149% funded, but agreed that extra caution was needed given that the assets held in the 
Fund were broadly the same as in 2022. Members noted that the mid-valuation was not 
as thorough as the full valuation exercise which would be undertaken in 2025 and that 
over this longer term the increase could just as quickly be reduced with a reduction in 
inflation and discount rates. Members considered the current position to be a short-term 
anomaly and agreed to await the next valuation to see if the level of funding could be 
sustained. 
 
The Director confirmed that there would need to be a full review of assumptions before 
deciding on member contribution rates which would have to be based on long-term 
improvement, and not on a single data point in time. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Cartwright and seconded by Mr. Bill CC, that “In light of 
COP28 taking place right now and the motions submitted to the Committee from district 
councils, such as Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council, which was seconded in my 
name, that LGPS require Central to set up a specific fossil free fund.” 
 
In light of the motion now moved, a Member questioned what feedback had been sought 
to understand pension scheme members’ views on how they would like to see the Fund 
invested, particularly with regard to investments in fossil fuel companies.    The Director 

4



 
 

 

advised that fund members had been consulted as part of the development of the Fund’s 
Net Zero Strategy, the outcome of which had been reported to this Committee in 2022 
and 2023 prior to the Strategy being approved.  This had shown polarised views on the 
approach to be adopted, but this had been slightly weighted towards engagement rather 
than divestment.  The Director undertook to forward to the Member copies of those 
reports. 
 
A Member raised a point of order on the basis that the Motion now put, and the questions 
being raised, were not related or relevant to the report under discussion and should be 
raised either under another, more appropriate item, or as an item for a future agenda to 
allow for a proper debate to take place.   
 
The Chairman, after receiving advice from officers, suggested to Councillor Cartwright 
that the motion would be better put under agenda item 12, Climate Risk Management 
Report 2023.  Councillor Cartwright indicated that in line with such advice he wished to 
seek permission to withdraw his Motion at this point in the meeting.  Following the 
concurrence of the seconder, the Committee agreed to the withdrawal of the Motion. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Fund’s estimated Funding Position as at 30 September 2023 be noted. 
 
 

79. Summary Valuation of Pension Fund Investments.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources, the purpose 
of which was to provide an update on the investment markets and how individual asset 
classes were performing, focussing on listed equity. The report also provided an update 
on progress with respect to the listed equity changes approved by the Investment Sub-
Committee in April 2023 and to the scope of the Fund’s investment advisor’s strategic 
asset allocation review which would be presented to the Committee for approval in 
January 2024. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 7’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
It was noted that phase two, the reorganising of listed equity holdings, which was the 
reorganisation of the Legal and General Investment Manager (LGIM) passive holdings, 
had been completed on 15 November 2023. The two final stages left were forecasted to 
be completed by the end of the current financial year. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report on the Summary Valuation of Pension Fund Investments be noted.  
 
 

80. Risk Management and Internal Controls and Pension Fund Budget Monitoring Update.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources, the purpose 
of which was to advise of any changes relating to the risk management and internal 
controls of the Pension Fund, as stipulated in the Pension Regulator’s Code of Practice, 
and to provide an update regarding the Pension Fund’s budget for 2023/24. A copy of the 
report marked ‘Agenda Item 8’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Director advised the Committee that following publication of the report, there had 
been one further change following the Government’s Autumn Statement regarding the 

5



 
 

 

consultation on pooling and the proposal that this be brought forward. A new risk would 
be drafted and added to the risk register in time for the next Committee meeting. 
 
Arising from discussion, the following points arose: 
 

i. Members noted the scale of the work involved in implementing the McCloud remedy 

and to rebuild the records necessary to assess members entitlements which had so 

far taken two years, but which was now 90% complete. New retirees or new leavers in 

scope were automatically being calculated with the McCloud remedy in place. It was 

reported that there were some anomalies where system calculations did not work, but 

these had been highlighted and reported back to the system provider to address.  

 

ii. The next part of the exercise would be to look retrospectively to see if members 

benefits might need to change.  This would begin shortly and likely to take a further 

one to two years to complete.  In terms of expectations, Members noted that less than 

1% of members were expected to receive an increase in their benefits. So far only two 

cases had been identified which were for small increases. 

 

iii. In response to a Member’s questions, it was reported that beneficiaries of deceased 

scheme members did not need to submit a claim, as these would automatically be 

addressed and paid as part of the work being undertaken. 

 
iv. A Member queried if more cases would affect the next valuation. The Director 

reported that for the actuarial valuation in 2022, McCloud had already been taken into 

account and for 2023 the impact had been reduced. The potential cost had been 

overstated and so whilst further adjustment might be needed this was expected to 

minimal. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
a. That the report on Risk Management and Internal Controls be noted; 

 
b. That the revised risk register be approved; 

 
c. That the current budget and forecasted costs for the Pension Fund budget for 

2023/24 be noted. 

 
81. Action Agreed by the Investment Sub-Committee.  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources, the purpose 
of which was to provide details of decisions taken by the Investment Sub-Committee 
(ISC) at its meeting held on 11 October 2023. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 
9’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report on Action Agreed by the Investment Sub-Committee be noted. 
 
 
 
 

6



 
 

 

82. Responsible Investing Update.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources, the purpose 
of which was to update the Committee on progress versus the Responsible Investment 
Plan 2023, update the Committee on the Fund’s quarterly voting report and stewardship 
activities, and set out a high-level overview of the Fund’s investment managers net zero 
approach. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 10’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Chairman welcomed to the meeting Ms. Zina Zelter, a representative of Climate 
Action Leicester and Leicestershire. Ms. Zelter presented to the Committee the following 
representation: 
 

“Thank you for allowing me to speak in person today on behalf of Climate Action 
Leicester and Leicestershire. As a group we have thousands of members locally, 
hundreds of whom are in your pension scheme, and are supported by dozens of 
local groups as well as five local councils who’ve passed motions this year calling 
on you to stop investing in fossil fuel producing companies. 
 
We want to ask you to question the assumptions and beliefs which underpin your 
approach to responsible investment. We are concerned that some of the 
assumptions we’ve heard repeatedly in this committee over the past four years, 
are preventing you from creating real world change when it comes to the carbon 
emissions of fossil fuel companies - and at the moment these companies produce 
almost half of the worlds carbon emissions! 
 
As you can see from our paper submission to this meeting, there are several of 
these assumptions which we’d like you to reconsider, but the one we want to 
particularly want to raise today is the belief that fossil fuel companies are part of 
the solution to climate change. 
 
Our question to you is what is the solution you think fossil fuel producing 
companies offer? Carbon capture and storage is not expected to become a fully 
functioning technology for at least ten years – but the world must half its carbon 
emissions within the next ten years in order to stay below 1.5degrees of global 
heating. 
 
If fossil fuel producers were serious about developing Carbon capture and storage 
technology, they would be pouring all their capital expenditure into it. Instead, they 
are deliberately using the idea that it might be a solution to make organisations like 
this pension fund continue to invest in them, at the same time as spending their 
capital on opening new reserves of oil and gas. 
 
Obviously we need to continue using oil and gas while the world transitions to net 
zero. But equally obviously, this oil and gas is already in production. These 
reserves don’t need investment because they are already operational – and they 
contain enough fossil fuels to carry the world to net zero. 
 
The only realistic way in which fossil fuel companies can become part of the 
solution to climate change is by halving their fossil production by 2030. But by 
putting the vast majority of their capital expenditure into opening new oil and gas 
reserves instead, they are showing that although they claim to listen to 
shareholder engagement, they have no intention of doing what is needed within 
the timeframe necessary. By continuing to invest in and engage with them you are 
doing exactly what they want. You are providing a fig leaf for their fossil fuel 

7



 
 

 

expansion and enabling them to lobby against climate legislation. Which is what 
they are doing at COP28 right now. 
 
If you want to create real world change which will reduce the risk to this pension 
scheme and the world from climate change – and again, bear in mind that these 
few companies currently produce almost half of the worlds carbon emissions – 
then fossil fuel producers have to be required to change by national and 
international legislation. The changes companies have made so far, are mainly as 
a result of the International 2016 Paris agreement to try to keep the world below 
1.5oC of heating. 
 
And it is legislation of this nature which can force all fossil fuel companies to 
reduce their production, which is why they are lobbying so hard against it. 
 
So the question is, what can you as a pension scheme do to encourage 
international climate legislation and reduce the risk climate change poses to the 
pension scheme? The answer is to stigmatise the behaviour of fossil fuel 
producing companies, thereby creating an environment where effective climate 
legislation is easier to negotiate and enforce. Stop providing a fig leaf for these 
companies climate wreaking activities, and instead publically remove your support 
by divesting and encouraging other pension funds to divest. This would have an 
impact on all fossil fuel producers, not just the ones you invest in and engage with. 
 

We know this approach can work to support climate legislation because Figueres, 
the lead UN diplomat for the 2010-2016 Paris negotiations said – and I quote - that 
financial divestment from fossil fuel companies “was a primary driver of success at 
the Paris Climate Talks”. So the lead negotiator for the Paris agreement – an 
agreement which has resulted in much of the real world change to date - says 
divestment effectively supports the creation of International climate legislation. 
 

Which brings me to our final point. Removing fossil fuel producers from your 
investments can be beneficial for the financial performance of your investments. 
Even with the war in the Ukraine, both the MCSI and the FTSE indices excluding 
fossil fuels show better performance than those including them. Your fiduciary duty 
to the fund does not prevent you ending these investments, and removing the fig 
leaf which you are currently providing to fossil fuel producing companies. Other 
pension funds are doing this and you can too. 
 

Please revisit, discuss and consider in depth the assumptions which are 
preventing you from ending your investments. You have the power to support real 
world climate legislation instead of supporting the drivers of climate change.” 

 
The Chairman then read out the following statement: 
 

“First, I want to say I know the Committee and I welcome your continued 
engagement with the Pension Fund on these matters. Undoubtedly, we share a 
common goal supporting the transition to a carbon neutral world, even if our views 
on the necessary steps to achieve this differ. 
 
As you are aware these are not clear-cut issues and have been debated at 
Committee at various stages in the development of the Fund’s Net Zero Climate 
Strategy. There are several reasons, as have been previously outlined, as to why 
a comprehensive divestment strategy is not suitable for our Fund on financial 

8



 
 

 

grounds or our broader climate goals. This is despite the positive impression it 
would have on our own carbon footprint. 
 
As set out in the Strategy, we are committed to supporting real-world carbon 
emission reduction, recognising that no company is insulated from the economic 
impact of extreme global warming. The Strategy acknowledges that both 
engagement and divestment are important components for managing fiduciary 
risk. These are considerations we know many of our investment managers will 
also be making on a day-to-day basis when determining risk to their investments. 
 
We are committed to working with our partners and managers to engage with 
companies that are misaligned with the Paris Agreement. Commitments to divest 
unilaterally from fossil fuel producers only result in those holdings being 
consolidated by their top investors, as set out in a report from the Centre for 
Climate Crime and Climate Justice, so it is vital we maintain our voice against 
those investors that may have a shorter-term and less climate conscious view. 
 
The Fund’s fourth climate report elsewhere on today’s agenda sets the key 
highlights of our progress, including a 38% reduction in carbon intensity of the 
Fund since 2019, but we still have a long way to go in support of real-world 
emissions reductions. We will continue to develop our approach in light of best 
practice and financial and legal advice to the Fund and will continue to consider 
these representations as part of any future review of the Net Zero Climate 
Strategy.  
 
Again, I appreciate your thoughtful words to the Committee and representations on 
this important issue.” 

 
Arising from discussion, the following points arose: 
 

i. A Member questioned if it was possible to quantify the success of the Fund’s 
engagement with companies in generating a move away from fossil fuel. It was 
reported that every quarter there were reports from partners, such as LGPS Central, 
the Local Authority Pension Fund Partnership, and LGIM monitoring the position. 
However, engagement was a long-term endeavour, and whilst gradual progress could 
be seen it was difficult to demonstrate quarter to quarter. It was noted that previous 
reports had included details of engagement and progress made with top emitters, on 
environment, social and governance issues. The Director undertook to provide some 
specific examples to Members after the meeting.  

 
ii. A Member queried if any of the Fund’s investments were with companies involved in 

arms production. The Director confirmed that managers had been contacted some 
time ago to try to quantify exposure through defence and aerospace markets.  
However, this was difficult given there was no national definition as to what this 
included. Some funds, including LGIM (Legal and General Investment Management) 
and LGPS Central, excluded investments with companies involved in the manufacture 
and sale of controversial weapons, but this did not necessarily capture the entire 
defence sector which was much broader. The Director undertook to clarify the position 
and provide more information to Members after the meeting. 

 
iii. A Member highlighted that the Committee had set out its net zero targets and 

welcomed the fact that it had begun reporting on some of these metrics where 
possible, so that the Committee could begin to see what progress was being made.  It 
was emphasised that this would take time but that, as set out in the Funds’ Net Zero 

9



 
 

 

Carbon Strategy (NZCS), the Fund would be able to review and develop investment 
mandates to ensure further alignment with its NZCS. Examples of such decisions 
included the commitment to the Quinbrook Net Zero Infrastructure Power Fund, as 
well as Stafford Capital carbon offset fund, which was a sustainable forestry fund. 
 

iv. Another Member commented that there was a general movement that required 
pension committees to now face up to their moral responsibilities as well as their 
fiduciary duties and suggested that this was to be welcomed. The Director highlighted 
that the mandate set by the Funds agreed NZCS and by previous investment 
decisions made by this Committee and the Investment Sub-Committee had been 
clear in supporting this approach. However, a balancing act was necessary to weigh 
up the fiduciary duty owed against any potential negative impact of any investment. 

 
The Chairman reminded Members who had strong personal or political views on ethical, 
environmental investment issues that they needed to mindful of the Committee’s Conflict 
of Interest Policy. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
a. That the updated report on Responsible Investing be noted. 
 
b. That the comments received from Ms. Zelter, Climate Action Leicester and 

Leicestershire be noted; 
 

c. That the Director of Corporate Resources be requested to: 
i. provide some specific examples to Members of how its engagement with 

companies was helping to secure a move away from fossil fuel; 
ii. clarify the position regarding the Fund’s investments with companies involved 

in the production of arms. 
 

 
83. Investment Advisor Objectives 2024.  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources, the purpose 
of which was to provide details regarding the proposed 2024 investment advisor 
objectives for Hymans Robertson, the Fund’s investment advisor. A copy of the report 
marked ‘Agenda Item 11’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Investment Advisor Objectives for 2024 be approved. 
 
 

84. Climate Risk Management Report 2023.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources the purpose 
of which was to provide background information on Leicestershire County Council’s 
Pension Fund (the Fund) 2023 Climate Risk Management Report (formerly known as the 
Climate Risk Report), and progress towards net zero targets. A copy of the report marked 
‘Agenda Item 12’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Chairman welcomed to the meeting Mr. Patrick O’Hara, Mr. Edward Baker and Mr. 
Alex Galbraith from LGPS Central who supplemented the report with a presentation. A 
copy of the slides is also filed with these minutes. 

10



 
 

 

 
Arising from discussion and questions, the following points arose: 
 

i. In response to a Member’s query regarding companies’ greenhouse gas emissions, it 

was noted that audits were undertaken by large audit firms such as KPMG, Ernst and 

Young, and PWC. They were appointed by the company themselves, following 

guidelines about audit rotation and the data was made public.  These audits were 

then used by LGPS Central to identify where best to engage with companies to 

deliver its net zero targets. 

 

ii. It was noted that various tools and escalations could be taken against companies that 

failed to engage with LGPS Central regarding decarbonisation, such as public debate, 

shareholder resolutions, provision for legal action against a board for non-

transparency. Ultimately, if a company was not being transparent this would affect 

confidence and result in those companies no longer being attractive for investment.  

 

iii. Members noted that LGPS Central met with managers on a quarterly basis to discuss 

and challenge them on progress being made with companies to deliver 

environmental, social and governance (ESG) integration.  This was regarded as 

‘business as usual’ activity for any responsible manager of an investment portfolio. 

 

iv. The Director highlighted that the Net Zero Climate Strategy set targets for the fund as 

a whole for decarbonisation (including those which sat outside of the central pool).  

The Fund would be kept under review to ensure it was on track to meet those targets 

at the right pace, and continue to report annually on the progress being made.  

 
v. A Member questioned if and how adjustments might be made to record emissions 

arising from staff working from home. LGPS Central reported that as a business it was 

beginning to set targets for its own emissions, covering buildings and any travel 

associated with work. However, the impact of homeworking was difficult to capture as 

it relied on staff providing data on their own personal energy usage. Homeworkers 

would be encouraged to participate and record their energy use increases when 

working at home in an attempt to begin to collect such data collection which could in 

turn assist other business in trying to record their emissions more accurately in light of 

increased hybrid working practices. 

 
vi. A Member questioned why, with regards to Climate Data Quality, there appeared to 

be some companies for which no data was held. It was noted that these might not 

necessarily be companies, but could be cash held in the portfolio, or collective 

investment schemes. It was further noted that where a company should but did not 

report emissions, it would be estimated based on its peer groups.   

 
vii. A Member questioned whether the Fund and the investments made towards 

decarbonisations would be affected if climate change was not demonstrated in the 
long term.  Officers confirmed that the approach to meet net zero targets was based 
in science and that it was accepted by climatologists that climate change was being 
contributed to by manmade activities.  Failure to transition towards decarbonisation 
would therefore affect investments.  Officers from LGPS Central commented that 
looking solely from the perspective of economics, it was clear that the oil and fossil 
fuel sector would shrink in the future, whilst electricity and other cleaner energy 
options would grow and therefore, despite the Funds decarbonisation targets, it was 

11



 
 

 

still the right way financially to invest over the long term.  In addition, companies were 
recognising that decarbonisation brought wider energy and cost efficiencies. 

 
viii. A Member requested more information regarding the successes of collaborative 

engagement with companies on climate action delivered by the current policy. The 

Fund invested in excess of £6billion on behalf of 100,000 plus scheme members and 

it was questioned how this helped to nudge companies to meet aspirations of 

responsible investment.  Members noted that some examples would be: 

 

• The increasing number of companies which now produced net zero plans and 

set net zero targets for delivery by 2050; 

• The level of disclosure amongst listed companies compared to private 

companies which was far more transparent regarding progress in delivering 

against those targets;  

• The successful encouragement of companies to produce reports on lobbying 

activity around climate (for example, some big mining companies now 

produced such reports and had ceased their involvement with industry bodies 

who were not conducive to the companies climate transition plans); 

• Action taken against BP which had now back-tracked on its transition plan to 

push back on some of its net zero targets following public backlash and 

scrutiny generated by investors and shareholders. 

 
The Chairman then invited Councillor Cartwright to put forward his previously raised 
motion. 
 
In moving the motion, Councillor Cartwright highlighted that other similar LGPS pools in 
the UK including Brunel, the London Collective Investment Vehicle and the Border to the 
Coast pool had fossil free investment funds as a result of their pension committees 
asking for them to be set up. 
 
They suggested that having a fossil free fund would make it simpler for the LLGPS to 
reduce its carbon intensive holdings in companies producing coal, oil and gas in line with 
the City and County Council’s Net Zero Strategies.  He also felt that the motion would 
allow a straightforward fossil free investment option in case the shares of fossil fuel 
companies suddenly lost value, which he considered to be a real risk to the Fund.  
 
He also suggested that other LGPS’s in the Central Pool would welcome a fossil free 
fund being set up. 
It was moved by Councillor Cartwright, and seconded by Mr Bill CC that: 
 
“In light of COP28 taking place right now and the motions submitted to the board from 
district councils such as Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council in my name that the 
LLGPS require Central Pool to set up a fossil free investment fund.” 
 
The Chair sought advice from the Director on the proposals, who suggested that if the 
Committee wished to consider requiring LGPS Central to establish a fossil free fund, that 
investment advisors should be asked to consider and provide advice on this as part of its 
proposed report to the Committee in January on the Strategic Asset Allocation. This 
would enable the proposal to be considered in light of the steps the Fund had already 
taken to decarbonise. 
 
An amendment was moved by Mr Grimley CC and seconded by Mr Harrison CC: 

12



 
 

 

 
“That the proposal requiring LGPS Central to establish a fossil fuel free fund be 
considered at the next meeting of the Committee to be held in January 2024 as part of its 
consideration of the Strategy Asset Allocation”.  
 
The amendment was put and carried unanimously, along with the recommendations set 
out in the report. 
 
[Councillor Denney had left the meeting before the motion was put and voted upon.] 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
a) That the proposal requiring LGPS Central to establish a fossil fuel free fund be 

considered at the next meeting of the Committee to be held in January 2024 as part 

of its consideration of the Strategy Asset Allocation; 

 

b) That the Climate Risk Management Report 2023 be noted; 

 
c) That the recommended actions and considerations set out at paragraph 28 of the 

report, for inclusion within the Fund’s Responsible Investment Plan 2024, be 

approved; 

 
d) That the Director be requested to provide information on the successes of 

collaborative engagement with companies on climate action at a future meeting of 

the Committee. 

 

 
85. Date of next meeting.  

 
The date of the next meeting was scheduled for 26 January 2024, at 9.30am. 
 
 

86. Exclusion of the Press and Public.  
 
RESOLVED: 
  
That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the public be excluded 
from the meeting for the remaining items of business on the grounds that they involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Act. 
  
 

87. Supplementary Information - Climate Report Analysis.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report of the Director of Corporate Resources. A 
copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 16’ is filed with these minutes. The report was 
not for publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

13



 
 

 

88. Legal and General Investment Management (LGIM) Investment Update.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report of the Director of Corporate Resources. A 
copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 17’ is filed with these minutes. The report was 
not for publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 
The Chairman welcomed to the meeting Mr. James Sparshott and Mr. Stephen Beer from 
Legal and General Investment Management (LGIM) who supplemented the report with a 
presentation, which is also filed with these minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

89. Leicestershire Summary Valuation - Hymans Robertson.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Hymans Robertson. A copy of the report 
marked ‘Agenda Item 18’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by 
virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

90. LGPS Central Quarterly Investment Report.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by LGPS Central. A copy of the report 
marked ‘Agenda Item 19’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by 
virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

91. LGPSC PE Primary  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by LGPS Central. A copy of the report 
marked ‘Agenda Item 20’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by 
virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

92. Adams Street Partners  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Adams Street Partners. A copy of the 
report marked ‘Agenda Item 21’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for 

14



 
 

 

publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government 
Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

93. Aspect Diversified  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Aspect Diversified. A copy of the report 
marked ‘Agenda Item 22’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by 
virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

94. Legal and General Investment Manager September 2023.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Legal and General Investment 
Management. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 23’ is filed with these minutes. 
The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of 
the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

95. Pictet.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Pictet Asset Management. A copy of the 
report marked ‘Agenda Item 24’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for 
publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government 
Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

96. Ruffer Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Ruffer LLP. A copy of the report marked 
‘Agenda Item 25’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue 
of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

15



 
 

 

97. ABRDN Capital Q1 and Q2 Reports  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Abrdn. A copy of the report marked 
‘Agenda Item 26’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue 
of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

98. IFM Investors Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by IFM Investors. A copy of the report 
marked ‘Agenda Item 27’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by 
virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

99. KKR Global.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by KKR Global Infrastructure Investors. A 
copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 28’ is filed with these minutes. The report was 
not for publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

100. AVPUT.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Saltgate Alternative Investment 
Services. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 29’ is filed with these minutes. The 
report was not for publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the 
Local Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

101. Partners Group.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Partners Group. A copy of the report 
marked ‘Agenda Item 30’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by 
virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

16



 
 

 

That the report be noted. 
 
 

102. Colliers.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Colliers. A copy of the report marked 
‘Agenda Item 31’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue 
of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

103. LGPSC Credit Partnership.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by LGPS Central. A copy of the report 
marked ‘Agenda Item 32’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by 
virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

104. Infracapital Greenfield.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Infracapital Greenfield Partners. A copy 
of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 33’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for 
publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government 
Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

105. JP Morgan Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by JP Morgan. A copy of the report marked 
‘Agenda Item 34’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue 
of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

106. LaSalle.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by LaSalle. A copy of the report marked 
‘Agenda Item 35’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue 
of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

17



 
 

 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

107. M&G Institutional  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by M&G Investments. A copy of the report 
marked ‘Agenda Item 36’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by 
virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

108. Quinbrook.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Quinbrook Infrastructure Partners. A 
copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 37’ is filed with these minutes. The report was 
not for publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

109. Real Assets LGPSC Credit Partnership  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by LGPS Central. A copy of the report 
marked ‘Agenda Item 38’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by 
virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

110. Stafford Timberland.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Stafford Timberland. A copy of the report 
marked ‘Agenda Item 39’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by 
virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

111. Aegon  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Aegon Asset Management. A copy of 
the report marked ‘Agenda Item 40’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for 

18



 
 

 

publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government 
Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 
 

10.00am to 12.44pm CHAIRMAN 
01 December 2023 

 

19



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE – 26 JANUARY 2024 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 

OVERVIEW OF THE CURRENT ASSET STRATEGY AND PROPOSED 
2024 ASSET STRATEGY 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Local Pension Committee of the outcome 
of the annual review of the Leicestershire Pension Fund’s (the Fund) strategic 
investment allocation and structure. A paper written by the Fund’s investment 
advisor Hymans Robertson supports this section and is appended to this paper. 

 

2. The report also provides advice regarding the Fund’s current investment strategy 
relating to fossil fuel exposure and provides advice, as requested by the Committee 
at its last meeting in December 2023, on the proposal to ‘require LGPS Central to 
establish a fossil fuel free fund’.   

 
Background 

 
3. The nature of the Fund’s liabilities is long-term. The strategic investment benchmark 

is structured to reflect the nature of liabilities by focusing on the need for long-term 
returns and a degree of inflation-linked returns. Market fluctuations will cause the 
Fund’s actual asset allocation to vary from the agreed strategic asset allocation 
(SAA) and investment within asset classes in which funding is ‘drawn down’ over a 
period of time will create further variation. The strategic benchmark, which is set 
each year, should therefore be considered an ‘anchor’ around which the actual 
asset allocation is managed. 
 

4. The Fund is invested in funds administered by LGPS Central (Central), a private 
company jointly owned by the Fund and seven other pension fund administering 
authorities. By pooling investment, Central aims to reduce costs, provide additional 
manager monitoring and improve responsible investment outcomes and investment 
returns to the ultimate benefit of Fund employers and members.  
 

5. Central’s product offer continues to develop, and the strategy review has been 
undertaken with this in mind like previous years. Dialogue continues with Central 
and other partner funds on a regular basis to ensure that Central’s offer meets the 
goals of the Fund. Pooling of Fund assets has resulted in Central becoming the 
single largest investment manager the Fund invests with. The Fund has made good 
progress regarding an orderly transition to Central products to date. Some 
investments in niche areas or where current investments are illiquid will take time to 
transition or may be kept outside of the pool on the advice of the Fund’s investment 
advisor. The advisor will take into account all relevant legislation and government 
guidance. 

 

21 Agenda Item 6



6. As of 30 September 2023, the value of pooled funds directly managed by Central 
and low-cost index trackers collectively procured from Legal and General (L&G) 
totals £3.0 billion or 52% of the Fund’s total value. The Fund has significant 
uncalled commitments made to Central illiquid products that, all things being equal, 
once called will increase the proportion of pooled funds invested with Central. 
  

7. Any decision on the appropriate investment allocation is inherently difficult and will 
inevitably come down to a ‘trade-off’ between expected risk and return.  Whilst 
historic measures for risk and return can be informative about how different asset 
classes are correlated to each other, they give no guarantee that these historic links 
will persist, and as a result an ‘optimal’ asset mix does not exist.  

 
8. 2022 was a reminder of this as previously held beliefs were proven not to be the 

case as both bonds and equities sold off sharply. This does not detract from the 
desirability to agree a strategic asset allocation benchmark that makes intuitive 
sense in terms of the risks being taken to achieve a required return in line with the 
Fund’s required rate of return as calculated by the Fund’s actuary Hymans 
Robertson. 
 

9. At the 1 December 2023 Local Pension Committee meeting, officers were asked to 
consider whether LGPS Central should be requested to set up a fossil fuel free 
fund. Officers were asked to investigate and present to the Local Pension 
Committee its findings and advice on the matter. 
 

Summary of Last Years (Jan 2023) Asset Strategy Proposals and Progress Made to 
Date 
 

10. No changes to asset allocations were proposed by the Fund’s investment advisor at 
the January 2023 Local Pension Committee. However, a number of asset class 
reviews were recommended, the outcomes of which are summarised below: 
 

a. Listed equity review – this was completed and considered in April 2023 by 
the Investment Sub-Committee (ISC) which agreed the implementation of the 
move from 42% of total assets being held in listed equity assets to 37.5%.  
The review was split into three stages and the recommendations of an 
independent transition advisor appointed as part of the review are 
summarised below:  

 

• Stage 1: Collapse the regional passive Legal and General Investment 
Management (LGIM) portfolio including the single stock funds into the 
following three Funds with LGIM: 

 
o L&G UK Equity Fund – 2% of total Fund assets 
o L&G All World Equity Fund – 8% of total Fund assets 
o L&G Low Carbon Transition Fund – 3.5% of total Fund assets 

 

• Stage 2: Decrease the allocation to the Central Climate Factor fund – 12% 
of total Fund assets. 

 

• Stage 3: Increase the allocation to the Central Global Equity fund – 12% of 
total Fund assets. 

 

• Stage 4: Divest from the Central Emerging Market multi manager fund. 
 

22



At the time of writing, Stages 1 and 2 have been completed.  This has 
reduced the actual weight of listed equity assets towards the 37.5% target, 
simplified the Legal and General passive holdings and introduced a low 
carbon transition passive fund.  Stage 2 was completed in September 2023 
with c£220m returned to the Fund from a decrease in the allocation to the 
Climate multi factor fund. 
 
Stages 3 and 4 of the changes which increases the holdings in the LGPC 
Central Global active equity fund and reduces the holdings in the LGPS 
Central Emerging Equity fund is planned to be completed in the first half of 
2024. These changes are currently being planned with Central pending the 
outcome of a three-year review of the LGPS Central Global Equity fund 
which could result in a change in the mandate, such as a change of 
underlying investment manager for the fund. 

 
b. Targeted Return – this review was also completed and presented to the ISC 

meeting held in April 2023.  The proposal allowed the Fund to simplify its 
holdings from three mandates to two mandates, by removing two mandates 
and adding one new one. The target weight (i.e. amount to be invested) will 
be reduced from 7.5% to 5.0% of total Fund assets.  At the time of writing the 
Fund has placed final instructions to reduce holdings in the two mandates 
which were approved to be divested.  The new mandate is being built up to 
its target weight of 2% with the final investment planned during February 
2024. 
 

c. Protection assets – this review was presented to the July 2023 meeting of 
the ISC.  Hymans Robertson presented the case to reduce the allocation to 
index linked bonds from 3.75% of total Fund assets to 3.25% and adding the 
reduction to the investment grade credit asset class pending their instruction 
on the relative pricing of the two classes.  
 
At the time of writing, Hymans Robertson believe the timing is not favourable 
to make the switch and will advise once the outlook becomes favourable. 
 
 

Executive Summary of Recommendations for the 2024 Strategic Asset Allocation 
Strategy 
 

11. Hymans Robertson (Hymans) believe the current (2023) SAA target weights are still 
appropriate and therefore do not recommend a change.  The Fund has made 
changes over the last three years towards adding predictable and sustainable 
income-based returns which should continue to support a stable and affordable 
level of contributions. The summaries against each major asset class are listed 
below. Further details of all recommendations are included within the appendix and 
will be presented by a representative from Hymans at the meeting.  
 
Equities 

Hymans recommend the Fund should maintain the allocation to listed equity at 
37.5% and private equity at 7.5%, and progress the changes agreed at the April 
2023 ISC meeting. 

Targeted Return 

23



Hymans recommend the Fund should maintain the allocation to targeted return at 
5.0%, and progress the changes agreed during the April 2023 ISC review of the 
asset class. 

 
Infrastructure 
Hymans recommend the Fund should maintain the target allocation to Infrastructure 
at 12.50%, and that consideration is given as to what additional commitments are 
needed over the next 3 years in order to reach the target allocation, whilst 
maintaining the desired risk and geography profile per the framework agreed by the 
ISC in July 2022.  Hymans will be asked to complete a strategy on how to maintain 
the Fund’s timberland exposure given the current exposure via closed ended funds 
will start to return, increasing capital over the next 3 to 5 years. 

 
Property 

Hymans recommend that the Fund should maintain the target allocation to Property 
at 10% and remain comfortable with the structure agreed by the ISC in April 2022. 
Hymans recommend using part of the expected Active Value funds return of capital 
to commit to La Salle in 2024 in order to implement the decision of the ISC in April 
2022.  

 
Multi Asset Credit (MAC) 
Hymans recommend that the Fund should proceed with the 5% increase in the 
allocation to MAC agreed as part of the January 2023 SAA review. They also 
recommend the increase be implemented by additional commitments to the LGPS 
Central MAC fund, which is to be funded from cash reserves and from LGPS 
Central’s standalone Emerging Market Debt fund.  They recommend that the 
increase to MAC takes place over 2024 period given the size of the commitment, to 
increase confidence in the Central product and for the tactical outlook for higher 
yielding credit to improve. 

 
 

Private Credit 
Hymans recommend the Fund should maintain the target allocation to private debt 
at 10.5%, with corporate and asset-backed senior lending strategies forming the 
core of the portfolio. 
 
They recommend that the current allocation to distressed debt (via three M&G 
distressed opportunities funds) is allowed to wind down. Hymans believe distressed 
debt remains an attractive opportunity at certain points in the credit cycle but 
recommend that the Fund gains exposure via a broad-based, opportunistic credit 
strategy with the manager taking responsibility for timing capital commitments. 

 
Bank Capital Relief 
Hymans recommend that the Fund makes further commitments to regulatory capital 
relief strategies in 2024 as its existing commitments are realised. 

 
Protection Assets 
Hymans recommend a fuller review of this asset class is undertaken to ascertain if 
a material increase from the 7.5% current target weight may result in better risk 
adjusted returns.  Hymans also recommend further investigation into the case for 
gold and investment grade real asset backed senior debt as a protection asset as 
part of this work.  A paper would be presented to the ISC incorporating asset liability 

24



modelling and more up to date assumptions.  Officers will assemble a scope for this 
proposal in the coming weeks.  
 
Hymans recommend the reallocation between index linked bonds (ILB) and 
investment grade credit (IGC) is deferred given their shorter-term outlook on both 
asset classes.  They propose reconsidering timing of this reallocation alongside the 
protection asset review which is to be bought to the ISC. 
 
Benchmarks 
Hymans recommend the Fund undertakes a review of the benchmarks being used 
to monitor manager performance with a list of proposed changes included within the 
appendix for this paper noting changes where benchmarks should be reviewed and 
changed ahead of others.  
 

Summary of Investment Sub Committee reviews pending 
 

12. The proposals include a number of reviews that will be planned by officers with 
Hymans Robertson and will be presented to meetings of the ISC during the year.  A 
review covering the protection assets as described at point 11 of this report will 
include among other things, consideration to increasing the SAA weight from 7.5%, 
when to commence the reallocation between inflation linked bonds and investment 
grade credit and consideration of alternative protection assets.  A second review will 
cover how the Fund maintains an allocation to bank risk share and timberland asset 
classes as the current investments return capital to the Fund. 
 
 
 

2024 SAA vs actual weights and required returns 
 

13. Underpinning the changes proposed above is the investment objectives and 
required return for the Fund.  The Fund’s recent valuation (as of March 2022) was 
presented to the Local Pension Committee in November 2022.  The Fund’s actuary, 
Hymans shared with the investment advisor (also Hymans Robertson) the 
outcomes of the actuarial valuation and assumptions contained within.  The 
proposed changes in target allocation are proposed such that attainment of the 
overall investment performance is consistent with that assumed by the actuary. 
  

14. The strategic asset allocation is designed around the required future investment 
return and an acceptable level of risk.  Without this clarity it would be possible to 
have a strategy that targets a return that is high but takes excessively large risks 
and as a result has a higher possibility of failing to achieve its target, thereby putting 
unnecessary upward pressure onto employers’ contribution rates. Likewise, a target 
that is too low may be easily achieved but has a lower probability of producing the 
returns needed to reduce future employers’ contribution levels. 
 

15. Hymans have taken into account the Fund’s Net Zero Climate Strategy (NZCS) and 
always consider changes to the SAA and the impact on delivery of the proposed 
2030 medium term targets included within the NZCS.  The next full Fund valuation 
is due in March 2025 (with results available later in 2025) and will align investment 
return expectations which will again be matched with liability forecasts.  
 

16. Hymans have concluded that the current investment strategy remains appropriate 
taking into account the Fund’s objectives and funding position.  They have also 
considered asset class expected returns alongside the Fund’s objectives and 

25



funding position. The expected median return for the 2024 SAA is now 8.7%pa 
which is ahead of the required rate to maintain a fully funded scheme. 
 

17. At the last full actuarial valuation point (31 March 2022) the actuary calculated a 
75% likelihood of achieving 4.4% investment return per annum (pa) and reported a 
105% funding level as of 31 March 2022. The median return projection (50% 
likelihood of achievement) associated with the 2022 valuation was 6.5% pa, this is 
comparable with the 8.7%pa.  At the same point last year (2023) when the SAA was 
presented to the Local Pension Committee the median return (50% likelihood) was 
calculated to be 8.2%pa.  

 
18. The excess returns expected over the actuarial required return is largely due to the 

increase in interest rates and government bond yields experienced through 2022 
and 2023 which has impacted the returns expectation as used for the SAA.   

 
19. The Fund has a number of changes that need to be completed as illustrated in the 

table below in order to align to the 2024 SAA target.  Some of these changes will 
have taken place since the latest snapshot as of 30 September 2023 and as such 
the gap to the 2023 (and 2024) SAA will have closed. 

 

26



Asset 
Group 

Asset Class 2022 
SAA 

2023 
&2024 
SAA 

Change 
from 
2022 SAA  

30.9.23 
Actual 
weighting 

Vs 2024 
SAA 

Changes / 
commitments to 
be called £m 
(GBP) time of 
writing 

Growth Listed equities  42.00%  
(40%-
44%)  

37.50%  - 4.5%  40.7% +3.2% Reduction 
commenced. 
Agreed changes 

Growth Private equity  5.75%  7.5%  + 1.75%  7.1% -0.4% £80m 23/24 + 
£80m 24/25 
commitments 
approved  

Growth Targeted return  7.50%  5.00%  - 2.5%  6.8% +1.6% Reduction 
commenced July 
2023, complete 
H1 2024 

        

Income Infrastructure 

(incl. timber)  

9.75%  12.50%  + 2.75%  10.7% -1.8% £180m 

committed 
outstanding 

Income Property  10.00%  10.00%   7.2% -2.8% £90m 
commitment 
outstanding 

Income Emerging 
market debt & 
Global credit – 
liquid sub inv 
grade markets  

6.50%  9.00%  + 2.5%  5.6% -3.4% Agreed changes, 
awaiting 
investment 
advisor SAA 2024 
to finalise 

Income Global credit – 
private debt (inc 
M&G/CRC)  

10.50%  10.50%   8.2% -2.4% Awaiting 
outcome of asset 
class review in 
2024 SAA, 
£250m 
commitments 
and £280m 
approved to 
commit 

        

Prot Inflation-linked 
bonds  

4.50%  *3.5% 
changed 
from 
4.50% 

 3.8% -0.7% Awaiting timing 
confirmation 
from Hymans 

Prot Investment 
grade credit  

3.00%  *3.75% 
changed 
from 
2.75% 

-0.25% 3.5% +0.75% Awaiting timing 
confirmation 
from Hymans 

Prot Currency hedge  0.50%  0.75%  +0.25% 0.7% -0.05%  

Prot Cash / cash 
equivalent  

0.00%  0.00%  5.7% +5.7% Awaiting to be 
called from 
outstanding 
commitments  

 
*At the July 2023 meeting of the ISC a change was recommended and approved for 
inflation linked bonds and investment grade credit from the January 2023 SAA approval.  
The weights shown for these 2 asset classes represent the most up to target weights from 
the July 2023 ISC meeting approval. 
 
 
Proposal to establish a Fossil Fuel Free Fund 

 
20. At the last meeting of the Committee held on 1 December 2023 a member 

proposed requesting LGPS Central to set up a fossil fuel free fund. Fund officers 
have instructed Hymans to provide guidance on such a proposal, in particular 
advising on: 

27



 

• the Fund’s current position regarding fossil fuel exposure; 

• the pros and cons of establishing a fossil fuel free fund; 

• whether the current approach supports the investment and responsible 
investment strategy. 

 
21. Fund officers have also, via their scheduled interactions with other Central partner 

funds, investigated the appetite for such a product.  
 

22. A summary of the findings is set out below.  The Hymans paper includes additional 
background and is included within the appendix to this paper.  A representative 
from Hymans Robertson will be available to take questions on this matter at the 
meeting. 
 
Current position 
 
The Fund’s Net Zero Climate Strategy (NZCS)  
 

23. The current strategy for managing climate risk is detailed within the NZCS which 
was approved by this Committee in March 2023. This Strategy was written using 
the International Investors Group for Climate Change (IIGCC) net zero framework 
and based on considerable work and engagement with employers, scheme 
members, investment managers and other stakeholders which shaped the current 
approach adopted to managing the path to net zero (including reducing fossil fuels 
and more generally carbon emissions).  The list below highlights some of the steps 
taken as part of the development of the Strategy: 
 

• 21 January 2022 Committee workshop on development of the Net Zero 
Strategy.  

• 25 March 2022 Workshop session on targets and metrics that were proposed 
and a summary of other LGPS fund climate strategies. 

• Advice from Hymans presented to the Committee in June 2022 which 
reviewed proposed targets and set out further detail on the approach to 
engagement and divestment following comments at the March 2022 meeting.  

• 13 October 2022 briefing following the engagement conclusion on targets 
and measures.  

• The Climate Risk Report and Climate Scenario Analysis presented to the 
Committee in November 2022, alongside the draft NZCS. 

• Presentation of the final NZCS in March 2023 to the Local Pension 
Committee taking into account an extensive consultation exercise. 

• Officers ongoing dialogue with Pension Committee members when 
requested.  
 

24. The resulting strategy based on the IIGCC framework contains four key sections 
which satisfy and align with the Fund’s primary purpose of paying pensions and 
lump sum benefits as they fall due.  These four sections are described below: 
 

• Climate Change Risks and Opportunities: how the Fund will further 
embed climate risk and opportunities considerations. This will include 
working with Investment Managers to ensure they have taken into account 
climate risks and opportunities. 
 

28



• Targets and Measures: Net Zero by 2050, with an ambition for sooner, 
supported by interim and secondary measures to decarbonise the Fund's 
portfolio and increase investment in a range of climate solutions. This also 
sets out current coverage, and limitations facing the Fund. 
 

• Decision Making: How the Fund can integrate targets and measures 
alongside best practice within the Fund's annual Strategic Asset Allocation, 
the Investment Strategy Statement and any investment decisions taken. 
Recognising the Fund can consider a range of investment approaches to 
manage risk and opportunities related to climate change, where there is a 
credible financial basis. 
 

• Stewardship Engagement and Divestment: In line with the IIGCC the 
Fund believes that engagement will drive the transition for a low carbon 
economy.  This sets out a four-step plan of evaluation, engagement, voting 
and divestment. 
 

25. As a result, the Fund has a strategy which recognises and quantifies the climate 
change risk using carbon as the key metric to reduce such risk. This is alongside 
increasing the Fund’s exposure to climate solutions and decreasing exposure to 
fossil fuel reserves as set out below. 
 
Ongoing investment and Fund management approach towards decarbonisation and 
managing climate risk 
 

26. The Fund has been actively managing and improving the carbon metrics for a 
number of years prior to approving a formal NZCS with changes to the Fund’s 
holdings taking into account responsible investing and carbon metrics.  Some of 
these changes are listed below: 
 

• Transitioned a significant portion of the Fund’s passive holdings with LGIM 
into LGPS Central’s All World Equity Climate Multi Factor fund (Climate 
MFF), as of 31 September 2023 this is valued at £0.7bn.  This provided the 
Fund with improved listed equity sector balance whilst improving the carbon 
metrics for the Fund.  
 
The Climate MFF incorporates three key climate change considerations: 
carbon emissions, fossil fuel reserves and green revenues. As at September 
2023 the Climate MFF fund has better carbon metrics compared to the 
benchmark FTSE all world index as illustrated below and has marginally 
outperformed the benchmark since inception with returns of 9.02% pa versus 
8.95% for the benchmark. 
 

    
 

29



• $114m committed to the Quinbrook Net Zero Power Fund. A Fund that 
invests in solar power with battery systems, both as part of the 
decarbonisation of the energy system, and as part of demand from data 
centres. 
 

• $67m committed to the Stafford Capital Carbon Offset Opportunity fund, in 
addition to its existing investment in timberland. This fund looks to invest in 
sustainably managed timberland globally, provide a source of sustainable 
low carbon timberland materials, generate verified carbon offsets. In addition 
to the £123million already invested in Stafford Capital timberland funds. 

 

• £135m committed the LGPS Central Core/Core+ Infrastructure Partnership 
which invests in infrastructure funds across the core/core plus space. To 
date this partnership has made several such investments which include UK 
focussed solar and battery storage, as well as social, renewables, transport, 
and utilities assets.  
 

• £200million invested in LGIM’s low carbon transition (LCT) fund in November 
2023 which has an objective to reduce carbon emissions intensity and align 
with the net zero pathway. The LCT fund has an initial 70% reduction in 
carbon intensity versus the benchmark and aims for a 7% reduction per 
annum in line with a Paris aligned strategy. The LCT fund also incorporates 
LGIM’s climate impact pledge which commits LGIM to helping invested 
companies reach net zero by 2050. 

 
27. The use of funds that tilt towards companies with lower (sometimes significantly) 

carbon intensities is in line with both the NZCS and the IIGCC framework which 
believes in responsible stewardship and engagement before divestment action.  

 
Performance 
 

28. The result of the Fund’s actions has been significant and has reduced the carbon 
intensity of the Fund from the 2019 baseline of 164 tonnes of CO2 / $m revenue to 
102 tonnes of CO2 / $m revenue, a reduction of 38%.  The Fund’s current strategy 
has therefore ensured that good progress on this key measure has been made.  
 

29. One of the interim targets approved within the NZCS is a 50% reduction from the 
2019 baseline which would require the Fund to reach a carbon intensity of 82 
tonnes of CO2 / $m revenue by 2030.  Hymans calculate that the Fund should meet 
this interim target earlier than 2030 but have considered reductions in carbon 
intensity may become harder as the low hanging fruit has likely been picked. 
 

30



 
 

28. In addition to the current progress made with respect to reducing carbon emissions, 
the Fund has two equity transitions planned to complete during the first half of 2024. 
This transition will improve the funds carbon metrics, all other things being equal.   
 

29. All equity transitions detailed above that have been planned as part of the 2023 
SAA approvals have been made based on advice from Hymans who have balanced 
the requirement for producing the right level of investment returns whilst also 
seeking to ensure the 2030 interim NZCS targets and beyond are met.  Hymans are 
mindful of the need to generate adequate investment returns which if missed for an 
extended period of time eventually results in increased employer pension 
contributions.  

  
Creating a new Fossil Fuel Free Fund 
 

30. It is important to note that requesting Central to build a new fund is an expensive 
exercise and one which all partner funds would need to pay for. The method used 
to develop investment products at Central requires known demand for an 
investment product before costs are incurred. Partner funds have been aligned on 
the approach undertaken by Central in provision of climate tilted funds to date. 
 

31. Costs to develop products are shared under the cost sharing agreement signed by 
the eight Local Authority administering bodies.  Central would be hesitant to 
develop a new product without enough investment funds being committed to 
warrant commencing feasibility work given the cost implications to other local 
authority administering bodies. The costs would not be insignificant in developing a 
new product and cost implications on other Local Authorities could place strain on 
the relationships between the Fund and its partners.  
 
The Pros and Cons  
 

32. Hymans outline in the appendix attached to this report the pros and cons of 
strategies which adopt blanket exclusion policies covering all companies in specific 
sector(s), for example, those which own material fossil fuel reserves. Where 
appropriate officers have added additional context. 
 

33. Hymans believe the arguments in favour of fossil fuel-free strategies include those 
listed below but it should be noted that the majority of these impacts would accrue 
to society as a whole. Officers also recognise that this is not necessarily what is 

31



being asked for in the motion, so these factors will apply to varying extents at this 
point.   

• Eliminates direct transition risks to the Fund associated with the stocks 
excluded; 

• May be appropriate for specific types of company that lack opportunities to 
transition to a low carbon business model; 

• Signals to stakeholders that the Fund has limited appetite for climate risk and 
expects action to be taken by prospective investments to reduce it; 

• May lead companies excluded to take action to reduce emissions, for 
example, by decommissioning assets 

• May increase the cost of capital for fossil fuel companies leading to fairer 

pricing of the true cost of climate change and a more appropriate allocation 
of capital. 

• May increase pressure on policymakers to take further action on 
decarbonisation; 

34. The cons associated with an approach to using a fossil fuel free fund can have a 
negative impact on both investment outcomes and the wider economy if used 
inappropriately. For example: 

• Reducing portfolio diversification, thereby increasing prospective market risk 
and potentially reducing investment returns.  Lower investment returns than 
planned may ultimately result in higher employer funding rates. 

• Excluding fossil fuels from a listed equity fund may not result in a lower 
carbon intensity for the fund. Excluding fossil fuels companies from an 
investment product is a crude way of managing carbon emissions as there 
are other industries which have high carbon emissions which would replace 
the excluded companies. There are examples of fossil fuel free funds which 
have higher carbon intensities than the two funds (LGIM LCT and Central 
MFF) we currently invest in. This would not be supportive of the NZCS and 
achievement of its interim 2030 carbon intensity targets. 

• Increasing portfolio complexity and costs, especially if the Fund needed to 
invest via segregated accounts in order to implement the wider exclusions it 
required which may not be practical in private markets today. 

• Depriving the Fund’s managers of an opportunity to exert influence on 
excluded companies and/or transferring ownership to less responsible 
investors, potentially leading to them decarbonising more slowly. 

• Missing out on a share of the added value created when companies do 
decarbonise, thereby reducing prospective returns. 

• Withholding capital from companies that have a critical role to play in 
decarbonisation – for example oil and gas companies using their offshore 
operations expertise to become major renewable providers. 

• A strong focus on eliminating fossil fuel exposures may adversely impact on 
other aspects of the Fund’s Net Zero Climate strategy.   

• Once holdings are sold any future benefits from companies decarbonising 
would be lost to the Fund. 

32



35. As agreed at the Conference of the Parities summit (COP28) in December 2023 
there is a call for a managed and progressive transition away of fossil fuels from the 
global economy. The role of institutional investors and their asset managers is key 
in supporting this. This can be achieved through 

• working with portfolio companies to decarbonise their operations, and: 

• providing financing support for companies providing products and services 
that the wider economy needs to decarbonise successfully.  

36. Both require investors to remain invested in and engage with companies.  This is in 
line with the NZCS and as per the Fund’s RI policy in which the Fund required all its 
investment managers to take ESG factors including climate change into account in 
investment decision making and to address them through active stewardship of its 
investments.  Divestment would mean the Fund loses both these avenues that 
policy advisers are required for elimination of fossil fuels from the global economy. 

37. An exclusionary fossil fuel free fund, as referenced earlier represents a crude way 
of filtering the investment universe, thus increasing the chance of the Fund’s 
investment strategy conflicting with its fiduciary obligation to ensure that benefits get 
paid, whilst taking a prudent and appropriate level of risk to generate the necessary 
investment returns.  

38. The Fund’s NZCS recognises divestment will be appropriate if engagement is not 
successful but ultimately that is dependent on a number of factors such as 
companies starting point, the sector, not having resources to achieve 
decarbonisation or as part of the escalation of engagement. Further, where 
investment managers refuse to engage, do not provide credible evidence or 
reasoning why they are failing financially on environment, social or governance 
factors the Fund has the power to replace an investment manager.  

39. Hymans remind the Fund that the primary purpose is to pay pensions and lump 
sum benefits, and it should aim to take a prudent and appropriate level of risk in 
order to generate the necessary investment returns.  

40. Hymans believe the current approach to investment and net zero enables the 
Fund’s managers to consider a wide range of investments and build a well-
diversified portfolio and state that the approach to dealing with fossil fuel exposure 
is consistent with achievement of both the investment strategy and NZCS. 

41. The NZCS has been developed over a number of years and has demonstrated 
effectiveness in reducing overall carbon intensity, fossil fuel reserves and increased 
exposure to climate solutions as evidenced by the annual climate risk report and 

carbon metrics.  This is in line with Fund’s fiduciary duty.  

42. A concentrated investment strategy such as one with material exclusion policies, 
which is designed to minimise current exposure to a single risk factor such as fossil 
fuels, would not be consistent with these objectives nor the Fund’s investment 
beliefs. 

43. Hymans acknowledge that the successful decarbonisation of fossil fuel companies 
will require concerted action by the Fund, its investment managers and portfolio 
companies. This in turn depends on good stewardship. Hymans have therefore 
made a number of recommendations which are listed below, and which can be 
implemented as part of the NZCS. 

33



• Strengthening engagement with underlying managers appointed directly by the 
Fund, to ensure that stewardship is being undertaken to the same standard as 
those overseen by LGPS Central 

• Encouraging managers to improve stewardship reporting to provide greater 
insights not just on engagement activity, but also the actions taken, and outcomes 
achieved by portfolio companies 

• Better reporting which would facilitate a deeper dive on the effectiveness of 
stewardship around fossil fuel companies, and which may lead to further changes 
in the portfolio and potentially some further tightening of exclusion criteria. 

44. As previously mentioned, Hymans believe exclusions of fossil fuel companies within 
a fossil free fund is unlikely to contribute much to addressing climate change in the 
wider economy but may well lead to worse financial outcomes for the Fund. 

45. Hymans believe the Fund’s approach to managing exposure to fossil fuel 
companies therefore remains appropriate. They do not believe there is a case for 
applying a blanket exclusion policy covering such companies within a new fund, as 
this would benefit neither the Fund nor the wider economy. 

46. Concluding, Hymans do not believe that development of a fossil fuel free fund 
would offer a “good” Net Zero strategy for the Fund or the economies in which it 
invests at this time. Hymans recognise enhanced reporting may provide a basis for 
setting a firm target around the removal of fossil fuel from the portfolio when the 
NZCS is next reviewed.  

 
Leicestershire Pension Fund Conflict of Interest Policy  
 

47. Whilst not a conflict of interest, it is worth noting that the County Council also 
invests funds with three managers which the Leicestershire County Council Pension 
Fund invests with, namely Partners Group, JP Morgan and Christofferson Robb and 
Company (CRC). The County Council’s investments were made following due 
diligence Hymans Robertson had provided the Fund. 

 
 
Recommendations 

 
48. It is recommended that the Local Pension Committee: 

 
(a) approve the maintenance of the target SAA allocation as described at paragraph 
19 of this report. 

 
(b) that the Director of Corporate Resources be authorised to make benchmark 
changes as per the guidance given at paragraph 11 of this report and the appendix 
to this report, with such changes to be delivered quarterly through the year, 
commencing for the June Local Pension Committee meeting.  
 
(c) agree that the following two reviews be undertaken and presented to the ISC for 
consideration:  
 

• A protection assets review as described at paragraph 12 of this report, with the 
final detailed scope of the review to be agreed between officers and Hymans 
Robertson.  

 

34



• A review to maintain exposure to two asset classes which will be returning 
capital over the coming years (bank risk share investments and Timberland).  
The final scope of the review to be agreed between officers and Hymans 
Robertson.  

 
(d) Notes the advice now provided by the Fund’s investment advisor, Hymans 

Robertson, regarding the proposal to require LGPS Central to establish a fossil fuel 
free fund and agrees with the recommendation not to proceed with this proposal at 
the current time. 
 

(e) Agree the recommendations put forward by Hymans Robertson, as detailed in 
paragraph 43 above, to implement as part of the Fund’s Net Zero Carbon Strategy. 
 

 
Equality Implications 
 

49. There are no direct implications arising from the recommendations in this report. 
The Fund incorporates financially material Environmental, Social and Governance 
(“ESG”) factors into investment processes. This has relevance both before and after 
the investment decision and is a core part of the Fund’s fiduciary duty.  The Fund 
will not appoint any manager unless they can show evidence that responsible 
investment considerations are an integral part of their decision-making processes.  
This is further supported by the Fund’s approach to stewardship and voting through 
voting, and its approach to engagement in support of a fair and just transition to net 
zero. There are no changes to this approach as a result of this paper. 

 
 
Human Rights Implications 
 

50. There are no direct implications arising from the recommendations in this report. 
The Fund incorporates financially material Environmental, Social and Governance 
("ESG") factors into investment processes. This has relevance both before and after 
the investment decision and is a core part of the Fund's fiduciary duty.  The Fund 
will not appoint any manager unless they can show evidence that responsible 
investment considerations are an integral part of their decision-making processes.  
This is further supported by the Fund's approach to stewardship and voting through 
voting, and its approach to engagement in support of a fair and just transition to net 
zero. There are no changes to this approach as a result of this paper. 

 
 
Appendix 
 
Appendix A: Hymans Robertson, Strategic Asset Allocation 2024 & listed equity exclusions 
 
Background Papers 
 
 
Local Pension Committee - 20 January 2023 – Annual Review of the Asset Strategy and 
Structure 
 
Investment Sub-Committee – 26 July 2023 – Protection assets review 
 
Local Pension Committee - 01 December 2023 – Climate risk management report  
 

35

https://democracy.leics.gov.uk/documents/s174339/SAA%20Jan%202023%20public.pdf
https://democracy.leics.gov.uk/documents/s174339/SAA%20Jan%202023%20public.pdf
https://democracy.leics.gov.uk/documents/s177887/Protection%20assets%20review.pdf
https://democracy.leics.gov.uk/documents/s179980/Climate%20Risk%20Management%20Report.pdf


Officers to Contact 
 
Declan Keegan, Director of Corporate Resources 
Tel: 0116 305 7668  Email: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk 
  
Simone Hines, Assistant Director Finance, Strategic Property and Commissioning 
Tel: 0116 305 7066 Email: Simone.Hines@leics.gov.uk 
 
Bhulesh Kachra, Senior Finance Analyst - Investments 
Tel: 0116 305 1449 Email: Bhulesh.Kachra@leics.gov.uk 
 

36

mailto:Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Simone.Hines@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Bhulesh.Kachra@leics.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Leicestershire County 

Council Pension Fund 
 

Annual Review of Investment Strategy and Structure 
 

January 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

37



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 

 

 

Contents 
 

  Page 

 

1 Executive Summary 2 
2 Development of the Fund’s Investment Strategy 7 
3 Fossil fuels exposure 12 
4 Investment Objectives, Investment Strategy and Required Return 17 
5 Market Commentary 20 
6 Equities 25 
7 Targeted Return 29 
8 Infrastructure 31 
9 Property 33 
10 Higher Yielding Credit 35 
11 Protection Assets 41 
12 Benchmarks 64 
Appendix 1 – Notes on our modelling 69 
Appendix 2 – further modelling 70 

 

 

  

38



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 2  

1 Executive Summary  

Addressee and Purpose 

This paper is addressed to the Local Pension Committee (“LPC”) of Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund 

(“the Fund”). The purpose of this paper is to present the findings of this year’s review of the Fund’s strategic 

asset allocation (“SAA”) and investment structure, taking into account the range of funds offered or to be offered 

by LGPS Central (“LGPSC”). 

This paper should not be used for any other purpose. It should not be released or otherwise disclosed to any third 

party except as required by law or with our prior written consent, in which case it should be released in its 

entirety. We accept no liability to any other party unless we have accepted such liability in writing. We provide 

comment from an investment but not a legal or tax perspective. 

This report complies with Technical Actuarial Standard 100: Principles for Technical Actuarial Work. 

Key findings 

Since the last SAA review, we have seen a material shift in the markets. Many asset classes have posted losses, 

nominal yields have risen across all maturities and there has been a material shift in the inflation curve, with 

expected inflation falling in shorter durations, but staying higher for longer.  

Against this backdrop, we conclude that the current investment strategy remains appropriate taking into account 

the Fund’s objectives and funding position (see table below). 

Asset Class Current Target 
Current 

Allocation 

Listed equities 
37.50% 44.4% 

Private equity 7.50% 7.4% 

Targeted return 5.00% 7.6% 

Infrastructure (incl. timber) 12.50% 10.2% 

Property 10.00% 7.3% 

Emerging market debt 0.00% 2.0% 

Global credit – multi-asset credit 9.00% 3.7% 

Global credit - private debt (inc M&G/CRC) 10.50% 8.1% 

Inflation-linked bonds 3.50% 4.0% 

Investment grade credit 3.75% 3.5% 

Currency hedge 0.75% 0.9% 

Cash / cash equivalent - 0.9% 

Total 100% 100% 
    

Projected 20-year return, median p.a. 8.7%  

1 year dispersion (relative to gilt-based 
liabilities) 

13.9% 
 

 

In particular, we believe the Fund should continue with the planned increase in the allocations to infrastructure 

and multi-asset credit and the related reductions in the exposure to listed equity and targeted return strategies, 

and the restructuring of the listed equity portfolio agreed in earlier reviews. 

Regarding multi-asset credit, we have refreshed our due diligence of the LGPS Central MAC fund and conclude 

that it remains a suitable investment for the Fund. However, it remains a relatively new fund and headline 

performance of the fund since inception relative to benchmark has been disappointing. It has been a challenging 

39



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 3  

market environment for credit since the fund was launched, and its performance is in line with the asset markets 

in which it invests. Nonetheless we believe there is a case for phasing in the increased allocation. 

We have reviewed the size of the protection asset portfolio in the light of the changed market environment, and 

believe there may be a case for a moderate increase in the allocation. This may reduce downside risk and 

increase the likelihood of remaining fully funded, albeit modestly so, but, it would reduce the Fund’s expected 

investment return. It is also important to note that the analysis on which this conclusion is based was necessarily 

limited and did not include full consideration of the impact on the Fund’s liabilities. 

The Fund’s protection assets suffered material mark-to-market losses over the last 12 months, although they did 

achieve their primary aims of avoiding actual losses and reducing the volatility of the funding position. In the 

circumstances it is appropriate to consider whether alternative types of asset would have better protected the 

Fund, particularly if the overall allocation is to be increased. We have considered the case for a number of 

alternative protection assets, and conclude that either gold or investment grade, real asset-backed senior debt 

merit further investigation in 2024. We believe that investment grade, asset-backed securities (“ABS”) have a role 

to play in the protection portfolio, but we believe the Fund should gain exposure alongside corporate credit via the 

LGPS Central Corporate Bond fund. 

We have undertaken a preliminary review of the benchmarks the Fund uses to assess the performance of its 

investment managers. Robust benchmarks are critical to effective performance monitoring; ideally, the same 

benchmarks should be used by the Fund and its managers and they should be aligned with the strategies 

employed by the managers as well as the Fund’s strategic objectives. We believe the Fund should consider 

changing the benchmarks it uses in the following asset classes: private equity, property, infrastructure and multi-

asset credit. 

Summary of Recommendations  

As per previous strategy reviews, our recommendations continue the direction of travel towards an investment 

strategy with greater focus on predictable and sustainable income-based returns and an appropriate level of risk, 

thereby supporting a stable and affordable level of contributions. All recommendations are also supportive of the 

Fund’s Net Zero strategy.  

A summary of our recommendations for each asset class are outlined below. 

Fossil Fuels Exposures 

We believe the Fund’s approach to managing exposure to fossil fuel companies remains appropriate. We do not 

believe there is a case for applying a blanket exclusion policy covering such companies, as this would benefit 

neither the Fund nor the wider economy. In particular we do not believe it would be appropriate to invest in fossil 

fuel free funds.  

We do recommend that the Fund considers: 1) strengthening engagement with underlying managers appointed 

directly by the Fund and 2) encouraging managers to improve stewardship reporting to provide greater insights 

on actions taken and outcomes achieved. Better reporting would facilitate a deeper dive on the effectiveness of 

stewardship around fossil fuel companies, and may lead to further changes in the portfolio. It may also provide a 

basis for setting a firm target around the removal of fossil fuels from the portfolio.  

Please see page 12 for more information.  

Equities 

We recommend the Fund should maintain the allocation to listed equity at 37.5% and private equity at 7.5%, and 

progress the changes agreed during our recent review of the asset class over 2024. 

40



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 4  

Targeted Return 

We recommend the Fund should maintain the allocation to targeted return at 5.0%, and progress the changes 

agreed during our recent review of the asset class over 2024. 

Infrastructure 

We recommend the Fund should maintain the target allocation to Infrastructure at 12.50%, and that consideration 

is given as to what additional commitments are needed over the next 3 years in order to reach the target 

allocation, and maintain the desired risk and geography profile.  

Property 

We recommend the Fund should maintain the target allocation to Property at 10%, and remain comfortable with 

the structure agreed in the 2022 review. 

Higher Yielding Credit  

We recommend that the Fund should proceed with the +5% increase in the allocation to MAC agreed at the last 

strategy review. We also recommend the increase be implemented by additional commitments to the LGPSC 

MAC fund, funded from listed equities/targeted return and by divestment from LGPSC’s standalone Emerging 

Market Debt fund. 

We recommend that the increase to MAC takes place over 2024, split equally across four phases. This will allow 

time for our tactical outlook for higher yield credit to improve (it remains cautious) and to build increased 

confidence in the LGPS Central product. The Emerging Market Debt allocation should be divested from pro rata 

as the MAC allocation is increased. 

We recommend the Fund should maintain the target allocation to private debt at 10.5%, with corporate and 

asset-backed senior lending strategies forming the core of the portfolio. 

We recommend that the current allocation to distressed debt is allowed to wind down. We believe distressed debt 

remains an attractive opportunity at certain points in the credit cycle, but recommend that the Fund gains 

exposure via a broad-based, opportunistic credit strategy with the manager taking responsibility for timing capital 

commitments. We recommend that the Fund explores with LGPS Central whether allocations to distressed debt 

could be built into its Private Debt (High Return) programme, which would reduce the need for the Fund to time 

its allocation to this class. 

We recommend that the Fund makes further commitments to regulatory capital relief strategies in 2024 as its 

existing commitments to CRC are realised, but we recommend that alternatives to CRC are also considered as 

we believe that alternative propositions are now available. 

Protection Assets 

We recommend that the possibility of a moderate increase in the allocation to protection assets be validated by 

updating the full ALM analysis of the Fund’s portfolio in Q1 2024. This will confirm whether or not this change can 

be justified. 

We recommend that the agreed reallocation of capital between Index-linked Bonds (“ILB”) and Investment Grade 

Credit (“IGC”) is deferred further, as our short-term outlook for the former remains more positive. We suggest it is 

reconsidered alongside the exploration into a potential increased allocation to protection assets. 

Regarding alternative protection assets, we recommend that the Fund undertakes further investigation of the 

case for gold and investment grade, real asset backed senior debt in 2024. In addition, we recommend the Fund 

engages with LGPS Central to ensure that its Corporate Bond fund is fully exploiting the opportunities and 

potential downside protection afforded by Asset-Backed Securities (“ABS”). 

41



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 5  

Currency Hedging 

We continue to support the use of the Aegon currency hedging programme to manage currency risk and volatility 

reduction, but recommend that the Fund proceeds with the rationalisation of the current programme agreed in the 

recent review. 

Benchmarks 

We recommend the Fund undertakes a review of the benchmarks being used for some mandates, as alternatives 

exist which may facilitate more effective monitoring of manager performance. This is to be progressed by the 

director of corporate resources with support from Hymans as necessary, with the expectation that this will be 

phased throughout 2024 (dealing with the highest priority items first).  

We look forward to discussing this report with the LPC. 

 

Prepared by:- 

Philip Pearson, Partner 

Abhishek Srivastav, Senior Investment Consultant 

Russell Oades FIA, Investment Consultant 

Michael Salem FIA, Senior Investment Analyst 

For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP, January 2024. 

 

Reliances and limitations 

The actuarial profession introduced Technical Actuarial Standard (TAS) 100 with effect from 1 July 2017. As part 

of our internal compliance regime, Hymans Robertson has chosen to apply the principles of TAS100 in the 

delivery of investment advice. TAS100 applies to work where actuarial principles and/or techniques are central to 

the work and which involves the exercise of judgement.  

The Fund’s asset allocation and performance as at 30 June 2023 has been sourced from Portfolio 

Evaluation reporting provided on 20 September 2023. In some cases, identified by an (*) in the Appendix 

and the performance summary tables elsewhere in the document, where issues have been identified with 

the Portfolio Evaluation reporting, manager reported performance has been quoted. 

In this report we have provided our estimate of expected asset class returns. The expected returns are based 

upon 20-year median returns derived from our proprietary economic scenario generator (ESS) asset model. As 

with all modelling, the results are dependent on the model itself, the calibration of the model and the various 

approximations and estimations used. These processes involve an element of subjectivity. This model uses 

probability distributions to project a range of possible outcomes for the future behaviour of asset returns and 

economic variables. Some of the parameters of the model are dependent on the current state of the financial 

markets and are updated to reflect metrics that can be measured in markets, such as yields, while other more 

subjective parameters do not change with different calibrations of the model. 

Risk warning 

Please note the value of investments, and income from them, may fall as well as rise. This includes equities, 

government or corporate bonds, and property, whether held directly or in a pooled or collective investment 

vehicle. Further, investments in developing or emerging markets may be more volatile and less marketable than 

in mature markets. Exchange rates may also affect the value of an investment. As a result, an investor may not 

get back the amount originally invested.  Past performance is not necessarily a guide to future performance. 

42



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 6  

Hymans Robertson LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number 

OC310282.  

A list of members of Hymans Robertson LLP is available for inspection at One London Wall, London EC2Y 5EA, 

the firm’s registered office.   

Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority and licensed by the Institute and Faculty of 

Actuaries for a range of investment business activities. Hymans Robertson is a registered trademark of Hymans 

Robertson LLP. 

A member of Abelica Global  

43



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 7  

2 Development of the Fund’s Investment Strategy 

Current Strategic Asset Allocation 

The current strategic target allocation is shown in the table below and reflect the recommendations approved in 

the 2023 review: 

 Strategic Target  

Weight (%) 

Managers 

Growth (50.0%) 50.0  

Listed equity* 37.5 UK equity (passive) - LGIM (2.0%) 

Global equity (passive) – LGIM (8.0%) 

Low Carbon Transition equity (passive) – LGIM 

(3.5%) 

Global multi-factor (passive) – LGPSC (12.0%) 

Global (active) – LGPSC (12.0%) 

Private equity (inc secondaries) 7.5 Adams Street, Aberdeen Standard, Catapult & 

LGPSC  

Targeted return* 5.0 Ruffer, Fulcrum 

Income (42.0%) 42.0  

Infrastructure (inc timberland) 12.5 IFM, JP Morgan, KKR, LGPSC, 

Stafford (timberland), M&G/Infracapital, Quinbrook 

Property* 10.0 La Salle, DTZ / LGPSC, Colliers 

Global credit – liquid sub inv grade markets 9.0 LGPSC (multi-asset credit) 

Global credit - private debt (inc M&G/CRC) 10.5 Partners, LGPSC (private lending), M&G (distressed 

debt), CRC (bank capital relief) 

Protection (8.0%) 8.0  

Inflation-linked bonds 3.50 Aegon 

Investment grade credit 3.75 LGPSC, Aegon1 

Currency hedge 0.75 Aegon (benchmark hedge ratio 30%) 

Total 100.0  

*Will be transitioned over 2024  

1 0.5% of the investment grade credit allocation is held in the Aegon short-dated corporate bond fund which, along with the Aegon 

Inflation-linked bonds holding, can be readily liquidated to provide additional collateral to support the currency hedging programme. 

44



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 8  

The actual allocation as at 30 June 2023 is compared with the current target allocation below.  

 2023 (Current) 

Target 

30 Sept 2022 

Actual 

30 June 2023 

Actual 

Above or Below 

Target 

Listed equities 37.5% 43.4% 44.4% ++ 

Private equity 7.5% 8.0% 7.4% - 

Targeted return 5.0% 8.9% 7.6% ++ 

Infrastructure (incl. timber) 12.5% 9.3% 10.2% - 

Property 10.0% 8.8% 7.3% - - 

Emerging market debt 0.0% 1.8% 2.0% + 

Global credit – liquid sub inv 

grade markets 
9.0% 3.6% 3.7% - - 

Global credit - private debt 

(inc M&G/CRC) 
10.5% 7.3% 8.1% - 

Inflation-linked bonds 3.5% 3.3% 4.0% + 

Investment grade credit 3.75% 3.4% 3.5% - 

Currency hedge 0.75% 1.0% 0.9% + 

Cash / cash equivalent  - 1.1% 0.9% + 

Total 100% 100% 100%  

Source: Portfolio Evaluation 

Over 2022 and 2023, the Fund has made significant changes to the target allocations which are yet to be 

implemented. The listed equity and targeted return allocations are significantly overweight and the MAC and 

property allocations are significantly underweight. This is due to ongoing transitions and implementation of 

commitments/disinvestments to achieve the target allocations. The Fund also agreed to fully disinvest from 

emerging market debt which is in progress. Some of these changes are linked to others, where further advice or 

due diligence was required. Therefore, we would expect the Fund to be overweight/underweight some of the 

asset classes. 

Recap of Recommendations from the 2023 Strategy Review 

In the 2023 strategy review we recommended that the Fund: 

• Reduce the allocation to listed equity to 37.5% and undertake a comprehensive review of the composition 

of the portfolio.  

• Reduce the allocation to targeted return and undertake a comprehensive review of the managers within the 

portfolio. 

• Increase the allocation to infrastructure and multi-asset credit. 

• Review the structure of the protection portfolio, including consideration of alternative protection assets and 

currency hedging arrangements.  

Progress Over 2023 

• The ISC agreed to reduce the allocation to listed equities to 37.5% and restructure the portfolio around 

three core strategies: global, passive; global, factor-based; and global active. In addition, it was agreed to 

divest the standalone allocation to active emerging market equities and to allocate to a climate-tilted, 

passive strategy in order to help the Fund achieve its Net Zero targets. The remainder of listed equity 

transitions are expected to take place over Q1 2024. 

45



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 9  

• This was supported by a paper presented to the April 2023 ISC. The Fund has separately appointed a 

transition adviser based on the proposal to implement the transition in four phases. Phases 3 and 4 

(disinvesting from emerging market equity and investing an additional c£164m into global equity) are on 

hold pending mandate changes to the Central product and the potential opportunity to cross holdings with 

another Fund. 

• The ISC agreed to reduce the targeted return allocation to 5% and divest from Aspect and Pictet and 

appoint Fulcrum as an additional manager to Ruffer. 

The divestments from Aspect and Pictet were to be completed in four redemptions at equal pace. The final 

divestments are expected to have taken place by the time of the January 2024 committee meeting. 

Subscriptions to Ruffer and Fulcrum started in Q4 2023 and are planned to complete February 2024.  

• Regarding the protection portfolio, the ISC approved the rebalancing of the ILB and IGC portfolios to 

3.25% and 3.75% respectively. It was agreed to defer the allocation until the short-term outlook for credit 

improves.  

• In relation to FX hedging, it was agreed that the current programme managed by Aegon remained 

appropriate but that the hedging arrangements should be applied more consistently across the portfolio. 

• The ISC approved a commitment of £80m to private equity. An additional commitment of £80m is also 

expected in 2024. 

• Over the year, the Fund also topped up the infrastructure allocation by c£100m, and the private debt 

holding by c£280m. 

Progress on Pooling 

The Fund’s aim is to transition assets to LGPS Central, as and when suitable products become available, so as 

to capture the benefits of pooling. These include the following: 

• Lower investment expenses – by pooling capital from several partner funds, LGPS Central should be able 

to negotiate lower fees with underlying fund managers than the Fund would be able to achieve acting 

independently, even after allowing for its own management expenses.  

• Wider diversification – by investing via the pool, the Fund will further diversify manager risk without 

materially increasing its governance burden. This should enable the Fund to reduce the number of fund 

managers it engages directly, thus freeing up capacity to address other strategic challenges.  

• Stronger oversight – by exploiting economies of scale, LGPS Central has been able to engage specialist 

portfolio managers and risk management professionals that should enable it to exercise stronger oversight 

of underlying fund managers than the Fund could achieve on its own. 

The Fund made further progress in pooling assets with LGPS Central, with 40% (2022: 36%) of assets now 

managed this way, and a further 16% (2022: 16%) managed under an LGPS master agreement with LGIM (see 

table below), resulting in a total of 56% in pooled assets. This percentage will increase as commitments made 

during 2023 to private markets solutions are drawn down and the allocation to the LGPS Central MAC is 

increased. 

GRIP Asset Class Manager & Fund 
Actual Allocation 

(June 2023) 

Growth 
Listed equity 

LGIM Total Passive Equity Fund 16.1% 

LGPSC Global Eq Active Multi Mgr 
Fund 

9.4% 

LGPSC EMM Eq Active Multi Mgr Fund 3.1% 

LGPSC AW Eq Climate Multi Factor 
Fund 

15.9% 

Private equity LGPSC Private Equity Fund 0.1% 

46



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 10  

GRIP Asset Class Manager & Fund 
Actual Allocation 

(June 2023) 

Income 

Infrastructure (incl. 
timber) 

LGPSC Infra Core/Core+ 0.9% 

Emerging market debt 
LGPSC Global Active EMM Bond Multi 

Mgr Fund 
2.0% 

Global credit – liquid 
sub inv grade markets 

LGPSC Global Active MAC Fund 3.7% 

Global credit - private 
debt (inc M&G/CRC) 

LGPSC PD Low Return 2021 1.0% 

LGPSC PD High Return 2021 0.5% 

LGPSC PD Real Asset 0.5% 

Protection 
Investment grade 

credit 
LGPSC Investment Grade Credit Fund 2.5% 

  LGPSC sub-total 39.6% 

  Total Pooled 55.7% 

Source: Portfolio Evaluation 

 

Progress on Climate Change 

A Net Zero target date of 2050 or sooner, climate change metrics and interim target to reduce emissions intensity 

(WACI) by 50% and absolute emissions by 40% by 2030 were agreed at the LPC meeting on 3 March 2023.  

LGPS Central continue to track selected climate change metrics for the Fund and published its latest annual 

report in December 2023. The metrics reported were calculated as at 31 March 2023. The reporting has been 

extended from the 2022 report to include reporting on scope 3, and to include the Fund’s fixed income holdings 

(however the below analysis is based on the equity portfolio only, in line with how the report sets out progress 

against targets). 

The progress made on the metrics that can be measured (compared with a 2019 baseline) is summarised in the 

table below: 

Metric 2023 2019 Difference 2030 Target 

Financed Emissions, scope 1 & 2 (tCO2e) 158k 197k -19.4% -40% 

Weighted Average Carbon Intensity (tCO2e/ $m) 102.0 164.4 -38.0% -50% 

Weight in Fossil Fuel Reserves (% AUM) 5.2% 5.7% -0.5%pts  

Weight in Clean Tech (% AUM) 39.4% 34.2% 5.2%pts  

Financed emissions, scope 3 (tCO2e/ $m) 1,911.4 N/A N/A  

Source: LGPS Central Leicestershire Pension Fund 2023 Climate Risk Report dated December 2023 

N/A denotes not applicable due to data not being available at the time 

 

On all the metrics measured, the Fund has made good progress in reducing climate risk and increasing exposure 

to climate opportunities. Over the period from 31 December 2019 to 31 March 2023, financed emissions have 

reduced by 19.4% and portfolio carbon intensity by 38.0%. Fossil fuel exposure has reduced from 5.7% to 5.2%, 

whilst the exposure to clean technology has increased by 0.5% (percentage points) to 39.4% (based on restated 

prior year).  

LGPS Central have also reported on scope 3 emissions which represent the emissions released through the 

value chain of the company which are not otherwise captured in scope 1 and 2. We have also seen an increase 

in reporting from 2022 to cover more funds. 

However, achieving Net Zero in a way which enables the Fund to continue generating attractive financial returns 

for scheme members whilst protecting the economies in which it invests will take many years. The values of 

certain metrics are likely to be volatile year-on-year as the scope of asset classes covered increases, the 

composition of the portfolio changes and portfolio companies execute their own decarbonisation plans.  

47



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 11  

The Fund has taken concrete actions towards achieving Net Zero. It has agreed to invest 3.5% in the L&G Low 

Carbon Transition fund and 12% in the LGPS Equity Central Climate Multi Factor Fund (both climate-tilted 

passive equity index funds), with further commitments to be considered in the future in order to help meet the 

listed equity interim target. The Fund has also made commitments to Quinbrook Net Zero Power fund which 

specialises in energy transition assets, LGPSC Infrastructure fund which has exposure to renewable energy 

assets and Stafford Capital’s Carbon Opportunities timberland fund. These allocations form 3.6% of the current 

portfolio. Also there are further commitments left to draw on the Stafford and Quinbrook funds; once drawn it is 

therefore expected that the proportion of assets in climate-related solutions will be over 20%.  

The below graph highlights the progress made to date, using the WACI target (50% reduction by 2030) by way of 

illustration. The forecast (blue line) shows the forecast path which we included in our equity review of 2023, and 

the 2023 position (red cross) shows the fund is currently on track relative to this. If the Fund contimued to follow 

the forecast path then the target will be hit earlier than 2030.   

 

In the year ahead, the Fund will pursue a climate-aware investment strategy (“NZCS”), continue to review and 

develop investment mandates to increase alignment with the NZCS, and consider further climate-related 

solutions investments with the Investment Advisor. 

48



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 12  

3 Fossil fuels exposure 

Current position 

The Fund’s fossil fuels exposure has reduced over recent years, both as a result of direct action by the Fund 

itself and as part of broader global decarbonisation efforts, as illustrated earlier in this paper. However the Fund 

still retains some exposure to companies with links to fossil fuels, including those which own fossil fuel reserves, 

those which exploit them and those which provide services to such companies. The Fund’s Climate Risk 

Management Report dated December 2023 estimated that 5.2% of the capital held in listed equities is invested in 

companies which own reserves, and the proportion with wider links to fossil fuels will be higher. However, the 

average proportion of revenue derived from fossil fuels by portfolio companies was only 1.9% at March 2023. The 

Fund’s fossil fuels exposure is lower than the wider market, and the residual exposure is reflective of the current 

high dependence of modern economies on fossil fuels. 

To the extent that fossil fuels exposures remain in the portfolio, the Fund will retain some direct exposure to 

certain risks relating to climate change, notably transition risk. Transition risk would arise when new regulations 

are introduced which make it too expensive to exploit fossil fuels, leading to a dramatic reduction in the value of 

companies that remained dependent on them. It is important to remember that this is unlikely to happen in the 

short-term, given the world’s current reliance on fossil fuels, and in the meantime those companies remain 

potentially attractive investments. 

It should also be noted that a sub-fund that eliminates fossil fuel companies will not side-step climate risks 

altogether. The Fund’s other investments would remain directly exposed to the physical risks of climate change, 

which tend to be systemic in nature, and indirectly exposed to transition risks via the impact of fossil fuel 

companies on the wider economy. Shares in fossil fuel companies divested by the Fund would likely be acquired 

by other, potentially less responsible investors, meaning that divestment would have no positive impact. But in 

the event that all major investors including the Fund did divest from fossil fuels, this would trigger a sudden shut-

down of fossil fuel industries due to a lack of capital provision, would lead to a collapse in global economic 

activity, global food shortages and potentially mass starvation, and the destruction of value in the Fund’s portfolio. 

Public policy on climate change instead calls for a managed and progressive elimination of fossil fuels from the 

global economy, and explicitly recognises the role institutional investors and their asset managers have in making 

this happen. Two specific mechanisms are highlighted: 1) to work with portfolio companies to decarbonise their 

operations and 2) to provide financing support for companies providing products and services that the wider 

economy needs to decarbonise successfully. Both require institutional investors to remain invested in, and 

engage with, companies that may currently be reliant on fossil fuels or otherwise responsible for significant GHG 

emissions but have credible plans and commitments in place to decarbonise. Divestment, of course, remains an 

option for those which fail to produce plans or then deliver them. This approach is also supported by the majority 

of best-practice guidance provided to investors in this area. 

In accordance with its Responsible Investment policy, the Fund requires all its investment managers to take ESG 

factors including climate change into account in investment decision making and to address them through active 

stewardship of its investments. In the case of actively managed strategies, managers are able to consider all 

relevant investments including fossil fuel companies on their merits and, where they do invest, they engage with 

them on their decarbonisation plans. The Fund’s passive equity investments are managed by LGIM which, in its 

traditional strategies, is required to invest in all stocks at index weights although it does have a programme of 

active engagement with high emissions companies. The Fund recently committed to a climate-tilted strategy run 

by LGIM whereby stock weights are tilted towards companies with lower current emissions and/or fossil fuel 

reserves. The manager also applies a limited exclusion policy which precludes investment in companies which 

generate at least 20% of their revenue from mining thermal coal or using it to generate policy. We believe these 

are reasonable exclusions given the exploitation of thermal coal is increasingly avoidable and companies 

focusing in this area will be harder to decarbonise and more exposed to transition risk. 

49



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 13  

Pros and cons of fossil fuel free listed equity funds 

Given the potential impact of climate change, it is appropriate to consider whether it would be worth investing in a 

sub-fund which went further and excluded more, or even all, fossil fuel stocks from its portfolio. In this section, we 

outline the pros and cons of strategies which adopt blanket exclusion policies covering all companies in specific 

sector(s), for example those which own material fossil fuel reserves. We focus on listed equities because that is 

where such strategies could practically be implemented today. 

Such fossil fuel-free strategies take a different approach to that adopted by the Fund’s current active managers 

when they decide not to invest in, or divest from, individual companies because the managers do not believe they 

have business plans which are sufficiently credible to navigate the transition to a low carbon economy. 

The arguments in favour of fossil fuel-free strategies (versus the alternative strategy that tilts towards lower 

carbon intensities) include those listed below but it should be noted that the majority of these impacts would 

accrue to society as a whole and are likely to be marginal, unless a large number of investors act in concert 

which they are not currently being guided to do: 

• Eliminates direct transition risks to the Fund associated with the stocks excluded 

• May be appropriate for specific types of company that lack opportunities to transition to a low carbon 

business model; 

• Signals to stakeholders that the Fund has limited appetite for climate risk and expects action to be taken by 

prospective investments to reduce it; 

• May lead companies excluded to take action to reduce emissions, eg by decommissioning assets 

• May increase the cost of capital for fossil fuel companies leading to fairer pricing of the true cost of climate 

change and a more appropriate allocation of capital.  

Blanket exclusion policies can, however, have a negative impact on both investment outcomes and the wider 

economy if used inappropriately. In particular, they may lead to: 

• Reducing portfolio diversification, thereby increasing prospective market risk and potentially reducing 

investment returns. Lower investment returns than planned may ultimately result in higher employer 

funding rates. 

• Increasing portfolio complexity and costs, especially if the Fund needed to invest via segregated 

accounts in order to implement the wider exclusions it required (which may not be practical in private 

markets today); 

• Depriving the Fund’s managers of an opportunity to exert influence on excluded companies and/or 

transferring ownership to less responsible investors, potentially leading to them decarbonising more 

slowly; 

• Missing out on a share of the added value created when companies do decarbonise, thereby reducing 

prospective returns;  

• With-holding capital from companies that have a critical role to play in decarbonisation – for example oil 

and gas companies using their offshore operations expertise to become major renewable energy 

providers; 

• A strong focus on eliminating fossil fuels exposures may adversely impact on other aspects of the Fund’s 

Net Zero Climate Strategy. 

Furthermore, they represent a crude way of filtering the investment universe, thus increasing the chance of the 

Fund’s investment strategy conflicting with its fiduciary obligation to ensure that benefits get paid, whilst taking a 

prudent and appropriate level of risk to generate the necessary investment returns. We note that fiduciary duty 

50



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 14  

requires LGPS funds to consider key risks like climate change and allows them to take into account non-financial 

factors in investment decision making, but also requires them to act in ways which are not detrimental to returns 

and would be supported by the majority of a fund’s membership. On this latter point, we understand that the Fund 

consulted with the membership in 2022 on divestment versus engagement and the results showed a marginal 

preference for engagement.  

In the remainder of this section, we look in more detail at the impact of exclusions on portfolio diversification and 

risk. In the table below, we show the impact of excluding companies fossil fuel reserves from global and UK 

equity indices, by considering the proportion of each index with any fossil fuels reserves. We also show the 

impact of adopting a wider exclusion policy, also excluding companies that derive revenue dependent on fossil 

fuels, by considering the proportion of each index with any fossil fuels reserves or related revenues.  

Current proportion of indices with exposure to fossil fuels (weighted by market capitalisation): 

Metric MSCI ACWI FTSE All Share 

Fossil fuels reserves (any) 7.0% 17.0% 

Fossil fuels any tie (including reserve 

ownership and related revenues) 
12.3% 19.8% 

Source: MSCI, Hymans Robertson. 

There are even stricter definitions that could be considered e.g. looking at ‘second order’ exposures such as 

banks / insurance companies that support the fossil fuels industry. However, most major players in these sectors 

would have some exposure. A strict exclusion would therefore lead to most of the financial sector being excluded, 

which makes up c15% of global markets. On top of a strict revenue-based exclusion such as that in the table 

above, this could lead to over 30% of global markets being excluded, which is very meaningful. Also, second 

order exposures do not form part of standard datasets and so this may be difficult to implement in practice.  

Why we believe the Fund’s approach is better? 

We believe the Fund’s current approach to listed equities – climate-tilted passive strategies and active strategies 

which are sensitive to climate risks (and opportunities) and Net Zero Climate Strategy target to reduce exposure 

to fossil fuel reserves and increase exposure to climate solutions – is superior to simply excluding all fossil fuel 

stocks for the following reasons: 

• Is complementary and aligned with the recent NZCS as approved by the Local Pension Committee after 

a rigorous process which included consulation with the Fund’s membership and employers. 

• Pragmatic, recognising that the world cannot cease burning fossil fuel companies overnight; 

• Enables the Fund to remain well diversified across a wide range of sectors, thereby reducing portfolio 

investment returns risk; 

• Supports “good” companies in all sectors including those which may be reliant on fossil fuels (and have 

high current emissions) but which have credible decarbonisation plans and the commitment to deliver 

them; 

• Allows for engagement with portfolio companies which will drive more action and greater impact on 

climate change; 

• Enables the Fund to generate value from those companies which successfully decarbonise; 

• Punishes those companies, again in all sectors, which cannot decarbonise effectively; 

• Has delivered meaningful reductions in exposure to fossil fuel reserves and current GHG emissions and 

progress towards the Fund’s interim targets (see section 2 of this report); 

51



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 15  

• Is aligned with LGPS Central’s philosophy on climate change enabling a higher proportion of the Fund’s 

assets to be pooled over time; 

• Leaves the Fund’s investment managers free to make more robust investment decisions on individual 

stocks, taking into account the risks and opportunities associated not just with climate change but also 

the many other factors influencing capital markets; 

• Is consistent with current public policy and best practice guidance to institutional investors on climate 

change (e.g. the Net Zero Investment Framework published by the Institutional Investors Group on 

Climate Change, see https://www.iigcc.org/resources/net-zero-investment-framework-implementation-

guide). 

In contrast, we do not believe that investing in ‘fossil fuel free’ funds would offer a “good” Net Zero strategy for the 

Fund or the economies in which it invests. 

How the current exposure supports the investment strategy and Responsible Investment policy? 

The Fund’s primary purpose is to pay benefits and it aims to take a prudent and appropriate level of risk in order 

to generate the necessary investment returns. These objectives call for an investment strategy which is well 

diversified across different markets and where the material risks including climate change are well understood 

and properly mitigated.  

The current strategy enables the Fund’s managers to consider a wide range of investments and build a well 

diversified portfolio, and has been thoroughly tested across a range of climate change scenarios. The Fund’s 

approach to dealing with fossil fuel exposure is consistent with the current strategy. A highly concentrated 

investment strategy such as one with material exclusion policies, which is designed to minimise current exposure 

to a single risk factor such as climate change, would not be consistent with these objectives nor the Fund’s 

investment beliefs, notably: 

Belief 5: Diversification across investments with low correlation reduces volatility, but over diversification is both 

costly and adds little value.  

The Fund is committed to Responsible Investment and its policy requires all its investment managers, including 

LGPS Central (“LGPSC”), to take ESG factors including climate change into account in investment decision 

making and to address them through active stewardship of its investments. The Fund believes this will deliver 

superior investment returns over the long-term (Belief 7).  

The Fund also recognises that long-term asset owners can play a significant role in decarbonising modern 

economies though the capital allocation decisions they make and the stewardship of the companies they finance. 

The approach taken by the Fund’s managers of remaining invested in “good” companies with a strong investment 

rationale, even those currently reliant on fossil fuels, and working with them to decarbonise is consistent with this 

policy. Blanket exclusions of such companies is unlikely to contribute much to addressing climate change in the 

wider economy, but may well lead to worse financial outcomes for the Fund. 

The climate stewardship plans prepared by the Fund’s investment managers, including LGPSC, identify portfolio 

companies which are a focus for engagement. The companies and funds prioritised are identified based on a 

range of factors, including perceived climate risk and significance to the Fund’s portfolio. Most are on the CA100+ 

list. Regular stewardship reports provided by managers document the engagement activity undertaken on climate 

change and other ESG factors. 

Conclusions and recommendations 

In summary, we believe the Fund’s approach to managing exposure to fossil fuel companies remains 

appropriate. We do not believe there is a case for applying a blanket exclusion policy covering such companies, 

52

https://www.iigcc.org/resources/net-zero-investment-framework-implementation-guide
https://www.iigcc.org/resources/net-zero-investment-framework-implementation-guide


 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 16  

as this would benefit neither the Fund nor the wider economy. In particular we do not believe it would be 

appropriate to invest in fossil fuel free funds. 

We acknowledge that the successful decarbonisation of fossil fuel companies will require concerted action by the 

Fund, its investment managers and portfolio companies. This in turn depends on good stewardship. We therefore 

recommend that the Fund considers: 

• Strengthening engagement with underlying managers appointed directly by the Fund, to ensure that 

stewardship is being undertaken to the same standard as those overseen by LGPS Central. 

• Encouraging managers to improve stewardship reporting to provide greater insights not just on 

engagement activity, but also the actions taken and outcomes achieved by portfolio companies. 

• Better reporting which would facilitate a deeper dive on the effectiveness of stewardship around fossil fuel 

companies, and which may lead to further changes in the portfolio and potentially some further tightening 

of exclusion criteria. This could focus on the companies with the largest exposures (e.g. those with the 

highest fossil fuels related revenues) initially.  

• Continuing to monitor progress against stated decarbonisation targets and look for opportunities to 

increase allocations to climate-related solutions. 

Better reporting may well provide a basis for setting a firm target around the removal of fossil fuels from the 

portfolio when the Fund’s NZCS is next reviewed. Ideally the Fund should differentiate here between actual 

reductions achieved by changes in company policies vs reductions achieved by divestment. If any of the above 

areas were to be investigated further, consideration would be given as to whether any changes were supportive 

of the Fund’s Net Zero strategy. 

  

53



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 17  

4 Investment Objectives, Investment Strategy and Required 
Return 

Investment Objectives 

The strategic objectives of the Fund are as follows: 

• To ensure members’ benefits are met as they fall due. 

• To support a long-term funding approach that is consistent with a stable and affordable contribution 

approach from the employers. 

• To remove any funding shortfall over 14 years on average, with a target to reduce this recovery 

period. 

The investment strategy should be set to achieve these strategic objectives. In practice, to the extent that the 

discount rate used reflects the expected return on the Fund’s assets, this is an integrated process. 

Funding Position and Strategy 

The funding position at 30 September 2023 was estimated to be 148% using a discount rate of 6.6% p.a in 

comparison to 31 March 2022 where the funding position was estimated to be 105% using a discount rate of 

4.4%. This rate was set such that there was a 75% likelihood of the return on Fund assets being at least equal to 

the discount rate over the next 20 years. The rate was set using our long-term asset assumptions as at 

30 September 2023. The discount rate sets the required return. 

It is important to note that this is just a snapshot of the funding level in time, and small changes in the 

assumptions used to derive this funding level can have a material impact. In particular the assets and liabilities of 

the Fund can move very differently; for example liabilities fell much more than assets in 2022 due to rising 

interest rate expectations, but should interest rate expectations fall from here then that would likely lead to the 

funding level falling again, all else being equal.  

On reaching full funding, it is appropriate to consider whether the Fund should reduce investment risk in order to 

protect the funding position (or alternatively reduce contribution rates). Lower risk would mean lower projected 

investment returns, a reduction in the discount rate and an increase in the value of the Fund’s liabilities. We 

explore the case for de-risking in the protection assets section below, but have recommended further work 

(including full ALM) before material capital is reallocated. 

Investment Strategy 

The Fund’s current funding position and objectives call for an investment strategy that will deliver a sustainable 

return factoring in considerations such as inflation. The current strategy focuses on those asset classes that are 

expected to deliver the required return over the long-term. A wide range of asset classes/strategies are employed 

in order to diversify risk and thereby generate a more sustainable return. The Fund seeks to balance the benefits 

of diversification with the additional complexity and costs of managing additional asset classes. In recent years, 

there has been increased focus on asset classes which provide predictable sources of income, rather than capital 

gains which tend to be more volatile. The current strategy also reflects a focus on long-term investing with 

allocations to private assets where the return is earned over time and where the Fund takes advantage of an 

illiquidity premium in return. The Fund is cashflow positive and is expected to remain so for the foreseeable future 

due in part to the regular contributions being received towards new accrual, which enables it to make a material 

allocation to private assets. 

The projected outcomes of the Fund’s current strategy were tested in the 2022 actuarial valuation using asset-

liability modelling. The analysis was based on our asset return assumptions as at 31 March 2021. Two key 

outputs of this analysis were: 

54



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 18  

• Likelihood of Success, ie the likelihood of being fully funded in 20 years’ time: 83% 

• Downside Risk, ie the average funding level in the worse 5% of outcomes over 5 years: 48% 

This has since been updated for asset return assumptions as at 30 September 2023 (using the same underlying 

data and investment portfolio as at the 2022 actuarial valuation), increasing the likelihood of success to 92%.   

These are positive outcomes and indicate no pressing need to change the current strategic asset allocation. 

However, the funding position does leave scope to de-risk and protect the future funding level which is assessed 

in the protection assets section. 

Projected, Required and Realised Returns 

The median projected return of the current strategy based on our latest long-term asset assumptions 

(30 September 2023) is 8.7% p.a. This is the median return, ie there is a 50% likelihood of returns exceeding this 

level. 

This compares with the median projected return for the current strategy of 8.2% p.a. calculated at the 2023 SAA 

review (using assumptions as at 31 October 2022). The required return set at the 2022 actuarial valuation was 

4.4% p.a. (75% likelihood). The median projected return is materially above the required return, leaving a prudent 

margin for adverse experience such as asset underperformance.  

Long-term asset assumptions have changed significantly in the last year, largely due to the increase in interest 

rates and rate expectations. The table below compares our latest set of assumptions (30 September 2023) with 

those used in the 2022 actuarial valuation (31 March 2021) and the previous SAA review (31 October 2022). It is 

worth noting that assumed future asset returns could fall just as quickly as they have risen.  

Projected 20-year 
return, median, As at As at As at 

% p.a. 31 March 2021 31 October 2022 30 September 2023 

Listed equities 5.90 7.80 8.40 

Private equity 6.80 11.40 12.00 

Targeted return 4.50 5.25 5.90 

Infrastructure (incl. 
timber) 

5.90 7.86 8.50 

Property 4.20 6.41 7.00 

Emerging market debt 3.70 5.39 6.70 

Global credit – liquid sub 
inv grade markets 

4.60 6.67 6.70 

Global credit - private 
debt (inc M&G/CRC) 

4.90 9.27 8.70 

Inflation-linked bonds -1.40 2.08 4.10 

Investment grade credit 2.70 5.07 5.60 

Cash 2.00 3.70 4.30 

Source: Hymans Robertson’s ESS model 

Our projected return assumptions are set by reference to risk-free rates of return which we assume equal the 

yield on UK and US government bonds as applicable. The sharp increase in the yields on these instruments over 

the last year account for most of the increase in the projected returns tabulated above. But the impact of this 

sharp increase is moderated because we also assume that returns revert to typical long-term levels over time 

(e.g. our model considers interest rates over a 30 year period, using the market yield curve to guide the path that 

interest rates take over the first few years, and then gradually blending towards our view of a more normalised 

yield by the 30th year).  

55



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 19  

In the case of private equity and debt, we have also revisited the premium investors are assumed to receive in 

these asset classes compared with their public market equivalents. Our assumptions are calibrated against 

historical experience. 

The table below illustrates market returns at an asset class level and the return realised by the Fund since March 

2022: 

Market Index Returns (£) * 
9 months to 

31/12/2022 (%) 
6 months to 

30/06/2023 (%) 
15 months to 30/06/2023 (%) 

UK equities -0.15 2.61 1.96 

Global equities -5.01 7.85 1.96 

Emerging market equities -5.61 -0.56 -4.94 

Property -14.87 1.23 -11.22 

Emerging market debt 0.01 -1.52 -1.20 

Inflation-linked gilts -29.73 -2.59 -27.74 

IG corporate bonds -12.30 -1.08 10.74 

Fund (net return) -2.9 1.0 -1.9 

* Index returns: FTSE All Share, FTSE All World, MSCI EM, MSCI UK Monthly Property, JPM EM BI Gib Diversified, FTSE Brit Govt Index-

Linked All Maturities, iBoxx Non-Gilts All Mat  

Source: Fund return from portfolio evaluation 

The realised return since the 2022 valuation has fallen short of the required return. The increase in government 

bond yields has had an adverse impact on the value of most asset classes, particularly during 2022. The impact 

on the Fund’s returns have been mitigated by its well diversified portfolio and by the devaluation of sterling which 

has boosted the returns on assets denominated in foreign currencies (where not fully hedged).   

56



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 20  

5 Market Commentary  

Global themes 

Global growth in 2023 has been subdued, even by post-Global Financial Crisis (GFC) standards, but more 

resilient than expected. Consumer spending exceeded expectations, particularly in the US; fiscal support dulled 

the impact of higher energy prices on European consumers; and China emerged from its zero-Covid restrictions 

earlier than hoped.  

That said, purchasing managers’ indices (PMIs) indicated that global growth eased throughout Q3 (Chart 1), as 

services activity ‘caught down’ with the contracting manufacturing sector. Consumer spending in developed 

economies has come under pressure as savings built up during the pandemic have been used, the delayed 

impact of interest-rate rises on disposable incomes grows, and the positive impulse from fiscal support wanes. As 

the Chinese post-reopening recovery faltered, the authorities unveiled modest economic stimulus measures, but 

the troubled property sector is weighing on consumer sentiment. Meanwhile, concerns about leverage limit the 

scope for debt-fuelled investment to support growth. Against this backdrop, we think growth is likely to slow 

further, due to the momentum of these factors.  

Chart 1: PMI data indicate that global growth slowed in Q3, as the services-led recovery lost steam 

  

Inflation has generally stayed on a downward trend, but the recent sharp rise in oil prices led to an uptick in year-

on-year US CPI inflation in August (Chart 2). Declines in energy prices have been a key contributor to the 

reduction in headline inflation over the last year, and so any reversal could slow the downtrend. Central banks 

might choose to ‘look through’ the immediate impact of a temporary, supply-driven increase in energy prices. 

However, the risk of second-round effects, alongside sticky core inflation and tight labour markets, are reasons 

why central banks may proceed cautiously with rate cuts.    

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

55

56

G
lo

b
a
l 
P

M
I

Manufacturing

Services

Indicative of month-on-month 
contraction

Indicative of month-on-month 
expansion

57



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 21  

Chart 2: Inflation has generally continued to trend downwards but remains elevated 

  

The US Federal Reserve and the Bank of England both raised rates by 0.25% pa, to 5.5% pa and 5.25% pa, 

respectively, in Q3. The Bank of England surprised markets by leaving rates unchanged in September. The 

European Central Bank raised its deposit rate twice, to 4.0% pa, but its cumulative tightening is still less than in 

the US and UK. Both the tone of central bank comments and market pricing suggest that policy rates are at or 

close to peaking, but subsequent cuts will be gradual. This will limit the potential boost to growth from looser 

monetary policy in 2024 and 2025.   

Against this backdrop, we do not expect growth to collapse, but expect it to fall to a very lacklustre pace in 2024, 

followed by a modest recovery in 2025. While consensus forecasts for global GDP growth in 2023 have risen to 

2.4% from 1.6% at the start of the year, 2024 global GDP forecasts have fallen to 2.1% from 2.5%, and we think 

a poorer outcome is very possible. 

Government bonds 

UK gilt yields fell at shorter terms, while long-term yields rose sharply. This is consistent with expectations that 

rates may peak at a lower level than previously expected, but stay there for longer. It also likely reflects a fragile 

technical backdrop of heavy global sovereign bond issuance. Indeed, given the weak real growth outlook and 

expected declines in inflation, we think the fundamental outlook for gilts has improved. In the presence of an 

independent central bank, and in the absence of catalysts that augur higher long-term real growth, we think 

longer-term nominal, and, to a slightly lesser extent, real, yields are reasonably attractive relative to fair value. 

Chart 3: Inflation will be sticky and rate cuts gradual, but forward nominal rates have risen too far 

  

-2

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

H
e
a
d
lin

e
 C

P
I,
 %

 y
e
a
r-

o
n
-y

e
a
r

UK US eurozone Japan

2.6

3.0

3.4

3.8

4.2

4.6

5.0

5.4

5.8

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40

F
o
rw

a
rd

 n
o
m

in
a
l 
y
ie

ld
s
, 

%
 

p
.a

.

Years

10 Oct 23

30 Jun 23

58



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 22  

We have little issue with the near-term path of interest rates implied by the market, but we do not think interest 

rates will remain as high for as long as suggested by forward nominal yields (Chart 3). Given our belief that 

central banks will ultimately use the tools at their disposal to return inflation towards target, we also expect long-

term implied inflation to fall. We think a decline in longer-term implied inflation is more likely to be driven by a fall 

in nominal yields than a rise in real yields.  

Credit  

With weaker corporate earnings and higher borrowing costs starting to make their mark on debt affordability 

measures – debt as a proportion of earnings is generally rising, while earnings as a multiple of interest payments 

is falling – the fundamental outlook for credit is challenging. However, expectations that growth slows but does 

not collapse, set against decent absolute levels for the aforementioned debt metrics, means that while defaults 

have risen long-term average levels, they are only expected to rise a little further, and default forecasts have 

been revised lower in recent months.   

Chart 4: ABS spreads look attractive relative to their own history and equivalent corporate credit 

  

Credit spreads are close to long-term median levels in both investment- and speculative-grade markets and, 

given the weak outlook and balance of risks, we retain a preference for higher-quality credit. Given our view that 

near-term interest rates are largely fairly priced, we are agnostic between short-dated fixed and floating-rate 

exposure. However, better relative value (Chart 4) suggests a preference for asset-backed securities (ABS) over 

investment-grade corporate credit in short-dated bond mandates. Investment-grade credit markets offer attractive 

yields, but this is largely a reflection of attractive underlying sovereign bond yields.   

Equities 

The FTSE All World Total Return Index fell 2.1% in local currency terms in Q3, as sovereign bond yields rose and 

survey data indicated an easing in economic activity. Amid the subdued, albeit better-than-expected, growth 

environment, forecasts for full-year equity earnings growth in 2023 have fallen from around 3% at the start of the 

year to 0% by the end of Q3. Over the same period, equivalent forecasts for 2024 and 2025 have actually seen 

slight upwards revisions, with full-year earnings growth a little above 11% expected in each of the next two 

calendar years. Slowing global activity is reducing corporate pricing power at the same time as borrowing costs 

are rising, creating a tough outlook for corporate earnings. Against this backdrop, these global equity earnings 

forecasts look vulnerable to potential disappointment.  

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

4.5

5.0

5.5

Y
ie

ld
 s

p
re

a
d
, 

%
 p

.a
.

A RMBS

Long-term median

Sterling A-rated

59



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 23  

Chart 5: The ‘equity risk premium’ looks stretched  

  

Cyclically adjusted global equity valuations, which are in line with long-term averages, look reasonable in 

absolute terms. However, valuations look stretched relative to ‘safe’ assets, with the equity risk premium, proxied 

by the MSCI World cyclically adjusted earning yield less 10-year US real treasury yields, as low as it has been 

since the GFC and well below historic averages (Chart 5). Valuation pressures would be eased by a decline in 

real yields. While we think that is quite likely, we expect the impact to be limited as we do not anticipate yields to 

return to the very low levels experienced in the post-GFC era. A background of declining yields is, in any case, 

likely to be associated with pressure on earnings.  

Property 

Our caution that a stabilisation in capital values in Q2 reflected a lack of transaction activity rather than a 

fundamental improvement has proved well founded. Though capital values in the industrial sector have now risen 

for seven consecutive months, continued declines in the office and retail sectors led to a modest 0.2% fall in the 

MSCI UK Monthly Property Total Return Index in Q3. On a 12-month basis, capital values are down around 14%, 

23%, and 20% in the retail, office, and industrial sectors, respectively. 

Chart 6: Record-high vacancy rates in the office sector highlight ongoing fundamental challenges 

  

Property yields have risen significantly from a low in late 2022, but remain below long-term average levels. As 

with equities, valuations relative to safe assets are stretched – as expensive they have been since the GFC. This 

feels like scant reward given a challenging fundamental outlook. Real rental growth is rising as inflation declines, 

0

5

10

15

20

25

1995 1997 1999 2001 2003 2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2021 2023

U
K

 c
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 
p
ro

p
e
rt

y
 

v
a
c
a
n
c
y
 r

a
te

, 
%

All Property Retail Office Industrial

60



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 24  

but is still negative. The modest improvement in sentiment highlighted in the previous UK Commercial Property 

Market Survey by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors has also reversed more recently: the latest survey 

showed renewed falls in occupier demand and rent expectations as availability across industrials and office 

continued to rise. Highlighting the ongoing impact of the seismic shifts in post-pandemic working patterns, office 

vacancy rates hit a record-high of 22% in August (Chart 6). This is compounded by ongoing technical weakness 

as there is a substantial amount of selling pressure in the market, with thin transaction activity and some pooled 

funds deferring redemptions till 2024.  

Conclusion 

Global growth in 2023 has outperformed the downbeat forecasts made at the start of the year, but its pace has 

been subdued and we think it’s likely to slow further. Weak growth and rising borrowing costs make for a tough 

outlook for corporate earnings, so the fundamental outlook for equity and credit markets is challenging. We 

maintain our defensive positioning, preferring ‘safe’ assets – sovereign bonds, cash and high-quality credit – over 

‘risk’ assets – equity, speculative-grade credit and property. 

Inflation is likely to be sticky, and we expect central banks to proceed cautiously, but long-term forward nominal 

yields now look very high. At these levels, a return to our assessment of fair value would provide significant 

capital appreciation, in addition to income. Investment-grade credit looks better value than speculative-grade 

credit, but with spreads close to long-term medians, the attractions largely reflect decent underlying sovereign 

bond yields. 

A challenging, and arguably still-deteriorating economic outlook puts pressure on equity earnings and UK 

commercial property rents. In absolute terms, global equity valuations are neutral and UK property valuations are 

still a little stretched. Both look expensive relative to ‘safe’ assets, and so any future reduction in real yields might 

provide only limited relief.  

61



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 25  

6 Equities 

Investment Objective 

The Fund invests in equities to achieve a return in excess of inflation over the long-term. Equities are generally 

more volatile than government bonds, but investors receive a return premium (the “Equity Risk Premium”) to 

compensate for the additional risks.  

The Fund invests in both listed and private equity. Investing in private equity offers exposure to younger and/or 

higher growth companies, but involves taking significantly more risk. Private equity investments are also 

inherently illiquid. As a long-term investor, the Fund is able to invest in more volatile, illiquid assets and expects 

to receive an additional return premium (the “Liquidity Premium”) for doing so. 

Many private equity funds have delivered exceptional returns in recent years, and we would not expect such a 

high level of returns to be sustained in the coming years, as conditions for private equity are not expected to be 

as favourable. One reason for this is that PE firms often rely on debt to magnify their returns, and borrowing costs 

are now expected to be higher. Nonetheless, we expect a material Liquidity Premium to persist over the long-

term and are comfortable with our recommendation in the 2023 SAA to maintain the increased allocation to this 

asset class previously agreed. 

Current Portfolio 

Following the 2023 SAA review, the Fund has a 37.5% target allocation to listed equities and a 7.5% target 

allocation to private equity, both expressed as a proportion of total fund assets. The Fund is in the process of re-

structuring the listed equity portfolio as per the below table. These transitions are underway and are expected to 

take place over H1 2024. 

Manager & Fund 
Active/ 
Passive 

2022 Target 
Allocation 

2023 Target 
allocation 

L&G UK Equity Fund Passive 3.13% 2.00% 

L&G North American Equity Fund Passive 5.83% 0.00% 

L&G Japanese Equity Fund Passive 1.25% 0.00% 

L&G European Equity Fund Passive 2.50% 0.00% 

L&G Pacific Ex Japan Equity Fund Passive 1.25% 0.00% 

L&G Emerging Markets Equity Fund Passive 1.04% 0.00% 

L&G All World Equity Fund  Passive  0.00% 8.00% 

L&G Low Carbon Transition Fund  Passive  0.00% 3.50% 

L&G Total Passive Equity Fund Passive 15.00% 13.50% 

LGPSC Global Eq Active Multi Mgr Fund Active 8.00% 12.00% 

LGPSC EMM Eq Active Multi Mgr Fund Active 4.00% 0.00% 

LGPSC AW Eq Climate Multi Factor 
Fund 

Passive 15.00% 12.00% 

LGPSC Total Equity Fund 
Active/ 
Passive 

42.00% 
(40.0-44.0) 

37.50% 

 

 

 

62



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 26  

 

 

 The investments as at 30 June 2023 are summarised in the table below: 

Asset 
Class 

Manager & Fund 
Active/ 
Passive 

New Target 
Allocation 

Actual 
Allocation 

Breakdown1 
Above or 

Below 
Target 

Listed 
equity 

L&G Total Passive 
Equity 

Passive 13.50% 16.10% 16.10% ++ 

LGPSC Global Eq 
Active Multi Mgr Fund 

Active 12.00% 9.40% 9.40% - - 

LGPSC EMM Eq Active 
Multi Mgr Fund 

Active 0.00% 3.10% 3.10% ++ 

LGPSC AW Eq Climate 
Multi Factor Fund 

Passive 12.00% 15.90% 15.90% + 

Sub-Total 
Active/ 
Passive 

37.50% 44.40% See above ++ 

Private 
equity 

UK Private Equity Fund 
- Catapult (L) 

Active 

7.50% 7.40% 

0.00% 

- 

Oseas Private Equity 
Fund - Adams Street 

(L) 
Active 6.70% 

LGPSC Private Equity 
Fund 

Active 0.10% 

Aberdeen Standard 
Private Equity Fund 

Active 0.00% 

Sub-Total Active 7.50% 7.40% See above - 

The breakdown of the L&G Passive Regional allocation is provided in Appendix 1. 

Government target relating to private equity 

The Fund currently has a target allocation to private equity of 7.5%. The UK government wishes to see LGPS 

funds and pools increasing their current allocation into private equity, with a total ambition of 10% investment 

allocation. This was recently consulted upon, and the intention is for regulatory guidance to be updated to require 

funds to consider investments to meet the government’s ambition.  

However the government also acknowledges that each fund will be different and will need to make its own 

investment decisions based on potential risk and reward appetite. Private equity investments are generally 

considered to be amongst the riskiest investments in any portfolio, and the Fund has other investments such as 

distressed debt and value-add infrastructure with a similar risk profile. The Fund’s strategic asset allocation has 

been carefully set based on the specific circumstances of the Fund, including risk appetite, and with the intention 

to optimise funding outcomes. We remain comfortable with the current target allocation to private equity. 

 
1 Column show sub-asset class allocations where applicable 

63



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 27  

Performance  

The investment performance is summarised in the table below: 

Asset 
Class 

Manager & Fund Benchmark 

Performance 
12m 

(Absolute) 
%2 

Performance 
12m  

(Relative) %3 

Performance 
SI 

(Absolute) % 

Performance 
SI 

(Relative) % 

Listed 
equity 

L&G UK Equity Fund FTSE All Share Index 7.8 0 5.2 0.2 

L&G North American 
Equity Fund 

FTSE World N America Net 
Index 

13.7 0 13.2 0 

L&G Japanese Equity 
Fund 

FTSE Japan Net Index 12.5 -0.1 7.9 -0.1 

L&G European Equity 
Fund 

FTSE Dev Europe ex UK Net 
Index 

18.7 -0.4 7.4 0.2 

L&G Pacific Ex Japan 
Equity Fund 

FTSE Dev. Asia Pacific x 
Japan Net 

2.9 0.4 6.6 0.1 

L&G Emerging Markets 
Equity Fund 

FTSE Emerging Net -3.4 0.1 5.8 0.2 

Sub-total Client Weighted Index 10.7 -0.7 *  9.9 -0.1 

LGPSC Global Eq 
Active Multi Mgr Fund 

FTSE All World Index 
(Sterling, Total Return) 

14.0 2.3 10.6 0.4 

LGPSC EMM Eq 
Active Multi Mgr Fund 

FTSE Emerging Market 
Index (Sterling, Total Return) 

-4.7 -1.5 -1.3 -2.4 

LGPSC AW Eq 
Climate Multi Factor 

Fund 

FTSE All World Climate 
Balanced Comprehensive 
Factor Index (Total Return) 

10.0 0.4 8.2 0.3 

Sub-Total Client Weighted Index 10.1 0.3 8.7 0.0 

Private 
equity 

UK Private Equity Fund 
- Catapult (L) 

FTSE All World Index 11.4 -0.3 28.4 16.3 

Oseas Private Equity 
Fund - Adams Street 

(L) 
FTSE All World Index -2.6 -14.3 17.3 5.2 

LGPSC Private Equity 
Fund 2018 

FTSE All World Index 4.0 -7.7 14.8 9.1 

LGPSC Private Equity 
Fund 2021 

FTSE All World Index N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Aberdeen Standard 
Private Equity Fund 

Absolute Return +7.5% 8.2 0.7 25.6 18.1 

Sub-Total FTSE All World Index -1.7 -13.0 17.6 6.1 

* Note this relative performance figure looks unusual and we are investigating the reasons for this 

The LGPS Central Global Equity Active Multi-Manager fund has outperformed its benchmark over the previous 

12 months to 30 June and slightly outperformed its benchmark since inception, though short of its target return, 

which is to outperform the benchmark by 1.5% p.a. over rolling 5 year periods. Two of the three underlying 

managers (Union 12.18% p.a. and Schroders 13.10% p.a.) have outperformed the benchmark returns since 

inception whereas Harris have underperformed the benchmark since inception (10.25%).  

Multi-manager funds often employ managers with different styles, with the expectation that the ‘average’ 

performance across the managers should outperform the benchmark over longer time periods. Different market 

environments will suit different styles, meaning that over any given period some of the managers used may 

outperform a broader benchmark whereas others may underperform.  

It is expected a fourth manager with a quality-focused investment style will be added in early 2024, and we are 

supportive in principle of this change. A diversified portfolio with exposure to a number of well rewarded 

investment styles is more likely to deliver sustainable performance across different market environments. 

 
2 Absolute return over last 12 months, and since inception (“SI”) 
3 Return relative to benchmark over last 12 months, and SI 

64



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 28  

The LGPS Central Emerging Market Equity Multi-Manager fund has underperformed its benchmark over 12 

months to 30 June 2023 and since inception. All its managers have reported negative returns over the 12 months 

to 30 June 2023 and since inception. The Fund has agreed to disinvest from the EM fund which will take place 

over H1 2024. 

The passive equity funds, including the LGPS Central Climate Multi-Factor fund have broadly performed in line 

with their benchmarks, outperforming it slightly and we have no other concerns about these investments. 

The Fund is slightly underweight its target allocation to private equity which was increased to 7.5% in the 2023 

SAA review. All four underlying managers have outperformed their benchmarks since inception. Aberdeen have 

announced agreements to sell their European private equity business to Patria Investments and their US private 

equity business to HighVista Strategies LLC. The transaction is expected to be completed in the first half of 2024 

and is subject to regulatory approval. We are comfortable that the Patria acquisition will not adversely affect the 

SOF range of funds or lead to any departures in the European private equity team. 

The returns tabulated above are time-weighted period returns (quoted in sterling) which have limitations when 

assessing the performance of closed-end funds. Internal rates of return (quoted in the base currency of each 

strategy) are generally accepted to be more robust measures of performance. We have used time-weighted 

period returns provided by Portfolio Evaluation for consistency with other asset classes. We also note that the 

benchmarks used by Portfolio Evaluation do not accurately reflect realistic return expectations for all the above 

strategies. The continued appropriateness of the benchmarks are reviewed later in the paper. 

Recommendation – Listed Equities 

We recommend the Fund should maintain the allocation to listed equity at 37.5% and private equity at 

7.5%, and progress the changes agreed during our recent review of the asset class over 2024. Work was 

undertaken as part of the previous listed equity and private equity reviews to ensure the agreed changes 

were supportive of the Fund’s Net Zero strategy.   

65



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 29  

7 Targeted Return 

Investment Objective 

The aim of the targeted return portfolio is to provide a return of cash + 4% net of fees, equivalent to a return in 

excess of CPI+3% long-term, while providing diversification from equities.  

Current Portfolio 

The Fund has a 5.0% strategic allocation to targeted return and the allocation as at 30 June 2023 was 7.6%. 

Over 2023, the Fund reviewed its targeted return holdings and agreed to divest from both Pictet and Aspect and 

invest the proceeds into Ruffer and Fulcrum, 3% and 2% of total asset allocation respectively. These transitions 

started during summer 2023 and are expected to complete in H1 2024. 

The Fund’s actual and target allocation as at 30 June 2023 is summarised below: 

Manager & Fund 
Active/ 
Passive 

Current 
Target 

Allocation 

Actual 
Allocation 

Breakdown 

Above 
or 

Below 
Target 

Aspect Capital 
Partners Fund 

Active 0.00% 2.90% 2.90% + + 

Pictet Fund Active 0.00% 2.50% 2.50% + + 

Ruffer Fund Active 3.00% 2.20% 2.20% - 

Fulcrum Fund Active 2.00% 0.00% 0.00% - - 

Sub-Total Active 5.00% 7.60% See above ++ 

 

Performance  

The investment performance is summarised in the table below: 

Manager & Fund Benchmark 
Inception 

date 

Performance 
12m 

(Absolute) % 

Performance 
12m  

(Relative) % 

Performance 
SI 

(Absolute) % 

Performance 
SI 

(Relative) % 

Aspect Capital 
Partners Fund 

SONIA 3 Month + 
4% 

Dec 2013 10.8 3.1 9.2 4.5 

Pictet Fund 
SONIA 3 Month + 

4% 
Sep 2015 1.6 -6.1 3.7 -1.1 

Ruffer Fund 
SONIA 3 Month + 

4% 
Dec 2013 -3.8 -11.5 5.4 0.7 

Sub-Total 
SONIA 3 Month + 

4% 
 3.5 -4.2 6.3 1.6 

Over the year to end June 2023, both Pictet and Aspect delivered positive returns, with Aspect being the stand-

out performer over the period also outperforming its benchmark. 

Ruffer’s performance in the first half of 2023 has been one of the worst since inception. However, they remain 

optimistic about future returns because they believe the macroeconomic outlook is negative and the portfolio is 

positioned for this outcome. The strategy that Ruffer employs aims to deliver a portfolio that contains both growth 

and defensive assets. The strategy does not aim to deliver a specific target of return - it just aims to deliver a 

“meaningful” return above cash – but instead focuses more on preserving capital.  

Following a review in 2023, it has been agreed to divest from Aspect and Pictet and instead introduce a fund 

managed by Fulcrum. The reasons for this were that the combination of Ruffer and Fulcrum are expected to 

better meet the Fund’s objectives in terms of long-term returns and performance in volatile years (following 

analysis of past performance, volatility and drawdowns), as well as reducing the governance burden by utilising 

two managers instead of three.  

66



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 30  

Activity Over 2023 

The divestments from Aspect and Pictet were to be completed in four redemptions at equal pace. The final 

divestments are expected to have taken place by the time of the January 2024 committee meeting. Subscriptions 

to Ruffer and Fulcrum started in Q4 2023 and are planned to complete February 2024.  

Recommendations 

We recommend the Fund should maintain the allocation to targeted return at 5.0%, and progress the 

changes agreed during our recent review of the asset class over 2024. Work was undertaken as part of 

the previous Targeted Return review to ensure the agreed changes were supportive of the Fund’s Net 

Zero strategy.  

67



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 31  

8 Infrastructure 

Investment Objective  

The purpose of the allocation to infrastructure is to provide a positive, real return over the long-term, a high 

income yield and a degree of inflation protection, and to diversify the risks associated with other return seeking 

assets such as listed equities. We continue to believe that the rationale for investing over the long-term in 

infrastructure remains strong. 

Current Portfolio 

The Fund’s investments as at 30 June 2023 are shown in the table below: 

Manager & Fund 
Active/ 
Passive 

Current 
Target 

Allocation 

Actual 
Allocation 

Breakdown 
Above or 

Below 
Target 

JPMorgan Infrastructure Fund 
(L) 

Active 

12.50% 10.20% 

2.50% 

- - 

IFM Global Infrastructure 
Fund 

Active 2.70% 

KKR Global Infrastructure 
Fund 

Active 0.80% 

Stafford Timberland Fund (L) Active 2.20% 

Infracapital Infrastructure 
Fund 

Active 0.60% 

LGPSC Infra Core/Core+ Active 0.90% 

Quinbrook Net Zero Power 
Fund 

Active 0.20% 

Quinbrook Net Zero Power 
Fund - co-inv  

Active 0.30% 

Sub-Total Active 12.50% 10.20% See above - - 

The Fund has a strategic allocation of 12.50% to infrastructure.  

Activity 

New commitments totalling £100m were made over 2023 to move the Fund towards the target allocation. There 

were also drawdowns of the existing commitments from LGPSC, Quinbrook and Stafford. 

Further commitments may be needed in 2024 to reach the current target allocation. We recommend a short 

review during 2024 to establish what additional commitments are needed over the next 3 years in order 

to maintain the desired risk and geography profile of the infrastructure investments.  

We are also aware that three of the existing Stafford vintages will be returning money over the coming years, and 

that discussions regarding an ‘evergreen’ version of the funds are underway. We recommend that the evergreen 

version is considered over 2024.  

Performance 

The investment performance is summarised in the table below: 

Manager & Fund Benchmark  
Performance 

12m 
(Absolute) % 

Performance 
12m  

(Relative) % 

Performance 
SI 

(Absolute) % 

Performance 
SI 

(Relative) % 

JPMorgan 
Infrastructure Fund (L) 

SONIA 3 Month + 4% 7.7 0.0 7.9 3.1 

IFM Global 
Infrastructure Fund 

SONIA 3 Month + 4% 8.2 0.5 13.9 7.9 

KKR Global 
Infrastructure Fund 

SONIA 3 Month + 4% 11.2 3.4 18.6 13.8 

Stafford Timberland 
Fund (L) 

SONIA 3 Month + 4%  12.9 5.2 6.5 1.6 

Infracapital 
Infrastructure Fund 

Absolute Return +7.5% 6.3 -1.2 7.2 -0.3 

68



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 32  

LGPSC Infra 
Core/Core+ 

CPI +3.5% 7.6 -3.3 5.3 -5.0 

Quinbrook Net Zero 
Power Fund 

13% IRR N/A N/A -8.6 -12.8 

Quinbrook Net Zero 
Power Fund - co-inv  

13% IRR N/A N/A -7.2 -11.4 

Sub-Total SONIA 3 Month + 4% 8.8 1.2 9.0 3.2 

N/A denotes Not Applicable, due to a track record of less than a year.  

All the infrastructure managers have delivered positive performance over the 12 months to 30 June 2023. 

Infracapital have continued to underperform since inception and over the year. The fund is still in the construction 

stage of assets and had reported a net multiple of invested capital of 1.3x as of March 2023.  

During our research team’s most recent meeting, the Infracapital team highlighted a few challenges with the 

underlying companies relating to debt financing, business planning issues and supply chain management. Of the 

9 investments, 1 has been realised at a slightly positive return and 7 have current (as of Q1 2023) current total 

money multiples between 1x and 2x, and one of the larger investments has not performed to expectations with a 

multiple slightly below 1x. The team are working on finding solutions to the challenges in the underlying 

companies and seem confident on the long-term performance of most of the assets. Overall the current fund 

money multiple is 1.4x which is below expectations at this stage of the fund’s life, but not disastrously so. 

The fund was set up to own assets from the development and construction phase straight through to the 

operational stage over a 25 year fund life. The fund terms specify that investors wishing to exit the fund can do so 

once 90% of the capital has been deployed. Infracapital expect to reach this level by Q4 2023 and c40-50% of 

the LPs have already expressed an interest to exit the fund. As such, Infracapital expect the fund will not continue 

through to the operational stage and will sell down the underlying assets once the liquidity window opens – as 

mentioned above, this is expected to be around Q4 2023 and we expect will be open for around 3 years from that 

point. 

Both the LGPSC and Quinbrook investments are recent commitments made over the period 2021 to 2023 and 

therefore it is too early to make any judgement over their performance.  

We have no other concerns with any of the managers, in terms of changes in personnel, changes to philosophy 

or any other potential red flags and continue to rate them as positive and preferred. 

Recommendations 

We recommend the Fund should maintain the target allocation to Infrastructure at 12.50%. 

We recommend that consideration is given as to what additional commitments are needed over the next 

3 years in order to reach the target allocation, and maintain the desired risk and geography profile.  

Work was undertaken as part of the previous Infrastructure review to ensure the agreed changes were 

supportive of the Fund’s Net Zero strategy. 

We recommend that the evergreen version of the Stafford funds is considered over 2024. Consideration 

will also include whether this is supportive of the Fund’s Net Zero strategy.  

 

 

  

69



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 33  

9 Property 

Investment Objective 

The Fund has a strategic allocation of 10% to property, which is part of a wider allocation to income-focused, 

return-seeking assets. The purpose of the allocation is to provide a positive, real return over the long-term, a high 

proportion of which to come from income, and to diversify the risks associated with other return seeking assets 

such as listed equities. We continue to believe that the rationale for investing over the long-term in property 

remains strong.  

Current Portfolio 

The Fund’s investments as at 30 June 2023 are shown in the table below: 

Manager & Fund 
Active/ 
Passive 

Current 
Target 

allocation 

Actual 
allocation 

Breakdown 

Above 
or 

below 
target 

Colliers Pooled 
Property 

Active 

10.00% 7.30% 

0.30% 

- - 

Colliers Direct 
Property Fund 

Active 1.70% 

La Salle Property 
Fund 

Active 4.30% 

Aegon Active 
Value Fund 

Active 0.30% 

Aegon Active 
Value Fund II 

Active 0.70% 

Sub-Total Active 10.00% 7.30% See above - - 

The Fund has a strategic allocation of 10% to property, which was 7.3% as at 30 June 2023 and is part of a wider 

allocation to income-focused, return-seeking assets. Further commitments will be required to close the 

underweight to property.  

The Aegon Active Value Funds are due to return capital in the near future, however the timing of this remains 

uncertain. We would be comfortable with reinvesting some of the expected returns from Aegon with La Salle, as 

part of the planned further commitments to this manager (i.e. as per the decision made in 2022). These 

commitments could be made during 2024, under the expectation that sufficient capital will be returned from 

Aegon to fund this by the time it is drawn down. Alternatively if the Aegon funds have not returned money in time 

then it is likely there will be sufficient cash available to fund it. This action would help to maintain the current 

weighting to property. However, given our current outlook for property remains weak we suggest deferring 

closure of the underweight for the time being. 

Performance 

The investment performance is summarised in the table below: 

Manager & Fund Benchmark 
Performance 

12m 
(Absolute) % 

Performance 
12m  

(Relative) % 

Performance 
SI 

(Absolute) % 

Performance 
SI 

(Relative) % 

Colliers Pooled 
Property 

MSCI UK Monthly Property 
Index (GBP) 

5.0 22.2 1.8 -2.3 

Colliers Direct 
Property Fund 

MSCI UK Monthly Property 
Index (GBP) 

-12.3 4.9 5.8 1.8 

La Salle Property 
Fund 

MSCI UK Monthly Property 
Index (GBP) 

-16.2 1.0 7.7 4.6 

Aegon Active Value 
Fund I 

MSCI UK Monthly Property 
Index (GBP) 

-10.4 6.8 4.3 -0.8 

Aegon Active Value 
Fund II 

MSCI UK Monthly Property 
Index (GBP) 

-19.2 -2.0 2.4 -2.0 

Sub-Total 
MSCI UK Monthly Property 

Index (GBP) 
-14.5 2.7 6.4 2.8 

70



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 34  

2023 was a tough year for property managers, with rising interest rates putting pressure on capital values,  

increasing borrowing costs, leading to a fall in returns. Against this backdrop, all the managers have delivered 

negative absolute returns (other than Colliers Pooled Property), but have outperformed their respective 

benchmark, with the exception of the ex-Aegon Active Value Fund II (now managed by DTZ). Absolute 

performance since inception has been positive for all managers.  

We note the Aegon funds have been handed over to DTZ as a result of the exit by Aegon from direct commercial 

property fund management in UK, which is already in progress. This arrangement is completely independent of 

DTZ’s future involvement in other parts of the property portfolio, which are referred to below. The Aegon funds 

are closed-ended and are well past their investment periods, and as cash distributions are made these are 

expected to be 'recycled' into the other parts of the property portfolio. 

We have no other concerns with any of the managers, in terms of changes in personnel, changes to philosophy 

or any other potential red flags. 

Activity Over 2023 

In 2022, we undertook an in-depth review of the Fund’s property allocation. We concluded that a 10% strategic 

allocation to the asset class was appropriate and sufficient to build a well-diversified portfolio with an appropriate 

risk/return profile. 

We recommended that new commitments to UK direct property be made through the LGPS Central UK Property 

fund, to be managed by DTZ. We also recommended that responsibility for indirect property investments should 

transition to La Salle and that its mandate be widened to provide increased diversification globally. 

Implementation of these recommendations is in progress. 

A £120m commitment to the UK Central UK Property Fund was approved by the ISC at the April 2022 meeting 

and has now been fully committed by the Fund and would expect this to be drawn by DTZ over 2024.  

Recommendations 

We recommend the Fund should maintain the target allocation to Property at 10%, and remain 

comfortable with the structure agreed in the 2022 review. 

We recommend that some of the money due to be returned from the Aegon funds is reinvested with La 

Salle, as per previously agreed changes. This commitment can be made in 2024. 

Work was undertaken as part of the previous Property review to ensure the agreed changes were 

supportive of the Fund’s Net Zero strategy. 

  

71



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 35  

10 Higher Yielding Credit 

Investment Objective 

The Fund invests in higher yielding credit to provide a high-income yield and to diversify the risks associated with 

the Fund’s allocation to growth assets.  

The Fund has a strategic allocation of 19.5% to higher yielding credit markets, comprising 9% liquid multi-asset 

credit and 10.5% private debt, which is part of a wider allocation to income-focused, return-seeking assets.  

Below is a summary of the original rationale for investing in this asset class, and its continued validity: 

• Exposure to alternative risk premia, such as complexity risk (CLO/ABS, Special Situations Financing),  

liquidity risk (private credit) and emerging market sovereign/policy risk. These sources of additional return 

make the associated asset classes attractive on a relative value basis.  

• Attractive income yield – Credit risk is greater in this part of the spectrum and, consequently, so are the 

associated returns on offer. This year spreads, along with sovereign bonds yields, have continued to rise, 

providing attractive entry points relative to history. The deterioration in the macro outlook may result in 

higher default rates and further spread widening, although we note that corporate balance sheets are 

generally stronger, and the average credit quality of speculative grade credit markets better, than in 

previous downturns.   

• Potential diversification – Certain segments of higher yielding credit markets continue to offer exposure to 

different economic sectors and/or are subject to different return drivers. This includes a mixture of fixed 

rate and floating rate instruments, different duration exposures, and a combination of regional and 

sectoral allocations, all of which provide access to a variety of sub-investment grade borrowers across 

the market capitalisation spectrum. Multi-asset credit strategies, in particular, are well placed to utilise 

their flexibility to protect portfolios in various market environments, whilst also positioning to capitalise on 

market opportunities.  

• Stronger downside protection – Private corporate lending can offer stronger downside protection than 

listed credit. Protection is afforded by better security, stronger control rights and greater transparency 

amongst other factors. This continues to be the case as lenders in the mid-market at least have generally 

maintained underwriting discipline so far in this cycle. In addition, as per our recommendations in the 

private credit review last year, allocations to real-asset debt should provide the aforementioned benefits, 

particularly around tangible security and access to a different set of borrowers.  

72



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 36  

Current Portfolio 

The Fund’s investments as at 30 June 2023 are shown in the table below: 

Asset Class Manager & Fund 
Active/ 
Passive 

Current 
Target 

Allocation 

Actual 
Allocation 

Breakdown 
Above or 

Below 
Target 

Emerging 
market debt 

LGPSC Global Active 
EMM Bond Multi Mgr Fund 

Active - 2.0% 2.0% + 

Global credit – 
liquid sub inv 

grade markets 

LGPSC Global Active 
MAC Fund 

Active 9.0% 3.7% 3.7% - - 

Global credit - 
private debt 

(inc M&G/CRC) 

Christofferson Robb & 
Company Fund - CRF3 (L) 

Active 

10.5% 8.1% 

0.2% 

- - 

Christofferson Robb & 
Company Fund - CRF5 (L) 

Active 1.0% 

M&G DOF Fund Active 1.0% 

Partners Group Private 
Debt Fund 

Active 3.9% 

LGPSC PD Low Return 
2021 

Active 1.0% 

LGPSC PD High Return 
2021 

Active 0.5% 

LGPSC Real Assets Active 0.5% 

Sub-Total Active 19.5% 13.8% See above - - 

 

Performance 

The investment performance is summarised in the table below: 

Asset Class 
Manager & 

Fund 
Benchmark 

Performance 
12m 

(Absolute) % 

Performance 
12m  

(Relative) % 

Performance 
SI 

(Absolute) % 

Performance 
SI 

(Relative) % 

Emerging 
market debt 

LGPSC Global 
Active EMM 

Bond Multi Mgr 
Fund 

JPMorgan EMBI 
Global Diversified 
Index, hedged to 

GBP 

7.6 5.0 -5.5 -1.5 

Global credit 
– liquid sub 
inv grade 
markets 

LGPSC Global 
Active MAC 

Fund 

SONIA 3 Month + 
4% 

4.0 -3.7 -3.2 -9.1 

Global credit 
- private 
debt (inc 

M&G/CRC) 

Christofferson 
Robb & 

Company Fund 
- CRF3 (L) 

Absolute Return 
+7.5% 

19.5 12.0 13.3 5.7 

Christofferson 
Robb & 

Company Fund 
- CRF5 (L) 

Absolute Return 
+8.5% 

10.4 1.9 10.2 2.0 

M&G DOF Fund 
SONIA 3 Month + 

4% 
-10.6 -18.3 1.4 -3.4 

Partners Group 
Private Debt 

Fund 

SONIA 3 Month + 
4% 

6.0 -1.7 4.4 -0.4 

LGPSC PD Low 
Return 2021 

7% IRR 17.8 10.8 10.2 4.2 

LGPSC PD 
High Return 

2021 
13% IRR 15.4 2.4 13.6 2.8 

LGPSC Real 
Assets 

Absolute Return 
+5% 

N/A N/A -2.3 -4.0 

Sub-Total 
Client Weighted 

Index 
3.8 -4.4 3.8 -1.7 

73



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 37  

Following a review of the private debt portfolio last year, we remain comfortable with the implementation 

strategies employed by the Fund and the associated level of commitments and allocations (albeit we comment 

further on CRC below). This is notwithstanding the concerns highlighted about M&G, whom we had previously 

downgraded and, consequently, where we recommended against any further allocations.  

We also note Partners Group underperformance versus benchmark, as the funds have targeted SONIA + 4-6% 

net returns p.a., which we believe is a more appropriate benchmark than an absolute return, but a more 

challenging one. We note, however, that Partners Group are one of the few in the market who have a relative 

performance target.   

With regards to emerging markets debt, we note the LGPSC Global Active EM Bond Multi-Manager fund has 

outperformed against its target over the last 12 months, but underperformed since inception. We remain 

comfortable with divesting this fund and gaining exposure to to the asset class via multi-asset credit. 

With regards to the multi-asset credit exposure, which is achieved through the LGPS Central Global Active Multi-

Asset Credit fund, we note continued underperformance relative to the benchmark and target. Both underlying 

managers under-performed. However, there is a misalignment between the fund’s floating rate benchmark and 

the largely fixed income markets in which it invests, so it is hard to draw meaningful conclusions about 

performance over the short-term. We note the fund has performed, based on LGPS Central’s analysis, in line 

with the asset markets in which it invests. 

Activity Over 2023 

Commitments were approved to the LGPS Central Private Debt (Low Return) sub-fund (£100m) and Private Debt 

(Real Asset) sub-fund Fund (£180m) during the year and await the next vintages to be formally launched by 

Central.   

Strategic allocation to MAC 

By way of reminder, in our 2023 review we recommended increasing the allocation to Multi-Asset Credit to 9%. 

Our analysis showed that this would improve projected risk-adjusted returns over the long-term, as well as 

reducing portfolio complexity and governance requirements.  

We recommended deferring implementation to allow for a number of factors, including of particular relevance: 

• Allowing for greater confidence in the structure, process and prospective performance of the Multi-Asset 

Credit fund to be gained; and 

• Allowing for the short-term outlook for sub-investment grade credit to improve (we had a negative short-

term outlook for the asset class at that point due to the recession expected in 2023 across most 

developed economies). 

The Fund currently remains underweight to the strategic MAC allocation by c5%. We have considered whether 

the strategic allocation to MAC is still appropriate taking into account market developments, the latest market 

outlook, and the due diligence refresh on the LGPSC MAC product. 

General strategic suitability of MAC relative to other options 

In considering whether the planned increase to the MAC allocation is suitable, we have considered whether, 

given current risk and return views, there are any other options which we feel could lead to better outcomes. We 

did so by refreshing the modelling carried out last year.  

The options we have considered for the 5% allocation earmarked for MAC are: 

1. Maintain the MAC allocation at 4%, and leave the capital in equities 

2. Increase MAC allocation to 9% (as per last year’s recommendation) 

74



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 38  

3. Leave the MAC at current allocation levels, but allocate the 5% in other assets with comparable 

risk/return profiles, for example private credit, real asset backed debt, Insurance-Linked Securities 

(“ILS”). 

The findings of our investigations were that there was no compelling case for investing the 5% allocation in any of 

the alternative asset classes (including leaving in equity), as opposed to following the current strategic allocation 

and moving into MAC.  

We found that there was possibly a marginally better risk and return profile if we instead allocated some of this 

5% to private credit or ILS, however the case was not strong enough to lead us to recommend changing course, 

particularly bearing in mind that adding a new asset class would increase portfolio complexity and governance 

requirements. 

Current outlook for MAC 

Our current market outlook for multi-asset credit at the end of September 2023 remained cautious. Speculative-

grade default rates have risen above long-term average levels but given strong corporate balance sheets and 

unexpected economic resilience in the US, defaults are only expected to rise a little further. However, high yield 

bond spreads at long-term median levels provide little additional compensation against a greater-than-expected 

rise in defaults. Loans are more exposed to rising borrowing costs and forecast defaults are expected to be 

higher in this market. As a result, loans spreads are higher. 

Due diligence refresh on LGPSC MAC product 

This work is complete, and detailed in our separate document “LGPS Central Product Assurance Review – Multi 

Asset Credit sub-fund” dated November 2023. In summary: 

We still think the LGPSC MAC product is a suitable investment. 

Whilst we are comfortable with the processes followed by LGPS Central to select appropriate asset managers, to 

provide ongoing monitoring and to appropriately structure fund products, and have not identified any points that 

would prevent us from recommending the Fund make an allocation to the LGPS Central MAC sub-fund, we do 

have some concerns as set out below: 

• Ongoing governance at the firm given, high level of turnover within the executive committee, exemplified 

by the recent departure of CEO, and with an interim CEO currently in place. We understand a permanent 

CEO is due to be appointed shortly and would recommend the stability of the leadership team be closely 

monitored for further change. 

• Low tenure of some members of the executive committee. 

• Ongoing risk of staff turnover within the investment teams given LGPS Central must compete with the 

remuneration policies of traditional investment managers (although we note that turnover dropped over 

2023). 

We recommend that the Fund should proceed with the +5% increase in the allocation to MAC agreed at 

the last strategy review. We also recommend the increase be implemented by additional commitments to 

the LGPSC MAC fund, funded from listed equities/targeted return and by divestment from LGPSC’s 

standalone Emerging Market Debt fund. 

In terms of timing, we recommend that the increase of MAC to strategic allocation takes place over 2024, 

split equally across four phases and therefore completed by December 2024. However we recommend 

this is subject to tactical views at the point of implementation of each phase, as well as increased 

confidence in the LGPS Central product.  

75



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 39  

Work was undertaken as part of the previous MAC review and recent due diligence refresh to ensure the 

agreed changes were supportive of the Fund’s Net Zero strategy. 

Distressed debt 

We have considered the case for whether distressed debt should still form part of the portfolio. 

There is a current view from some managers that stress is building up in the system, which should lead to more 

opportunity for things like rescue financing and capital solutions. Some companies with debt issued at high 

leverage will be finding debt service difficult in a much higher interest rate environment. Distress would therefore 

be expected to come further down the line as a result. 

However, in our view, distressed debt should be considered more of a shorter-term holding, with relatively short 

windows to find compelling opportunities. This perhaps makes it less suitable for a stand-alone, long-term 

strategic allocation, as the need to constantly monitor conditions would lead to a higher governance burden. 

An opportunistic allocation to distressed debt does have a place in the portfolio more generally. A wider mandate 

of opportunistic debt which encompasses the potential to allocate to distressed debt would take the pressure off 

the Fund to time the market correcty. This is in the remit of the LGPSC Private Debt High Return Sleeve in which 

the Fund already invests, although we are aware that distressed debt was excluded from the original mandate.  

We therefore recommend that the current allocation is allowed to wind down. However we recommend 

that distressed debt is kept on the radar in case future opportunities arise.  

We recommend that the Fund explores with LGPS Central whether allocations to distressed debt could 

be built into its Private Debt (High Return) programme, which would reduce the need for the Fund to time 

its allocation to this class. 

If distressed debt allocations were to be investigated further, consideration would be given as to whether 

any changes were supportive of the Fund’s Net Zero strategy. 

We note that the Fund could consider allocating to a third party opportunisitic credit manager with the ability to 

allocate to distressed debt when opportunities arise. This would reduce the need for the Fund to time its 

allocation to this class. However in the first instance we recommend exploring with LGPS Central as set out 

above. 

CRC 

The Fund has invested in the previous CRF3 and CRF5 vintages of this strategy. 

Both are due to return capital in 2024, and so the Fund needs to consider whether to maintain an allocation to the 

strategy. This would be by way of a commitment to the CRF6 strategy, or an alternative manager. 

We performed due diligence on the CRF5 strategy, but we have not formally carried out due diligence on the 

CRF6 strategy as yet. Should the Fund decide to invest in CRF6, we would be able to refresh our due diligence 

on the new iteration. 

It is likely that refreshed due diligence would find CRC still suitable for investment. However, we are aware that 

there are now potentially attractive alternatives and we recommend that those are considered prior to making a 

further commitment.  

We therefore recommend that a review be undertaken in 2024 to compare the CRC proposition with the 

alternatives we have identified. Should a new manager be identified which would be preferable to CRC, 

we would recommend that all of the allocation required for investment in RegCap in 2024 (amount to be 

confirmed but expected to be c£40m) be allocated to this new manager. We note that this would create 

additional governance challenges, and we would factor that in when making a final recommendation. As 

76



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 40  

part of this review consideration will be given as to whether any proposed changes are supportive of the 

Fund’s Net Zero strategy. 

  

77



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 41  

11 Protection Assets 

Investment Objective 

The Fund invests in protection assets in order to reduce overall investment risk and to mitigate the impact of 

fluctuations in the value of the Fund’s liabilities, thereby protecting the funding position. Protection assets are 

considered to be low risk because there is a very high likelihood of receiving the principal and interest payments 

due. Protection assets protect the funding position because their value tends to rise alongside the liabilities when 

interest rates and government bond yields fall. However, the reverse is also true. In 2022/23, as interest rates 

rose, the value of protection assets fell sharply, but the value of the liabilities fell further, leading to an 

improvement in the funding position. 

Current Portfolio 

The Fund’s investments as at 30 June 2023 are shown in the table below: 

Asset Class Manager & Fund 
Active/ 
Passive 

Current Target 
Allocation 

Actual 
Allocation 

Above or Below 
Target 

Inflation-linked 
bonds 

Aegon Index-Linked 
Fund 

Active 3.50% 4.00% + 

Investment 
grade credit 

Aegon Global Short 
Dated Climate 

Transition Fund 
Active 0.50% 1.00% + 

LGPSC Investment 
Grade Credit Fund 

Active 3.25% 2.50% - 

Sub-Total Active 3.75% 3.40% - 

FX hedge 
Aegon Currency 

Hedge Fund 
Active 0.75% 0.90% + 

Cash Cash Fund  0.00% 0.90% + 

The Fund’s current protection portfolio comprises index-linked bonds (predominantly sovereign issuance), 

corporate bonds and cash. The corporate bond mandates are invested globally in investment grade companies.  

Performance 

The investment performance is summarised in the table below: 

Asset 
Class 

Manager & Fund Benchmark 
Performance 

12m 
(Absolute) % 

Performance 
12m  

(Relative) % 

Performance 
SI 

(Absolute) % 

Performance 
SI 

(Relative) % 
Inflation-

linked 
bonds 

Aegon (Index-Linked 
Fund) 

FTSE All 
Stocks Index 
Linked Index 

-16.5 0.5 3.6 0.3 

Investment 
grade credit 

Aegon Global Short 
Dated Climate 

Transition Fund 

SONIA 3 
Month +1.25% 
(Rolling 3-year 
period gross of 

fees) (GBP) 

0.6 -4.3 -1.2 -4.3 

LGPSC Investment 
Grade Credit Fund 

Central 
Corporate 

Bond Blended 
-3.3 0.0 -3.7 -1.4 

Sub-Total 
Client 

Weighted 
Index 

-2.2 -1.2 -3.0 -2.2 

FX hedge 
Aegon Currency 

Hedge Fund 
SONIA 3 

Month 
-2.8 -6.4   

Cash 

Abrdn Sterling 
Liquidity Fund 

(plus cash sweep on 
GBP balances held 
with the custodian 
into the JP Morgan 

SONIA 3 
Month 

2.8 -0.8 1.1 0.2 

78



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 42  

Asset 
Class 

Manager & Fund Benchmark 
Performance 

12m 
(Absolute) % 

Performance 
12m  

(Relative) % 

Performance 
SI 

(Absolute) % 

Performance 
SI 

(Relative) % 
GBP Liquidity 
LVNAV Fund) 

The Aegon Index-Linked Bond fund has outperformed its benchmark over the year to 30 June 2023 and since 

inception. 

The LGPS Central Investment Grade Credit fund has performed in line with its benchmark over the year, but has 

under-performed its benchmark since inception (March 2020). Of the two underlying managers, more detailed 

reporting provided by LGPS Central confirms that this underperformance since inception can largely be attributed 

to Fidelity (with Neuberger Berman outperforming the benchmark but modestly underperforming vs target).  

The Aegon Global Short-dated Climate Transition fund has significantly under-performed its benchmark over the 

year and since the Fund invested, which is due to the material rise in short-dated bond yields adversely affecting 

the value of the fund’s holdings relative to its cash-plus benchmark.  

The performance of the Aegon Currency Hedge fund reflects the mark-to-market position on the Fund’s currency 

hedging programme. Performance has improved over the last 12 months as sterling rose and the sterling value of 

assets denominated in foreign currencies fell. However it is important to note that the mark to market 

performance of the hedge should not be considered in isolation. Any profits (losses) are designed to offset losses 

(gains) elsewhere in the asset portfolio. Aegon are reporting an overall profit of 0.85% p.a. since inception 

(commencement of discretionary strategy on 1 January 2014) in their reporting, which is acceptable given that 

the programme aims to focus on downside protection rather than currency speculation. 

We are not aware of any material adverse developments at Aegon or LGPS Central regarding these investments.   

Activity over 2023 

Over 2023, the Fund reviewed the structure of its protection portfolio. It was agreed to: 

• Adopt a balanced exposure to ILB and IGC allocating 3.25% and 3.75% respectively.  

• Defer the reallocation of capital until the short-term outlook of IGC improves. 

• Improve the flexibility in the Aegon Index-linked bond mandate to allow investment in overseas bonds to 

enhance returns and improve downside protection at times of market stress.  

• Rationalise the Fund’s FX hedging arrangements.  

Market Background 

Interest rates and government bond yields have risen sharply since the start of 2022 as Central Banks sought to 

control rising inflation. In the UK, this trend accelerated in September 2022 after the mini-budget with its large 

unfunded fiscal package was introduced. Yields initially fell back after the majority of the mini-budget was 

reversed, but have again trended higher over 2023, particularly at longer terms, as Chart 7 demonstrates.  

79



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 43  

Chart 7: Sterling real yields, spot, during 2023 

  

Over 2023, actual inflation readings have trended downwards as seen in Chart 2 (Market Update section), 

however higher inflation is now expected to persist for longer than previously thought. This leads to an 

expectation that interest rates will stay ‘higher for longer’. Therefore, although UK gilt yields fell at shorter terms, 

longer-term yields rose.   

While there is a current expectation for interest rates to remain elevated in the backdrop of weak real growth 

outlook and sticky inflation, the outlook for investment in gilts has improved. This applies both from a tactical 

perspective (as outlined in our market update, in our view it is unlikely that interest rates will remain as high for as 

long as suggested by markets), but also from a strategic (longer-term) viewpoint i.e. the long-term yields which 

an investor can ‘lock into’ through investment in gilts is now looking more appealing.  

The chart alongside considers the price movement 

long-dated index-linked gilts. This highlights just 

how sharply the price of these investments has 

fallen; following 18 years of almost continual price 

rises to the end of 2021 the price of such gilts has 

almost halved.  

As a result, protection assets now represent 

better value than they have for many years. The 

Fund is therefore in a position to lock in some 

of the funding position gains seen recently by 

increasing the protection assets allocation, so 

should interest rate expectations fall and 

liabilities rise again, the protection assets will 

provide greater protection of the improved 

funding position.   

Should the Fund consider increasing its allocation to protection assets? 

In the 2023 SAA paper, we outlined a number of considerations when deciding whether to increase the allocation 

to protection assets and concluded that the question merited further analysis once long-term real yields rose 

above +0.5%. These levels have been breached and, therefore, we have undertaken further analysis on this 

question below. 

80



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 44  

The current protection assets make up 7.5% (£431.9m) of the overall portfolio. We have modelled strategies with 

increasing levels of protection assets (with increased allocations split 50:50 between ILB and IGC) starting from 

the 2023 SAA target allocations. We increased protection assets by 5%, 10%, 15% and 20% of the total 

allocation, reducing the allocation to all other asset classes pro-rata and assessed the impact of this on the 

expected return and funding level as at 30 September 2023. 

Strategy Target allocation to IGC Target Allocation to ILB Other assets 
Target Allocation to 

protection assets, £m 

2023 Strategy 2.75% 4.50% 92.75% 416.9 

Protection 1 5.25% 7.00% 87.75% 704.4 

Protection 2 7.75% 9.50% 82.75% 991.9 

Protection 3 10.25% 12.00% 77.75% 1,279.4 

Protection 4 12.75% 14.50% 72.75% 1,566.9 

Note on modelling approach: We have not undertaken full Asset Liability Modelling (“ALM”) of the Fund in the 

new market environment as this was not within the scope of the current review. We have considered the impact 

of the increase in interest rates and government bond yields, on the distribution of returns from the Fund’s 

portfolio and assessed the impact on the current funding position, considering past service liabilities only. The 

results of this limited analysis should therefore be viewed as indicative. Appendix 2 contains further detail on the 

modelling approach. 

We reviewed the results through three lenses (with a fourth contained in Appendix 3): 

1 The probability of achieving the portfolio return of 4.3% p.a. needed to be fully funded based on 20-year 

expected returns analysis 

2 The distribution of return outcomes for the portfolio over the next 20 years, at the 75% and 95% 

likelihood levels  

3 The expected return over a shorter horizon, of 5 years, again at the 75% and 95% likelihood levels 

These metrics are different to the ones which we have previously used to assess the risk and return 

characteristics of different strategies; namely Likelihood of Success (ie the likelihood of being fully funded in 20 

years’ time) and Downside Risk (i.e. the average funding level in the worse 5% of outcomes over 5 years), as 

these can only be generated by full ALM. However the modelling output is still meaningful in terms of assessing 

the risk and return characteristics of different strategies over relevant time periods.  

1 The probability of achieving a return of 4.3% p.a. over the next 20 years 

As at the 2022 valuation date, our modelling indicated that the annualised return over 20 years required to be 

100% funded at that date was 4.1% p.a. Due to actual returns since March 2022 being lower than this, the return 

required to be fully funded as at September 2023 has increased to 4.3% p.a., assuming the same member 

profile. 

The table below shows the likelihood of achieving the return required to be fully funded over 20 years (4.3%). 

Increasing the allocation to protection assets improves the likelihood of achieving the required return, 

albeit marginally.  

Strategy 
Likelihood of achieving the required 

annualised asset return in 20yr 

2023 Strategy 93.6% 

Protection 1 93.8% 

Protection 2 94.0% 

Protection 3 94.2% 

Protection 4 94.4% 

81



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 45  

As mentioned earlier, the chance of achieving a return of the order 4.3% p.a. has increased materially since 

March 2022, largely owing to the significant increase in “risk free rates” over the period. Increasing the protection 

assets further increases the chance of achieving this return, as it reduces the likelihood of the worst outcomes 

materialising. 

2 The distribution of expected return outcomes for the portfolio over the next 20 years 

The graph below shows the expected asset returns with 75% and 95% likelihood for each strategy, over a 20-

year period. A 75% likelihood aligns with the Fund’s preferred probability to target for funding purposes. The 95% 

likelihood asset returns shows how far below a ‘prudent’ estimate the 20-year asset return could be, should a ‘1-

in-20’ bad case scenario occur (5% tail risk). We also show the funding levels associated with each of these 

asset returns. 

Each of the graph’s labels show the estimated funding level that could be achieved based on 30 September 2023 

data (top number) if the annualised asset return over 20 years is achieved (bottom number). 

Chart 8: Annualised expected asset return spreads over 20 years 

 

The graph shows that as the allocation to protection assets increases, the downside (95% likelihood) asset return 

and funding level increase i.e. downside risk is reduced, albeit marginally. At the same time, the expected return 

(75% likelihood) and hence funding level reduces, although the Fund remains well above the 100% funding level. 

It could be argued that there is room to reduce expected returns (at least in relation to past service liabilities) with 

the highest modelled allocation to protection assets still leaving the Fund 143% funded at the 75% likelihood 

level.  

3 The expected return over a shorter horizon, of 5 years, at the 75% and 95% likelihood levels 

As seen above, the benefits of increasing protection assets is less pronounced over a 20-year period, which is 

expected as markets are expected to recover from any adverse shocks over the longer-term. It is over shorter 

time periods where the benefits of increasing protection assets are most easily seen. 

The chart below shows the expected return over 5 years with a 75% likelihood and a 95% likelihood (5% tail risk). 

It shows that at the 75% likelihood, the annualised returns are similar across all strategies over a 5-year period. 

At the 5% tail, the expected return increases materially as the allocation to protection assets increases.  

Chart 9: Annualised expected asset return spreads over 5 years 

82



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 46  

 

Therefore, when projected over a 5-year period, increasing protection assets improves downside (tail 

risk) outcomes and hence reduces risk, without harming expected returns potential at the 75% likelihood 

level.  

To put this in context, based on current assets of £5.8bn this could result in the asset value being c£330m higher 

over a 5-year period, should a 1-in-20 downside scenario play out over the next 5 years.  

Note we haven’t considered liability movements in this section (and hence impact on funding level) under such 

scenarios as this was out of scope. We have run some more approximate modelling which provides an indication 

as to the impact on movements relative to gilt-based liabilities and this can be found in Appendix 3. 

Conclusions 

We have assessed the impact of increasing the exposure to protection assets for the Fund. The main 

conclusions were as follows: 

• Over a 20-year period, increasing the allocation to protection assets modestly increases the likelihood of 

achieving the required return to be fully funded, but reduces the expected return at the 75% likelihood 

expected returns and hence the funding level when calculated using current methodology (albeit still 

remaining materially in surplus);  

• Over shorter time periods e.g. 5 years or less, increasing the protection assets allocation leads to a more 

material reduction in downside risk with little impact on expected returns (at the 75% likelihood). This 

improvement in tail risk protection may be increasingly useful in volatile markets and to help protect the 

Fund’s improved funding position. 

• These results would be supportive of a moderate increase in protection assets, although they are not clear 

cut, so we would not recommend implementing such a change without fully considering the impact on both 

assets and liabilities (the modelling here is approximate and only considers asset outcomes). 

• The ALM work due to be undertaken next year to support the 2025 valuation would confirm whether or not 

this change can be justified, however the results of this will not be available until around September 2024. 

In the meantime market movements could impact on whether the opportunity to increase protection assets 

remains attractive.   

Given these findings, we recommend that the Fund looks to take earlier advantage of the opportunity 

offered by current high yields and the materially improved funding level.  

83



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 47  

We recommend that the possibility of an increase in the allocation to protection assets be validated by 

updating the full ALM analysis of the Fund’s portfolio in Q1 2024. This will confirm whether or not this 

change can be justified. This analysis would also address our concern that as a result of this change the Fund 

may no longer have suffieicnt growth assets to meet current and future liabilities.  

As part of this review consideration will be given as to whether any proposed changes are supportive of 

the Fund’s Net Zero strategy. 

Reallocation of capital between ILB and IGC 

As noted earlier, it was previously agreed to defer this reallocation of capital until the short-term outlook for IGC 

had improved relative to ILB. Our Q4 capital markets outlook has not been finalised at the time of drafting this 

paper, however at this stage we do not expect a material improvement in outlook for IGC. We also note further 

the above recommendation to explore an increased allocation to protection assets generally, to be carried out in 

the near future. 

We therefore recommend that the reallocation of capital between ILB and IGC is deferred slightly longer, 

and reconsidered alongside the exploration into a potential increased allocation to protection assets. 

This exploration would include consideration of how to implement the increase the protection assets allocation, 

should an increase be deemed suitable. This includes consideration of any new protection assets components, 

for example buy and maintain credit or any alternative protection assets as covered in the next section.  

Alternative protection assets 

Whilst the current Protection Assets (ILB and IGC) do reduce funding level volatility, the mark to market value of 

these assets can fluctuate materially. This has been brought into light over the last 18 months where rising 

interest rates have led to material falls in the value of both ILB and IGC assets. Looking at the asset values in 

isolation, these assets would therefore appear to have performed poorly recently. 

Given the increased focus on protection assets, and the potential to increase the allocation to them, it is 

appropriate to consider whether other types of protection asset could be introduced to improve the resilience of 

the portfolio particularly with respect to tail risks. 

The ideal protection asset would reduce volatility (ie the normal fluctuations in asset values or funding level from 

year to year) and tail risk (ie the fall in asset values or funding level in extreme downside scenarios), whilst 

protecting against a range of specific risk factors (eg high inflation or credit default). Unfortunately, no such asset 

exists; most protection assets offer good protection against some of these risks), with at best limited or indirect 

protection against the rest. Finding the right protection asset therefore depends on your priorities i.e. what are 

you looking to protect against the most. 

The tables below consider the pros and cons of different types of Protection Assets, grouped into: 

• Traditional: i.e. the classes which the Fund already makes use of 

• Alternative: other classes of protection asset which the Fund doesn’t currently make use of, but which 

could further diversify risk 

• Other options: asset classes which we wouldn’t necessarily classify as protection assets, but whose 

characteristics may lead us to consider them as offering some form of protection against tail risks. 

We consider below the protection provided by a range of asset classes, as well as some of the other 

considerations such as ease of implementation.  

84



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 48  

Traditional Protection Assets 

 Index-linked Gilts 

What protection is provided? 

Reduces funding level volatility. Protects against unexpected UK 

inflation, ie higher inflation than expected at the time of purchase, which 

can be very helpful given that LGPS inflation exposure is uncapped. 

Very low risk of default. May diversify equity risk. 

What additional risks does the 
solution introduce? 

Lower asset volatility than other asset classes, but potential for 

heightened volatility in deflationary environments or when rates are 

rising fast. Technical headwinds from investor concentration. 

When and how does the 
protection work, and is it robust? 

Value moves (up or down) in line with the liabilities, as interest rates/rate 

expectations change. Diversification fails when equity and bond markets 

are correlated  

What are the expected returns / 
costs? 

Low yields relative to other classes. Low ongoing management fees. 

What are the governance 
implications? 

Simple / existing asset class so very little governance impact. Very easy 

to implement. 

 

 Investment Grade Corporates 

What protection is provided? 
Partially reduces funding level volatility. Low risk of default. May diversify 

equity risk.  

What additional risks does the 

solution introduce? 

Lower asset volatility than other asset classes, but potential for 

heightened volatility in deflationary environments or when rates are 

rising fast. Credit risk (relative to gilts, although default rates have been 

historically low even in periods of market stress). Value eroded by high 

inflation. Increased liquidity risk (relative to gilts). 

When and how does the 

protection work, and is it robust? 

Value moves (up or down) in line with the liabilities, as interest rates/rate 

expectations change (note: corporate bonds typically shorter duration 

that gilts, so their sensitivity to interest rates is weaker). Diversification 

fails when equity and bond markets are correlated  

What are the expected returns / 

costs? 

Usually lower yields than other asset classes, but higher than gilts. Low 

ongoing management fees.  

What are the governance 

implications? 

Simple / existing asset class so very little governance impact. Very easy 

to implement.  

 

85



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 49  

 Cash 

What protection is provided? Lowers portfolio asset volatility. Reduces liquidity risk.  

What additional risks does the 

solution introduce? 

Increases funding level risk. Financial counterparty risk (albeit can 

largely be diversified). Vulnerable to high inflation albeit partly protected 

when interest rates rise (as typically held in floating rate instruments). 

When and how does the 

protection work, and is it robust? 

Asset volatility is practically zero.  

What are the expected returns / 

costs? 

Returns close to current base rates. Very low ongoing management 

fees.  

What are the governance 

implications? 

Simple / existing asset class so very little governance impact. Very easy 

to implement. 

 

  

86



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 50  

Alternative Protection Assets 

 Gold 

Description Gold held directly, or more usually via ETFs or futures. 

What protection is provided? 

Protects asset value against tail risks (eg failure of capital markets). 

Moderate protection against inflation; price of gold has risen faster than 

inflation over the long-term (see charts 1 and 2 below). 

Partly protects against funding level volatility as price typically 

negatively correlated with real yields (see chart 3 below). 

May diversify equity risk; correlation with equities has been low over 

time and gold has tended to perform well in equity down-markets (see 

charts 4 and 5).  

Holding physical gold protects against liquidity risk. 

What additional risks does the 

solution introduce? 

Significant volatility; spot price volatility over the last 35 years has been 

15%, similar to that if the MSCI ACWI. Gold is denominated in USD, so 

basis risk vs liabilities.  

When and how does the protection 

work, and is it robust? 

Generally considered to be a “store of value” due to limited physical 

supply, underpinned by a range of industrial applications. Traditionally 

viewed as “safe haven” asset at times of economic/market crisis. 

Diversification benefit may fail when gold and equity markets are 

correlated. . 

What are the expected returns / 

costs? 

No yield so opportunity cost typically rises when interest 

rates/government bond yields rise. Cost of carry: when investing via 

futures the roll yield is typically negative (see chart 5), averaging -

0.35% over the long-term. The roll yield for a commodity is the 

difference between the spot price return and total return. It is 

influenced by the net demand from producers and consumers seeking 

to hedge price risk, the cost of financing and storing the physical 

commodity and the supply/demand balance.  

What are the governance 

implications? 

Simple asset class. Could be implemented relatively easily e.g. through 

futures or physical gold ETFs, or maybe even direct holdings (though 

this is less common). 

87



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 51  

Inflation protection? 

Chart 10 below looks at the performance of gold during periods of low, moderate and high inflation, in both real 

and nominal terms. It would be easy to deduce that gold can offer a positive real return in all inflationary 

environments, and in particular rallies in high inflationary environments. But the chart does not give the full 

picture: 

Chart 10: Gold nominal and real returns as a function of annual inflation 1971-20224 

 

Chart 11 below shows the path of the gold spot price since 1969 in real terms (with rolling 12 month inflation also 

shaded for reference). Over the whole period, gold has strongly outperformed US inflation returning on average 

7.3% vs 4.0% p.a.5 However over some intervening periods it has clearly struggled and spot prices have 

generally been very volatile (20.1% p.a.). 

For example, it shows that gold prices rose even faster than inflation in the 1970s, but point 1 highlights a very 

sharp fall in the real value of gold of c61% between the start of 1980 and mid-1982. This comes over a period 

where inflation was falling from the highs seen around 1979 to early 1980, but was still high relative to historic 

averages. 

The gold spot price then also declined in real terms during a subsequent period when inflation was more calm, 

indicated on the chart at point 2 by a c64% fall in value in real terms between the end of 1987 and mid-2001.  

Point 3 also highlights a c44% fall in value in real terms between the mid-2011 and the end of 2015, again 

another period where inflation was running below historic averages. Most of this fall was seen during the period 

mid-2011 to mid-2013; a 2-year period where the real value of gold fell by c35%.  

 
4 Source: World Gold Council 
5 Source: Datastream, Hymans 

88



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 52  

Chart 11: Gold real spot price vs annual inflation, 1971-20226 

One reason for this may be that, over the longer-term, spot prices are driven not only by inflation expectations but 

also by opportunity cost. Chart 12 below considers the relationship between the gold spot price and inverted real 

yields. Here we see that these were highly correlated over periods when the market was less worried about 

inflation (for example between 2007 and 2022), but can diverge when the market is more worried about inflation 

(e.g. since the start of 2022). 

Chart 12: Gold spot price vs US 10-year real yield, 1997-20237 

We therefore conclude that gold can be a good hedge when inflation is a problem, but opportunity cost 

can lead to it struggling when inflation isn’t a problem.  

Diversification and tail risk protection? 

Gold has often been considered a ‘safe haven’ investment. However, we should consider how good a tail risk 

hedge gold is; for example does it always offer protection against sharp market selloffs.  

 
6 Source: Datastream, Hymans 
7 Source: Datastream, Hymans 

89



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 53  

Our own analysis indicates that the long-run correlation between gold futures and global equities (MSCI ACWI) is 

close to zero. Chart 13 below demonstrates that gold has historically become more negatively correlated with 

stocks in extreme market selloffs. It also suggests that it does this better than government bonds do, with US 

Treasuries becoming more correlated with stocks in those scenarios. 

Chart 13: Correlation of gold and US treasuries vs US stocks in different market environments8 

Chart 14 below looks at how gold performs in particularly large equity drawdowns / recoveries. This also 

demonstrates that gold has performed well under the largest market tail risk events in recent times, with positive 

or only marginally negative performance during the drawdown and some participation in the subsequent 

rebounds. 

 
8 Source: World Gold Council 

90



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 54  

Chart 14: Correlation of gold and US treasuries vs US stocks in different market environments9 

Chart 15 and Table 16 below compare how gold has performed during months where the MSCI has fallen by 

more than 5%. This covers a number of well known periods of market crisis e.g. GFC, Covid, dot-com bubble, 

Asian crisis. 

Chart 15: performance of MSCI and gold in months where MSCI has fallen by at least 5%10 

 

Table 16: closer look at the 39 months since 1988 where MSCI has fallen by at least 5% 

During months where MSCI has fallen by at least 5%, the proportion of those months when 

gold has: 

Outperformed MSCI 95% 

Not fallen by more than 50% of MSCI 85% 

Performed positively 59% 

 
9 Source: Bloomberg 
10 Source: Datastream, Hymans 

91



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 55  

We can see that, over this 35 year period, gold almost always performs better than MSCI during months of sharp 

downturn. In fact, not only does it outperform, it does so meaningfully e.g. high proportion where gold performs 

better than 50% of the MSCI fall, and over half where it actually performs positively. This is strong evidence that 

gold performs well during months where MSCI falls sharply.  

We therefore conclude that gold has historically protected relatively well against a number of market 

crises. 

Institutional investors typically gain exposure to commodities such as gold through indices that invest in 

near-term futures contracts. Maintaining exposure to commodities in this way tends to generate a ‘roll cost’ or ‘roll 

yield’, meaning the return from commodity futures may not exactly mirror changes in underlying spot prices. The 

roll yield for a commodity is the difference between the spot price return and total return. It is influenced by the 

net demand from producers and consumers seeking to hedge price risk, the cost of financing and storing the 

physical commodity and the supply/demand balance. The roll yield for gold is typically negative (see chart 17), 

averaging -0.35% p.a. over the long-term. This would indicate that the cost of carry has not historically been that 

large, albeit this changes over time and it can be seen from the chart that the difference has been greater in more 

recent years (e.g. since the start of 2008 the average roll yield has been -0.86% p.a.). 

Chart 17: Gold futures spot vs total return11 

 

We conclude that maintaining exposure to gold comes at a cost but not one sufficient to offset the 

benefits of the protection it provides against inflation and tail risks.  

 
11 Source: Datastream, Hymans 

-200%

0%

200%

400%

600%

800%

1000%

1200%

Ja
n

-7
8

M
ar

-7
9

M
ay

-8
0

Ju
l-

8
1

Se
p

-8
2

N
o

v-
8

3

Ja
n

-8
5

M
ar

-8
6

M
ay

-8
7

Ju
l-

8
8

Se
p

-8
9

N
o

v-
9

0

Ja
n

-9
2

M
ar

-9
3

M
ay

-9
4

Ju
l-

9
5

Se
p

-9
6

N
o

v-
9

7

Ja
n

-9
9

M
ar

-0
0

M
ay

-0
1

Ju
l-

0
2

Se
p

-0
3

N
o

v-
0

4

Ja
n

-0
6

M
ar

-0
7

M
ay

-0
8

Ju
l-

0
9

Se
p

-1
0

N
o

v-
1

1

Ja
n

-1
3

M
ar

-1
4

M
ay

-1
5

Ju
l-

1
6

Se
p

-1
7

N
o

v-
1

8

Ja
n

-2
0

M
ar

-2
1

M
ay

-2
2

Ju
l-

2
3

Gold futures, cumulative spot vs total return

Gold futures, cum. total return, % Gold futures, cum. spot return, %

92



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 56  

 Equity protection / options 

Description 

Derivative-based strategy intended to pay out when equity markets fall 

by pre-determined amounts over a specified period of time. Can be 

paid for either by way of a premium (i.e. much like traditional 

insurance), or by sacrificing upside potential. 

What protection is provided? 

Protects the value, and reduces mark to market volatility of the equity 

portfolio. Partially protects against tail risk, assuming financial markets 

continue to function. 

What additional risks does the 

solution introduce? 

Introduces roll risk – protection is for a fixed period of time, so the risk 

is that you need to roll at a time when protection is more expensive. 

Counterparty risk, though usually mitigated by clearing the derivatives 

through an exchange. 

When and how does the protection 

work, and is it robust? 

Works when equities fall materially over the term of the contract, 

providing direct protection. For example, imagine a derivatives strategy 

was designed to pay out when equities (of the same type already held) 

fell up to 30% over a specified period (say one year), ignoring how this 

is paid for here for simplicity: 

• If equities fell during the period by any amount up to 30%, then 

the strategy would provide a positive return equal to the negative 

return seen on the equities, leaving you with a flat return overall 

• If equities fell by more than 30% (say 40%) over the period, then 

the strategy would provide a positive return equal to a 30% loss, 

leaving you with a 10% overall fall relative to the 40% equity 

market fall 

• If equities rose over the period, the derivatives strategy would be 

worthless, and you would just receive the return on the equities 

held. 

The protection is robust in this respect, around the point of maturity. 

Works less well (from a mark to market perspective) when far from 

maturity. 

Equity protection can make sense under specific shorter-term 

situations, for example if a big equity market fall is expected soon, if 

you wish to protect the asset value in the run-up to a valuation point or 

a major employer exit, or you wish to protect the value ahead of private 

markets drawdowns. 

Over the longer-term, equity protection is less effective than simply 

reducing the allocation to equities.  

93



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 57  

What are the expected returns / 

costs? 

Drag on performance when markets performing strongly. We haven’t 

carried out any detailed analysis in this area, and the precise impact 

would depend on the strategy chosen, as well as market pricing at the 

point of implementation. However recent pricing we have seen 

suggests that protection against falls in the MSCI World index of 

between -10% and -25% over a 12 month period could be paid for 

either: 

• By payment of a cash premium of 2.7%, or 

• By sacrificing returns above +16%.  

Costs are lower if implemented using vanilla indices. 

What are the governance 

implications? 

New, more complex asset class.  

Easy to implement, although needs considering on a regular basis, and 

especially towards maturity. Collateral management requirements. 

 

94



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 58  

Other options 

 Asset-Backed Securities 

Description 

Investment grade securities (usually bonds) backed by a pool of 

underlying, cashflow generating debt. Underlying debt often takes the 

form of residential mortgages or consumer loans, but a wide variety of 

other assets can be financed. Securities typically pay a floating rate 

coupon. 

What protection is provided? 

Lower mark to market volatility than say equities, so protects portfolio 

value to a degree.  

Floating rate exposure indirectly protects against rising inflation (i.e. 

higher inflation is expected to lead to higher interest rates, and this 

feeds directly into floating rate exposures). 

May diversify equity risk.  

Doesn’t directly protect the funding level as no interest rate duration. 

Not expected to hold / rise in a market downturn; just might not fall as 

much as e.g. equities. 

What additional risks does the 

solution introduce? 

Introduces credit risk (similar level to investment grade corporate 

bonds), complexity risk (greater dependence on manager skill) and 

liquidity risk (especially at times of market stress). 

When and how does the protection 

work, and is it robust? 

Securities are backed by a diversified pool of collateral, and are 

typically over-collateralised. Securities are typically tranched, with the 

senior (investment grade) tranches being protected by the 

subordinated tranches which absorb losses first.  

Lower liquidity means that prices can fall rapidly at times of market 

stress, so the asset class offers little protection against tail risks. 

What are the expected returns / 

costs? 

Higher yields expected than investment grade corporate bonds (see 

chart 7 below). Higher ongoing management fees than corporate 

bonds. 

What are the governance 

implications? 

Could be implemented as new standalone allocation, although this 

would increase governance requirements particularly as ABS is a 

relatively complex asset class. Alternatively the remit of the existing 

LGPS Central corporate bond mandate which currently has no ABS 

exposure could be extended, which would allow relative value 

opportunities to be exploited, and minimise the governance impact on 

the Fund.  

Chart 18 below compares yield spreads for a typical ABS (A-rated, £, residential mortgage backed securities) 

with similarly rated corporate bonds. The chart demonstrates a high degree of correlation between the two asset 

classes, suggesting limited diversication potential overall, although relative value opportunities do arise. The 

chart shows that ABS provide a return premium over corporate bonds which compensates investors for the 

additional complexity and liquidity risk. The chart also shows how ABS prices can fall more rapidly at times of 

market stress. 

95



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 59  

Chart 18: RMBS yield spreads vs corporate bonds, A-rated12 

 

  

 Real estate / infrastructure senior debt 

Description 

Investment grade loans to asset financing vehicles or operating 

companies that own underlying real estate / infrastructure related 

assets. Loans may be floating rate, fixed rate or inflation-linked. 

What protection is provided? 

Lower mark to market volatility than say equities, so protects portfolio 

value to a degree. May reduce funding level volatility (if fixed rate). Low 

risk of default. May protect against rising inflation (directly if inflation-

linked, indirectly if floating rate).May diversify equity risk.  

What additional risks does the 

solution introduce? 

Introduces credit risk (albeit along similar lines to IGC). Liquidity risk. 

When and how does the protection 

work, and is it robust? 

Typically senior debt and secured against the underlying assets, 

leading to higher expected capital recovery in the event of default. 

What are the expected returns / 

costs? 

Debt typically pays a premium to investment grade corporate bonds: 

spread over swaps typically 200bps for the former vs 130bps for the 

latter. Higher ongoing management fees. 

What are the governance 

implications? 

Fund already has exposure to sub-investment grade debt via the LGPS 

Central Private Debt Real Asset sleeve, so limited additional 

governance burden. Fund could get exposure to investment grade 

loans through the Stable Return sleeve of the same programme. 

 

  

 
12 Source: Datastream, Hymans 

96



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 60  

Targeted Return  

The Fund invests in two funds which we currently classify as Targeted Return, managed by Ruffer and Fulcrum. 

These were covered in more detail in an earlier section. Here, we consider the case for whether such 

investments could feasibly be considered as protection assets. We believe protection assets should: 

• Demonstrate strong protection in market downturns; 

• Typically invest in less volatile assets or exhibit structurally low ‘beta’ relative to the relevant asset market 

(i.e. their exposure to market direction is not dependent solely on manager skill); and, 

• Use limited leverage. 

Alongside this, we have also considered whether the characteristics of a related strategy, Absolute Return 

Bond (ARB) funds, mean they could also conceivably be considered as an alternative protection asset.  

We have carried out some analysis looking at the Fulcrum and Ruffer funds, plus our own universe of ARB funds, 

against the ICE BofA Sterling Corporate Bond Index. This is set out in the table below.  

Data for Ruffer goes back to 2006, and for Fulcrum goes back to 2008. Our returns / volatility analysis is 

therefore from each funds’ respective inceptions.  

It should also be noted that the ARB universe changes over time given the track length of each respective fund, 

for example only 7 funds have a track record going back to 2000, and 7 funds back to 2008. However this is still 

useful when trying to make an assessment over a longer-time horizon. 

Jan 2000 - Sep 

2023 
MSCI World 

Sterling Corp 

Total Return 
Ruffer Fulcrum 

ARB Universe 

(Hymans) 

Return (% p.a.) 10.4% 4.5% 6.8% 4.1% 4.6% 

Volatility 13.2% 6.9% 6.7% 5.1% 3.8% 

Worst absolute 
month 

-10.6%  
(Mar 2020) 

-9.6%  
(Sep 2022) 

-7.3%  
(Feb 2009) 

-4.1%  
(Oct 2018) 

-5.4%  
(Mar 2020) 

GFC drawdown 
(Jan 2008-) 

-32.2%  
(Feb 2009) 

-16.4%  
(Mar 2009) 

-8.2%  
(Feb 2009) 

-6.2%  
(Mar 2009) 

-10.7%  
(Nov 2008) 

COVID drawdown 
(Jan 2020-) 

-15.7%  
(Mar 2020) 

-5.1%  
(Mar 2020) 

-2.8%  
(Feb 2020) 

-2.0%  
(Feb 2020) 

-4.9%  
(Mar 2020) 

Our observations are as follows: 

• Ruffer and Fulcrum, as well as ARBs, have seen materially lower volatility than equities, and their 

drawdown statistics demonstrate a high degree of tail risk protection. Fulcrum’s performance has been 

more slow and steady relative to Ruffer; this also comes out in the performance line chart below. 

• ARBs have generally been successful at providing a similar return to the corporate bond universe but 

with lower volatility. However the line chart below highlights how this has been affected by the direction of 

interest rate expectations i.e. the ARB universe underperformed over a period of falling interest rates, 

catching up again as interest rate expectations rose sharply since the start of 2022. 

• In terms of protection against tail risk events, we see that over GFC the ARB universe fell by less than 

the corporate bond index but still fell materially, and over the COVID drawdown ARB fell by a similar 

amount. 

• Whilst ongoing volatility for ARBs is lower than for Rufffer and Fulcrum, the drawdown statistics for the 

latter would suggest that tail risk protection is similar or better. 

97



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 61  

• We would take GFC drawdown statistics with a degree of caution, as these could reflect a degree of 

survivor bias, however the fact that this was repeated during the COVID drawdown offers some comfort. 

We therefore conclude that Ruffer, Fulcrum and ARBs all offer reduced volatility relative to markets, but the case 

for offering protection in sharper market downturns is perhaps stronger for Ruffer and Fulcrum than for ARBs. 

This could be due to these particular managers being able to time their moves in and out of risk markets well, and 

this may not always hold true in future due to the reliance on manager skill.  

Chart 19: Total return since 1999 

Ruffer and Fulcrum have shorter track records, therefore we have shown their performance lines starting from the ARB universe line for ease of comparison. 

Therefore, whilst ARB might have useful characteristics as an asset class generally, we do not 

recommend that it is explored further in terms of an alternative protection asset. 

We take a closer look at Ruffer and Fulcrum’s market directionality by comparing their beta with MSCI World 

equities in the chart below.  

Chart 20: 2-year beta with MSCI World equities since 2008 

98



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 62  

 

It can be seen that market directionality has varied materially over time for both funds, ranging from close to 0.5 

at its highest to zero (or even slightly negative) at its lowest. The success of both strategies is, however, 

dependent on the managers’ skill in managing net market exposure.  

Finally, we note on leverage the following points: 

• Ruffer does not usually use leverage. They do use derivatives to provide protection at the time of market 

dislocations, but these will have a negative correlation with some of the portfolio’s underlying holdings.   

• Fulcrum employ leverage through the use of derivatives.  

Returning to our criteria for classifying Ruffer and Fulcrum as protection assets: 

• Both funds have demonstrated protection in market downturns, albeit this is highly reliant on manager skill 

and cannot be guaranteed to be repated again in future. In this respect Fulcrum has historically seen both 

lower ongoing volatility and better protection against sharp market downturns than Ruffer. 

• Both funds have exhibited variable market ‘beta’. Whilst this hasn’t historically peaked too high for either 

fund, the fact that exposure to market direction is highly dependent on each manager’s discretion means 

this could be unreliable should sharp market downturns arise in future. Both managers typically invest a 

high proportion of assets in volatile markets such as equities, therefore given that neither fund maintains a 

structurally low beta to these markets, it is hard to argue the case for these being protection assets.  

• The use of leverage by Fulcrum would give us some concern regarding classifying them as a protection 

asset. 

The uncertain and variable nature of the protection offered therefore leads us to conclude that Targeted 

Return funds are unsuitable as protection assets.  

Summary 

There is no class of protection asset which protects against all the key risks identified above. However, we 

believe some of the asset classes identified above merit further investigation as alternative protection assets. 

Specifically, we conclude that: 

• Gold merits consideration given its linkage to inflation over the long-term and the strong protection it offers 

in adverse market conditions. It can however suffer prolonged periods of under-performance (relative to 

inflation) and returns are highly volatile; 

• Investment grade, real estate/infrastructure senior debt merits consideration because of the downside 

protection it offers and the premium it pays compared with corporate bonds; 

• Investment grade ABS are potentially interesting if exposure could be provided as part of a wider 

investment grade credit portfolio, eg via the LGPS Central Corporate Bond fund; 

• Equity protection offers robust protection over a fixed term, but we have identified no specific need for such 

protection, and the strategy is unsuitable as a long-term allocation; 

• The Fund’s existing Targeted Return strategies should not in our view be considered as protection assets 

due to the uncertain and variable nature of the protection offered;  

• Absolute Return Bond strategies which are commonly used for protection purpose do not appear to exhibit 

the required characteristics. 

99



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 63  

We recommend that the Fund undertakes further investigation of the case for gold and investment grade, 

real asset backed senior debt in 2024. As part of this review consideration will be given as to whether any 

proposed changes are supportive of the Fund’s Net Zero strategy. 

In addition, we recommend the Fund engages with LGPS Central to ensure that its Corporate Bond fund 

is fully exploiting the potential downside protection afforded by asset-backed securities. If ARB 

allocations were to be investigated further, consideration would be given as to whether any changes 

were supportive of the Fund’s Net Zero strategy. 

 

100



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 64  

12 Benchmarks 

Benchmarks serve various purposes including the calibration of risk/return expectations when setting strategic asset allocations, and setting a standard 

against which manager performance can be assessed. In this section, we focus on the latter purpose. 

Most benchmarks are based on either market indices or peer group performance. Other types of benchmark are encountered, most commonly in alternative 

asset classes, where neither indices nor peer group results are readily available. These are typically expressed as premiums over cash, inflation or an 

absolute return target – intended to describe the long-term returns expected rather than short- or medium-term patterns of performance. 

Our general view is that indices are preferable to peer groups, although the overriding consideration is that the benchmark should be suitable for the purpose 

employed. Where some compromise has to be made in benchmark selection, particular care has to be taken in the interpretation of returns. If, for example, an 

index based on listed assets is used as a benchmark for unlisted investments, the short-term performance of the benchmark is likely to be more volatile than 

that of the investments. Where a cash-based benchmark is used, it will not capture the medium-term trends in the asset class. In some cases there may be no 

single perfect benchmark, so it might also be necessary to set a secondary benchmark to give a fuller picture of performance. 

In the table below, we compare the benchmarks used by PEL for monitoring the performance of each sub-portfolio with those used by managers. In each 

case, the two benchmarks should be the same, they should be aligned with the Fund’s strategic objective for the portfolio and with the investment strategy the 

manager employs. We comment on whether or not we believe the benchmark is suitable or what should be considered by the Fund in selecting a change. 

In the table below we have indicated whether the benchmark requires a review. Green indicates a change is not required, orange indicates the Fund may wish 

to review it and red indicates that a review of the benchmark is preferred.  

We recommend the Fund undertakes a review of the benchmarks being used for some mandates, as alternatives exist which may facilitate more 

effective monitoring of manager performance. This is to be progressed by the director of corporate resources with support from Hymans as 

necessary, with the expectation that this will be phased throughout 2024 (dealing with the highest priority items first). As part of this review, 

consideration would be given as to whether any changes were supportive of the Fund’s Net Zero strategy. 

Manager & Fund PEL benchmark Manager benchmark Manager target 
Requires further 

review 
Comment 

L&G Regional Passive 
Funds 

FTSE World regional 
sub-indices, net of tax 

FTSE World regional 
sub-indices, net of tax 

 ⚫ 

The Fund is disinvesting from the regional passive funds and 
therefore, does not warrant a review 

LGPSC Global Eq Active 
Multi Mgr Fund * 

FTSE All World 
(Sterling) 

FTSE All World 
(Sterling) 

Outperform by 1.5% 
over rolling 5 year ⚫ 

Suitable benchmark, but the Fund could consider stripping out 
the unhedged currency exposure by showing returns in USD, 
and combining them with the returns of the Aegon currency 
hedging programme. 

LGPSC EMM Eq Active 
Multi Mgr Fund * 

FTSE Emerging 
Market  (Sterling) 

FTSE Emerging Market  
(Sterling) 

Outperform by 2% 
over rolling 5 year ⚫ 

Suitable benchmark, and fund earmarked for divestment. 

101



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 65  

Manager & Fund PEL benchmark Manager benchmark Manager target 
Requires further 

review 
Comment 

LGPSC AW Eq Climate 
Multi Factor Fund * 

FTSE All World 
Climate Balanced 
Comprehensive Factor 

FTSE All World Climate 
Balanced 
Comprehensive Factor 

 ⚫ 

Measure versus the FTSE AW but monitor versus the FTSE 
AW CBMF index also via LGPS Central.  

Total Listed Equity 
Client Weighted 
Index 

  ⚫ 
An allocation-weighted composite index is appropriate 

UK Private Equity Fund – 
Catapult (L) 

FTSE All World Index   ⚫ 
The allocation is too small to warrant a review. 

Oseas Private Equity 
Fund – Adams Street (L) 

FTSE All World Index 
MSCI ACWI Public 
Market Equivalent 

 ⚫ 

The benchmark should also include the minimum liquidity 
premium vs listed equities required by the Fund (eg +4%). We 
also note that private equity indices are available, for example 
those offered by S&P, which may provide another reference 
point. 

LGPSC Private Equity 
Fund 2018 

FTSE All World Index FTSE All-World Index 

4% over benchmark 
after costs for the 
combined “2018 
Vintage” fund. 

⚫ 
Same as above 

LGPSC Private Equity 
Fund 2021 

FTSE All World Index FTSE All-World Index 

4% over benchmark 
after costs for the 
combined “2021 
Vintage” fund. 

⚫ 
Same as above 

Aberdeen Standard 
Private Equity Fund 

Absolute Return +7.5% N/A 17% Net IRRs ⚫ 

Absolute return benchmarks are appropriate but they should 
reflect the minimum return required from private equity given 
the level of risk being taken (eg 12%+). Strong argument also 
for adopting a consistent approach across all private equity 
mandates. 

Total Private Equity FTSE All World Index   ⚫ 

The benchmark should also include the minimum liquidity 
premium vs listed equities required by the Fund (eg +4%). It 
may also be worthwhile using private equity indices, for 
example, S&P. 

Aspect Capital Partners 
Fund 

SONIA 3 Month + 4%   ⚫ 
Suitable benchmark, and fund earmarked for divestment. 

Pictet Fund SONIA 3 Month + 4% SONIA + 4%  ⚫ 
Suitable benchmark, and fund earmarked for divestment. 

Ruffer Fund SONIA 3 Month + 4% 
[requested from the 
manager] 

 ⚫ 
Suitable benchmark 

Fulcrum Fund N/A 
UK RPI inflation +3-5% 
p.a over a 5-year period 

 ⚫ 
Cash plus benchmark may be more appropriate for strategy, 
plus consistency with other Targeted Return Funds 

Total Targeted Return SONIA 3 Month + 4%   ⚫ 
Suitable benchmark  

102



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 66  

Manager & Fund PEL benchmark Manager benchmark Manager target 
Requires further 

review 
Comment 

JPMorgan Infrastructure 
Fund (L) 

SONIA 3 Month + 4% N/A 8-12% Net IRR ⚫ 

Benchmark not aligned with the strategic objective or the 
manager’s strategy. Suggest either CPI+5% or Absolute 8% 
for all core infrastructure strategies. Listed infrastructure 
indices could also be considered. 

IFM Global Infrastructure 
Fund 

SONIA 3 Month + 4% N/A 
Target of 10% pa, 
range between 8-12% 
pa 

⚫ 
Same as for JPMorgan Infrastructure Fund 

KKR Global 
Infrastructure Fund 

SONIA 3 Month + 4% N/A 14-16% IRR ⚫ 

Benchmark not aligned with the strategic objective or the 
manager’s strategy. Suggest Absolute 12-15% for all value-
add infrastructure strategies. 

Stafford Timberland 
Fund (L) 

SONIA 3 Month + 4% N/A 10% IRR ⚫ 

Benchmark not aligned with the strategic objective or the 
manager’s strategy. Suggest either CPI+5% or Absolute 8%. 

Infracapital Infrastructure 
Fund 

Absolute Return +7.5% N/A 15-18% IRR ⚫ 

Absolute return benchmarks are appropriate for value-add 
infrastructure but they should reflect the minimum return 
required given the level of risk being taken (eg 12-15%+). 

LGPSC Infra Core/Core+ CPI +3.5% UK CPI 
Outperform (net of 
fees) by 3.5% over 
rolling 5 years 

⚫ 

Inflation-linked benchmarks are appropriate for core 
infrastructure but the margin is tight. CPI+5% may be more 
realistic. 

Quinbrook Net Zero 
Power Fund 

13% IRR N/A 
A gross IRR in 
excess of 15% p.a. 
(net 13% p.a.) 

⚫ 
Suitable benchmark 

Quinbrook Net Zero 
Power Fund – co-inv  

13% IRR N/A 
A gross IRR in 
excess of 15% p.a. 
(net 13% p.a.) 

⚫ 
Suitable benchmark 

Total Infrastructure SONIA 3 Month + 4%   ⚫ 

Category benchmark should reflect the strategic objective of 
the asset class, eg CPI+5% or Absolute 8%. Allocations to 
higher risk strategies have been made on the basis that they 
deliver incremental returns without material additional risk. 

Colliers Pooled Property 
MSCI UK Monthly 
Property Index (GBP) 

MSCI UK API Outperform by 1% ⚫ 

A market index is fine, but the MSCI UK Quarterly Property 
index may better reflect the composition of the portfolio. 

Colliers Direct Property 
Fund 

MSCI UK Monthly 
Property Index (GBP) 

MSCI UK API Outperform by 1% ⚫ 
Same as above 

La Salle Property Fund 
MSCI UK Monthly 
Property Index (GBP) 

UK All Balanced Fund 
Index 

Outperform by 1% ⚫ 

The mandate is intended to focus on global, indirect property 
opportunities, so a global index (eg MSCI Global Quarterly 
Property index) is potentially more suitable. 

103



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 67  

Manager & Fund PEL benchmark Manager benchmark Manager target 
Requires further 

review 
Comment 

Aegon Active Value Fund 
I 

MSCI UK Monthly 
Property Index (GBP) 

AREF UK All Balanced 
Property Fund Index by 
MSCI 

8-10% IRR ⚫ 

Neither the market index nor a broad-based pooled property 
fund index likely reflect the specialist strategy employed but 
the manager, but this fund is in the process of being realised, 
so not a priority for review. 

Aegon Active Value Fund 
II 

MSCI UK Monthly 
Property Index (GBP) 

AREF UK All Balanced 
Property Fund Index by 
MSCI 

6-8% IRR ⚫ 
Same as above  

Total Property 
MSCI UK Monthly 
Property Index (GBP) 

  ⚫ 

An allocation-weighted composite index (eg 60% MSCI UK 
QPI + 40% MSCI Global QPI) would seem more appropriate. 

LGPSC Global Active 
EMM Bond Multi Mgr 
Fund * 

JPMorgan EMBI 
Global Diversified 
Index, hedged to GBP 

JPMorgan EMBI Global 
Diversified Index, 
hedged to GBP 

Outperform by 1% 
over rolling 3 years ⚫ 

Suitable benchmark, and fund earmarked for divestment. 

LGPSC Global Active 
MAC Fund 

SONIA 3 Month + 4% 3 Month SONIA 
Outperform by 4% 
over rolling 3 years  ⚫ 

A cash related benchmark would only be a reliable indicator 
over a whole credit cycle. A composite market index, though 
more complex may be a more suitable benchmark over the 
shorter-term. 

Christofferson Robb & 
Company Fund – CRF3 
(L) 

Absolute Return +7.5% N/A 9.5-10% Net IRR 

 

⚫ 

This is subordinated, floating rate credit so a cash plus 
benchmark (eg SONIA + 6-8%) may be more appropriate, but 
there is an argument for consistency with the manager’s own 
target. 

Christofferson Robb & 
Company Fund – CRF5 
(L) 

Absolute Return +8.5% N/A 9.5-10% Net IRR ⚫ 
Same as above 

M&G DOF Fund SONIA 3 Month + 4% N/A 15% Net IRR ⚫ 

The fund has a private equity risk profile, although returns 
should be relatively insensitive to market direction, so an 
absolute return benchmark (eg Absolute 15%) may be more 
suitable. 

Partners Group Private 
Debt Fund 

SONIA 3 Month + 4% N/A 
SONIA 3 Month + 4-
6% Net ⚫ 

Suitable benchmark 

LGPSC PD Low Return 
2021 

7% IRR N/A 6-8% IRR net of fees ⚫ 

A cash plus benchmark may be more appropriate, for 
example, SONIA+4% adjusted for currency  

LGPSC PD High Return 
2021 

13% IRR N/A 
12-14% IRR net of 
fees ⚫ 

A cash plus benchmark may be more appropriate, for 
example, SONIA+8-10%, adjusted for currency  

LGPSC Real Assets Absolute Return +5% N/A 
4.5-6.0% IRR net of 
all fees ⚫ 

A cash plus benchmark may be more appropriate, for 
example, SONIA+3% adjusted for currency 

Total Private Debt 
Client Weighted 
Index 

  ⚫ 

Category benchmark should reflect the strategic objective of 
the asset class, eg SONIA+4%. Allocations to higher risk 
strategies have been made on the basis that they deliver 
incremental returns without material additional risk. 

104



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 68  

Manager & Fund PEL benchmark Manager benchmark Manager target 
Requires further 

review 
Comment 

Aegon Index-Linked 
Fund 

FTSE All Stocks Index 
Linked Index 

FTSE All-stock index-
linked (total  
return) 

 ⚫ 
The benchmark is suitable 

Aegon Global Short 
Dated Climate Transition 
Fund * 

SONIA 3 Month 
+1.25% (Rolling 3 year 
period net gross of 
fees) (GBP) 

SONIA + 1.25% (rolling 
3 years, gross of fees) 

 ⚫ 
The benchmark is suitable 

LGPSC Investment 
Grade Credit Fund * 

Central Corporate 
Bond Blended 

Central Corporate Bond 
Blended - : 50% ICE 
BofAML Sterling Non-
Gilt Index (ex-emerging 
market  
issues) and 50% ICE 
BofAML Global 
Corporate Index (ex-
GBP and  
emerging market 
issues) hedged to GBP 

Outperform by 0.8% 
over rolling 3 years  ⚫ 

Suitable benchmark given the currency strategy, but will 
require review if the decision is taken to focus on global credit. 

Total Investment Grade 
Credit 

Client Weighted 
Index 

  ⚫ 
An allocation-weighted composite index is appropriate 

Aegon Currency Hedge 
Fund 

SONIA 3 Month   ⚫ 
The benchmark is suitable 

Abrdn Sterling Liquidity 
Fund 

SONIA 3 Month   ⚫ 
The benchmark is suitable 

105



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 69  

Appendix 1 – Notes on our modelling 

General 

All modelling is as at 30 September 2023.  

All modelling considers impact on past service liabilities only i.e. no modelling around impact on future service 

contribution rates has been undertaken.  

Probabilities / expected likelihoods of achieving asset returns over specified periods 

The model used makes use of the Economic Scenario Service (ESS) that supports our more comprehensive 

Asset Liability Modelling (ALM). More information on the underlying assumptions in this modelling can be 

provided upon request. However, the techniques used are more approximate in nature.  

For example, the calculations are based on the Fund’s broader asset classes rather than specific stock selection.  

The modelling only considers the spread of future asset return outcomes on liabilities. In the scenarios modelled, 

all other assumptions that may affect liabilities (such as inflation) are fixed and are in line with the actuary’s best 

estimate assumptions.   

Funding level estimates 

The output of the model above is used to determine the asset return with a 75% likelihood of being achieved over 

a 20-year period, which is consistent with the approach taken for deriving the discount rate at the last full 

valuation in 2022.  

Any funding levels quoted do not represent funding advice.  

Risk and return statistics relative to gilt-based liabilities 

The modelling above only considers the spread of asset return outcomes. This model enables us to consider how 

the liabilities may move relative to those asset returns, by considering a spread of asset returns above or below 

gilts.  

The discount rate underlying the liabilities is derived in a different way (as described above), however a number 

of the asset return assumptions underlying these projections are linked to so-called ‘risk free rates’ of return, 

which are highly correlated with gilt yield expectations. This therefore provides a reasonable (albeit approximate) 

indication of the interaction of assets and liabilities.

106



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2024 
 70  

Appendix 2 – further modelling 

The median return profile for the portfolio, relative to gilts, and the associated portfolio dispersion and 

portfolio efficiency 

The modelling above primarily focuses on changes in asset returns based on the portfolio and does not show the 

relationship relative to liabilities. The table below shows the median returns of each portfolio relative to gilts. 

Whilst the discount rate used for the libailities is not derived directly from gilt yields, there is some correlation due 

to the way the underlying expected returns are derived. This therefore provides a reasonable approximation to 

how liabilities might move. 

The below output (taken from a different model to that in the main body of the report) shows the excess returns of 

the strategies relative to gilts.  

The impact of the increased allocation to protection assets, as flagged above, occurs moreso at the tails. In 

addition, we see the impact of the lower returns, as well the lower dispersion in the portfolio, resulting in a 

marginal, at best, improvement in the portfolio efficiency over 20 years. 

Strategy Median return, 20yr 
Dispersion (volatility), 
1yr 

Value at Risk, 95th 
percentile (VaR95) £m 

2023 Strategy 3.95% 13.85% 1,325 

Protection 1 3.80% 13.28% 1,271 

Protection 2 3.65% 12.71% 1,216 

Protection 3 3.50% 12.15% 1,163 

Protection 4 3.33% 11.63% 1,113 

This tells a similar story to the asset modelling that, relative to gilts, the median returns falls as the allocation to 

protection assets increases, but the 1-year volatility also decreases. 

The final column provides some context around the pound amount protection of funding level an increased 

allocation to protection assets might provide. Comparing the extremes (2023 Strategy vs Protection 4), whilst the 

median expected outperformance over liabilities might fall by c£35m p.a., the funding level might be further 

protected by c£210m under a 1-in-20 bad year outcome. 

 

 

107



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE – 26 JANUARY 2024 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 

DRAFT RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT PLAN 2024 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek the Local Pension Committee’s approval of the 

Leicestershire Pension Fund’s Responsible Investment Plan 2024 (Appendix A) to 
enable the Fund to further improve the management of responsible investment 
risks. 

 
Background 

 
2. The term ‘responsible investment’ refers to the integration of financially material 

environmental, social and corporate governance (“ESG”) factors into investment 
processes. It has relevance both before and after the investment decision and is a 
core part of the Fund’s fiduciary duty. It is distinct from ‘ethical investment’, which is 
an approach in which the moral persuasions of an organisation take primacy over 
its investment considerations. 
 

3. The Fund’s approach to Responsible Investment (RI) matters have been 
incorporated into the Investment Statement Strategy (ISS) and all actions the Fund 
undertakes. These are considered in two key areas: 
 

• Sustainable Investment: considering the financial impact of ESG factors on its 
investments. 
 

• Stewardship and Governance: acting as responsible and active 
investors/owners through considered voting of shares and engaging with 
investee company management as part of the investment process. 

 
4. The first RI plan was approved at the January 2020 Local Pension Committee 

meeting, with updated plans being presented and approved annually since. A 
progress update of the latest 2023 plan is attached as Appendix B.  

 
Responsible Investment Plan 2024 
 

5. Officers have developed the Fund’s 2024 RI plan in conjunction with LGPS 
Central’s in-house RI team. The plan includes outputs and recommendations from 
the Fund’s latest Climate Risk Report which was supported by the Local Pension 
Committee at its meeting on 1 December 2023. 
 

109 Agenda Item 7



 

6. The plan builds on the four previous iterations and improves on the approach and 
beliefs detailed in the Fund’s ISS, Net Zero Climate Strategy (NZCS) and 
discussions held by the Committee throughout 2023. 

 
7. The draft RI plan for 2024 is attached as Appendix A. Some highlights are as 

follows: 
 

• Continuation of quarterly manager presentations to the Local Pension 
Committee that include manager views, performance and ESG factors. 

 

• As a deeper dive into stewardship with the Committee, the Fund will invite 
LGPS Central to present their revised Stewardship Themes, including key 
performance indicators (KPIs) and outcomes on previous engagements. 
 

• Continuation of the review of the Fund’s investment managers’ approaches 
to climate risk as at 31 March 2024 to understand changes since the last 
questionnaire, the data that is available, and include wider RI issues as 
relevant, such as their approaches to stewardship. This will help the Fund 
understand alignment with the Fund’s NZCS, and shape engagement and 
discussions held with managers throughout the year.    

 

• Climate Risk Management Report/Task Force on Climate Related Financial 

Disclosures reporting. To report against progress of the NZCS and additional 

metrics such as sovereign bonds. To progress additional asset class targets 

where data is available. 

 

• Details will be shared when LGPS Central have organised their Stakeholder 
day and RI Summit  

 
8. The Committee will continue to receive quarterly reports on stewardship, voting and 

engagement each quarter. Committee members are encouraged to highlight any 
areas of particular interest (for example, sector or type of engagement) if they would 
like more in-depth reporting on specific matters or themes. 
 

Engagement and Stewardship 
 

9. There are various bodies, codes and initiatives the Fund could join if it so wished. 
Historically, other than the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum, the Fund has not 
become a direct signatory to certain key initiatives relating to RI as it has been 
comfortable that, as its investment managers and LGPS Central have always been 
signatories, the Fund is adhering to the broad principles by default. However, the 
Fund will consider further collaboration vehicles as it sees fit.  
 

10. The Fund’s strategy has been to engage with its investee companies and other key 
stakeholders through its current partnerships, in order to protect and increase 
shareholder value by engaging on a range of financially material ESG investment 
factors. This engagement programme is implemented through partnerships 
including the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF), Equity Ownership 
Service (EOS) at Federated Hermes (via a contract held by LGPS Central Ltd, the 
Fund’s investment pool operator). LGIM also have a strong engagement 
programme which covers a proportion of the Fund’s passive portfolio.  

 

110



 

Local Authority Pension Fund Forum 
 

11. The Fund is a member of the LAPFF, alongside Central and the other partner 
funds. This is a collaborative shareholder engagement group with over £350billion 
in assets and accounts for most LGPS funds and pools. 

 
12. The Forum publishes quarterly stewardship progress reports, as well as key voting 

alerts many of which are in relation to supporting climate lobbying and resolutions 
related to setting carbon emission targets. The activity of LAPFF is highlighted at 
each quarterly Committee meeting.  
 

13. LAPFF held an annual responsible investment conference in December 2023 titled 
“Stewardship in a time of global crises”. The conference held various sessions 
which covered topics such as ‘escalating stewardship action’, ‘water companies and 
environmental value’, ‘how LGPS funds and pools manage climate related financial 
risk’, ‘proxy voting’, ‘ESG backlash’, ‘electric vehicle supply chains’, ‘modern day 
slavery’, ‘biodiversity’, ‘alternatives in getting to net zero’, ‘levelling up’, and ‘living 
wage’. The conference set out many positive examples of progress with 
engagements possible through collaboration, as set out in their quarterly and 
annual reporting cycles. Officers will explore opportunities for the Fund to enhance 
its own approach to issues raised and address these with LGPS Central and 
external managers on how the Fund can better hold managers to account on their 
stewardship and voting activities. Including encouraging a cohesive approach to 
engagement, how managers are engaging with fossil fuel companies, and how that 
aligns with the Fund’s approach more broadly.  
 

14. LAPFF engage with companies on behalf of LGPS funds, and while progress can 
seem slow, escalation is evidenced and supported through their collaboration with 
other asset owners and managers. Reports are produced quarterly on this progress 
and can be found on their website.  
 
Further Opportunities for Collaboration 

 
15. There is no obligation for the Fund to be a signatory of any body. However, it may 

be prudent where they are strongly aligned with the views and beliefs of the 
Committee. 
 

16. As part of the RI Plan officers can look to explore these opportunities throughout the 
year alongside LGPS Central. Where there is added value to the Fund not already 
achieved through its current approach and collaborations, this will be reported to 
Committee. 

 
17. One area of exploration will be the Financial Reporting Council’s Stewardship Code. 

Currently the code is under review, but it is proposed once completed the Fund can 
explore application once the new code is published, and subject to it providing 
benefit to the Fund and its scheme members.  

 
Recommendation 

 
18. It is recommended that the Local Pension Committee approves the Responsible 

Investment Plan 2024 attached as Appendix A to this report. 
 

19. The Committee is also asked to provide feedback on any areas of interest. 

111



 

 
 
 
Equality Implications 
 
20. None. 
 
Human Rights Implications 
 
21. None. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Draft 2024 Responsible Investment Plan 
Appendix B: Progress against 2023 Responsible Investment Plan 
 
Background Papers 

 
Local Pension Committee – Friday 18 November 2022 – Climate Risk Report 
 
Local Pension Committee – Friday 21 January 2022 – Responsible Investment Plan 2022 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Declan Keegan, Director of Corporate Resources 
Tel: 0116 305 7668  Email: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk 
  
Simone Hines, Assistant Director Finance, Strategic Property and Commissioning 
Tel: 0116 305 7066 Email: Simone.Hines@leics.gov.uk 
 
Bhulesh Kachra, Senior Finance Analyst - Investments 
Tel: 0116 305 1449 Email: Bhulesh.Kachra@leics.gov.uk 
 
Cat Tuohy, Responsible Investment Analyst 
Tel: 0116 305 5483  Email: Cat.Tuohy@leics.gov,uk  

112

https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6761
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=740&MId=6757&Ver=4
mailto:Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Simone.Hines@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Bhulesh.Kachra@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Cat.Tuohy@leics.gov,uk


Appendix A 

 

RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT PLAN 2024 
Financial 
Quarter 

Date (where 
applicable) 

Title Description 

Q4 26 January 
2024 

RI Plan Communication and publication of the Fund’s 2024 RI Plan + LGPS Central RI 
Stewardship  

 26 January 
2024 

Strategic Asset Allocation Consideration of the Fund’s Net Zero Climate Strategy within the asset allocation.  

  Local Pension Board 
Report 

Update to Local Pension Board on progress against the Fund’s net zero targets. 

  Website Refresh Updated pension website on the Fund’s RI approach.  

 8 March 2023 Manager Presentation  Adams Street - As part of Manager report to Committee overview of approach to 
Environment, Social and Governance factors (ESG).  
 
Stewardship presentation from LGPS Central on updated themes and engagement 
outcomes. 
  

 March 2033 Policy Review Incorporation of RI matters into relevant policies up for review.  

 TBC March 
2023 

LGPS Shareholder Day Agenda to be confirmed. 

    

  Manager RI Snapshot as 
31 March  

The Fund will request climate and other RI related information from all investment 
managers to understand how they are monitoring/managing climate risk, and 
availability of climate data, and approach to stewardship. This will be used to drive 
discussions on matters related to the NZCS with Investment Managers throughout 
the year.  
  

Q1 
 

 June 2024 Taskforce on Climate-
Related Financial 
Disclosures (TCFD) 
Report 

Public report of the Fund’s approach to climate risk, set out in alignment with the 
recommendations of the TCFD, NZCS, Climate Risk Management Report and 
stewardship reporting. 
 

  June 2024 Manager Presentation Manager TBC. As part of Manager report to Committee overview of approach to 
ESG. 

113



Appendix A 

 

Q2 
 
 
 

September 
20234 

Manager Presentation Manager TBC. As part of Manager report to Committee overview of approach to 
ESG. 

  Training LGPS Central to provide training session on responsible investment/climate matters 
and engagement in advance of November Climate Risk Report 

Q3 
 
 

29 November  Climate Risk Report The Fund will engage with LGPS Central and partner funds on future reporting and 
increase monitoring to sovereign bonds taking into account guidance from the 
Assessing Sovreign Climate-Related Opportunities and Risks initiative.The Fund 
will ensure it is reviewed in light of reporting on NZCS and seek to expand data 
coverage, and the possibility of expanding targets to corporate bonds and other 
available asset classes. 

 29 November  Manager Presentation. Manager TBC. As part of Manager report to Committee overview of approach to 
ESG. 

 4/5/6th 
December 

LAPFF Conference  Agenda to be shared once available.  

  Strategic Asset Allocation 
Review 

To take into account Climate risk as per NZCS and Climate Risk Management 
Report.  
 

 TBC Pension Fund AGM Presentation as part of Pension Fund Annual General Meeting progress on NZCS 
and RI matters. 

Q4 
 

January 2025 Strategic Asset Allocation 
Committee 

Consider recommendations from Climate Risk Report and Net Zero Climate 
Strategy 

  RI Plan 2025 Plan.  

 

Ongoing Activities throughout the year 

• LGPS Central will be hosting their Annual RI Day with topics of interest to members, this date will be circulated to Committee once 

confirmed.  

• Quarterly reports to the Local Pension Committee on voting, engagement, and stewardship activities of LGPS Central, LGIM and the 

Local Authority Pension Fund Forum, and developments on responsible investment matters with themes of interest to the Committee. 

• Implementation and further inclusion of actions positively correlated with broader Net Zero Climate Strategy through LGPS Central and 

other external managers to ensure the climate transition and physical risks are identified and managed through stewardship and/or 

asset allocation activities.  

114



Appendix A 

 

• Work with appointed managers to understand how they are assessing, monitoring, and mitigating key transition and physical risks within 

material sectors. With a focus on high impact sector and previous disclosures. 

• RI Working group with LGPS Central and Partner Funds. Including Working with LGPS Central to continue to develop climate reporting 

more broadly, and look at improvements to fixed income.  

• Explore use of  climate scenario analysis with a look to integrate funding and investment analysis in line with Climate Risk Management 

recommendation. 

• Continue to engage companies highlighted in Climate Stewardship Report via our engagement partners including LGPS Central on 

companies and engagements selected. Look to encourage escalation where needed. 

• Following expected review of the Stewardship Code 2020, review whether the Fund should apply, subject to value being evidenced.  

• Continue review of best practice with regards to the Fund’s asset classes and climate reporting, and international industry standards. 

 

 

115



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 

 

RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT PLAN 2023 
Financial 

Quarter 
Date 
(where 
applicable) 

Title Description  

Q4 20 January 
2023 

RI Plan Communication and publication of the Fund’s 2023 RI Plan  
 
Approved by the Local Pension Committee. 

 3 March 2023 Manager Presentation  Presentation from Partners Group. As part of Manager report to Committee 
overview of approach to Environment, Social and Governance factors (ESG)in 
relation to Partners management of private credit assets on the Fund’s behalf.  
  

 3 March 2023 Net Zero Climate Strategy 
(NZCS) 

Consideration of outcome of consultation and seeking approval for final Strategy 
Net Zero Climate Strategy and Implementation Plan was approved by the Local 
Pension Committee. This was communicated to scheme members through the 
Member Self Service website, as well as part of the web page on Investments, 
Responsible Investment and Climate Change.  
 
 

 9 March 2023 LGPS Central RI Summit All Members have been invited to attend LGPS Central Responsible Investment 
Summit. 
A day of sessions comprised:  

Session 1: Climate Change and Human Rights Panel 

Session 2: Greenwashing: Developments and Implications for 2023 

Options for breakout sessions: Investing in China, Sustainable 

Investing, Why Biodiversity is Important to Investors 

Session 4: Interview with Barclays, the Climate Transition and Net 

Zero in the Banking Sector 

Options for breakout sessions: Energy Markets and the Transition, 

Renewable Energy, Investing in Carbon Capture and Hydrogen 

117



Appendix A 

 

Session 6: Net Zero in Asset Alternatives 

Session 7: LGPS Central’s Net Zero Strategy 

  

  Manager Climate 
Snapshot as 31 March  

The Fund will request climate related information from all investment managers to 
understand how they are monitoring/managing climate risk. This will be used to 
drive discussions on matters related to the NZCS with Investment Managers 
throughout the year.  
 
Information has been requested and received which is being used to support 
discussions on the Fund’s climate reporting and how Managers align with the 
Fund’s ambitions, this will need to be monitored to ensure where Managers are 
aligned with its net zero ambitions, that their investment strategy supports this. High 
level results were reported to the 1 December Committee meeting, 
 

Q1 
 

16 June 2023 Taskforce on Climate-
Related Financial 
Disclosures (TCFD) 
Report 

Public report of the Fund’s approach to climate risk, set out in alignment with the 
recommendations of the TCFD, updates in relation to NZCS, Climate Risk Report 
and stewardship reporting where applicable. This is subject to review in line with 
the Climate Risk Report and work with LGPS Central on streamlining and 
simplification and expected government guidance following their consultation late 
2022. 
 
Discussions on the Fund’s Climate Risk Report were held with LGPS Central. 
Including increased asset coverage as presented to the Committee at the 1 
December 2023 meeting. Central provided a brief update of a mock dashboard at 
the June meeting.  

 16 June 2023 Manager Presentation Manager TBC. As part of Manager report to Committee overview of approach to 
ESG. 
Stafford Capital presented to the Committee on their approach to timberland and 
ESG related issues, including biodiversity. 
 
Committee also received an early update on the ESG tool from LGPS Central.  

Q2 
 

8 September 
2023  

Manager Presentation Property, DTZ. As part of the Manager presentation to Committee members 
received an overview of ESG in real estate, and detail on ESG objective for the 
LGPS Central Sub Fund of implementing and managing ESG risks, capturing 

118



Appendix A 

 

 
 

opportunities, the plan for Net Zero target of 2040 and to comply with all 
environmental legislation.  

  Administration and 
Communication Strategy 

Review further to any change’s resultant from NZCS engagement. 
In progress.  

  Responsible Investment 
&Engagement 101 
Training 

LGPS Central to provide two-hour training session on responsible investment and 
engagement in advance of November Climate Risk Report. Training followed the 
September Committee meeting, covering:  
 

- Responsible Investment and Financial Outcomes 
- The importance of stewardship, how we engage, successful engagement 

and Voting Season 2023 
- RI Issues – Net Zero, Climate Issues and reporting, Taskforce for Nature 

and Financial Disclosures 
 
 

  
 

Investment Advisor 
Objectives 

Review in line with Competition and Market Authority requirements.   
 
To be presented to December committee with integration of the Fund’s Net Zero 
and RI considerations.  

Q3 
 
 

1 December  Climate Risk Report LGPS Central are holding discussions with partner funds about future reporting. 
The Fund will ensure it is reviewed in light of reporting on NZCS and seek to 
expand data coverage.  
 
Presented to Committee, outstanding recommendations to feed into 2024 RI Plan.  

  1 December Manager Presentation. LGIM, Low Carbon Equities. As part of Manager report to Committee overview of 
approach to ESG. 
 

  Strategic Asset Allocation 
Review 

To take into account climate risk as per NZCS and Climate Risk Report.  
Officers have shared the Fund’s climate data with Hymans, and will discuss this 
integration into the SAA given the general good performance in relation to NZCS 
targets, and how to progress the Fund’s objectives.  
 

 11 Pension Fund AGM Presentation delivered as part of Pension Fund Annual General Meeting.  
 
Included questions received from scheme members  

119



Appendix A 

 

Q4 
 

January 2024 Strategic Asset Allocation 
Committee 

Consider recommendations from Climate Risk Report and Net Zero Climate 
Strategy. Report to be brought to January Committee alongside Hymans view 
relating to fossil fuel exposures.  

  RI Plan 2024 Plan.  

 

Ongoing Activities throughout the year 

• Quarterly reports to the Local Pension Committee on voting, engagement, and stewardship activities of LGPS Central, LGIM and the 

Local Authority Pension Fund Forum, and developments on responsible investment matters.  

• Implementation and further inclusion of actions positively correlated with broader Net Zero Climate Strategy through LGPS Central and 

other external managers to ensure the climate transition and physical risks are identified and managed through stewardship and/or 

asset allocation activities. Especially in regard to active equity portfolios. LGPS Central are reporting RI matters undertaken in 

monitoring active equity portfolios.  

• Review the listed equity portfolio with the investment advisor taking into account the Net Zero Climate Strategy. Agreed and discussed 

at April Investment Subcommittee, including allocation to new LGIM Low Carbon Transition fund. Further steps are needed to appoint a 

transition advisor to formalise the timeline and strategy agreed. 

• Work with appointed managers to understand how they are assessing, monitoring, and mitigating key transition and physical risks within 

material sectors. Officers have now met with a number of key Managers to understand their processes with managing climate risk, a 

highlight of managers coverage and key challenges are set out in the December RI Update.  

• Working with LGPS Central to continue to develop climate reporting. As part of the development of the Climate Risk Report this process 

is ongoing, alongside integration of sustainability and ESG reporting more generally.  

• Continue to engage companies highlighted in Climate Stewardship Report via our engagement partners including LGPS Central on 

companies and engagements selected. LGPS Central are in the process of reviewing their approach to Stewardship which the Fund 

and partner funds are engaging with.  

• Exploration of potential codes/bodies (e.g., Stewardship Code 2020, Principles for Responsible Investment) for application. Preparation 

for reporting against the Stewardship Code in early 2024 has begun. Given the expected review of the Stewardship Code, it may be 

prudent to delay this until a revised code is published which it is hoped will be more outcome and action orientated.  

 

The following RI Activities have also been undertaken: 

• Communication of Local Authority Pension Fund Forum Voting Alerts to the Fund’s equity managers.   

120



Appendix A 

 

• Discussion with investment managers on the extent of metrics available for reporting to the Fund and level of known or estimated data 

and the challenges of specific asset classes with reporting. 

• The Pension Fund website has been updated with an overview of responsible investment and Climate Change considerations for the 

Pension Fund https://leicsmss.pensiondetails.co.uk/home/scheme-member/lgps/investments/ 

• Review of the LGPS Central RI&E Framework and Voting Principles for 2023  

• Oversight of best practice, policy papers, and news relating to RI. Including expected upcoming consultations on the LGPS, global 

attitudes towards RI and ESG, proposals on reporting on the Taskforce for Nature Related Financial Disclosures, and its social 

counterpart, and the Pensions Regulator TCFD review.  

• Local Authority Pension Fund Forum presented to the Local Pension Committee and Local Pension Board on 13 June as part of Joint 

Training.  

• Updated Pension Fund Annual Report to include RI and NZCS in a bitesize chunk.  

• The Fund will look to take into account, and work with Hymans on their recommendations and views on reporting requirements for the 

Fund’s protection portfolio following the July ISC. The Fund will await guidance on issues related to measurement of climate impact of 

its hedge.  

• The Fund is exploring how it can improve communication with scheme members and employers in easily digestible formats in relation to 

climate change and the impact on the Fund, this communication is expected to be published following the Fund’s AGM.  

 

121

https://leicsmss.pensiondetails.co.uk/home/scheme-member/lgps/investments/


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 
LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE – 26 JANUARY 2024 

 
PENSION FUND TRAINING NEEDS SELF ASSESSMENT 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to: 

 
a. provide the Local Pension Committee with an update on Training Needs Self 

Assessments which have been undertaken; 
 

b. identify training members of the Local Pension Committee are expected to 
complete in order to demonstrate a suitable level of knowledge and 
understanding.  

 
c. Set out options for the Committee to consider as part of the planned review of 

the current Training Policy. 
  

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The Local Pension Committee first agreed a Training Policy on 8 November 2019 in 

line with best practice at the time. The latest version of the Training Policy was 
approved by the Committee on 25 March 2022.  
 

3. The policy, and regular training, is required because of:  
 

• the distinction of fiduciary duty owed to the Fund, compared to members and 
officers' usual business.  

• the complexity of pension and investment issues. 

• inevitable changes in the membership due to the election cycles 

• the Fund being treated by investment managers as a professional client and 
requirement to comply with the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 
(MiFID II) 

• the potential consequences of not administering the Fund in an appropriate 
manner 

• responsible investing, net zero and how the Fund achieves this. 
 
4. Training requirements are also reflected in the Terms of Reference of both the 

Committee and the Local Pension Board which states members ‘must demonstrate 
to the Administering Authority their capacity to attend and prepare for meetings or to 
participate in required training.’ 
 

123 Agenda Item 8



 

 
 

 
Background 
 
5. As part of the 2023 consultation ‘Next Steps on Investment’ the Government 

proposed that each administering authority set a training policy for committee 
members, and that the administering authority report regularly on training 
undertaken and whether this is in line with the training policy. The Fund has 
historically reported training undertaken by both Committee and Board Members 
annually within the Fund’s Annual Report as part of best practice, and as 
recommended by the Scheme Advisory Board’s Good Governance review.  

 
6. As identified by the Pension Regulator, good governance is essential for a pension 

scheme to be successful, with a clear link between good governance and good fund 
performance.  

 
7. Hymans Robertson Aspire online training has been in place for a number of years. 

Over 2023 Hymans reviewed the offering and issued new refreshed modules which 
reset all members Aspire training records at zero as of September 2023. Members 
were asked to undertake these modules in light of the updated information and as 
part of the Fund’s Training Policy. 

 
Training Needs Assessment 
 
8. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accounting (CIPFA) published 

guidance on Pensions Knowledge and Skills in 2021. The guidance identifies eight 
core areas where appropriate knowledge and skills should be achieved and 
maintained: 
 

a. Pensions legislation and guidance 
b. Pensions governance 
c. Funding strategy and actuarial methods 
d. Pensions administration and communications 
e. Pensions financial strategy, management, accounting, reporting and audit 

standards 
f. Investment strategy, asset allocation, pooling, performance, and risk 

management 
g. Financial markets and products 
h. Pension services procurement, contact management and relationship 

management 
 

9. To best meet the training needs of Committee and Board Members, a training needs 
analysis was carried out at the end of 2023. The form consisted of 39 self-assessment 
questions against CIPFA’s eight core areas. 

 
10. As of 17 January 2023, eight out of 13 Committee members have completed their 

assessments. The anonymised results are attached at Appendix A to this report. 
Any members that have not yet completed the training needs assessment are 
asked to do so as soon as possible to support development of this year’s training 
programme.  
 

124



 

11. The results of the questionnaire, together with the current priorities for the Fund are 
used to decide on the approach and topics of training offered, this can be on a 
collective and individual basis. All Committee members that have completed this 
analysis have been emailed regarding recommended training. Other training will be 
picked up as part of the Fund’s training programme and forward plan.  

 
Training Policy 
 
12. Training can be provided in a number of ways. Officers, on a regular basis, inform 

Committee and Board members of relevant training opportunities, including:  
 

• Face-to-face sessions provided by external bodies, for example, Local 
Government Association.  

• Face-to-face sessions held internally, delivered by officers and/or the Fund’s 
providers, for example, actuary, investment advisers, investment managers. 
Sessions may be held jointly with both Committee and Board, or held 
separately, depending on priorities and availability. Some sessions may be held 
adjacent to scheduled meetings and may be linked to specific issues on the 
agenda.  

• Recommended reading material to keep up to date with pensions issues.  

• Modules from the Hymans on-line training package. As part of pre-meeting 
emails officers recommend specific modules relevant to upcoming agenda 
items.  

 
These modules are web based and include a video summary from pensions 
professionals, printable slides if needed and knowledge checks at the end of the 
module. There are a number of modules to complete which cover the following: 

 
o Module 1 – Committee Role and Pensions Legislation 
o Module 2 – Pensions Governance 
o Module 3 – Pensions Administration 
o Module 4 – Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards 
o Module 5 – Procurement and Relationship Management 
o Module 6 – Investment Performance and Risk Management 
o Module 7 – Financial Markets and Product Knowledge 
o Module 8 – Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices  
o Module 9 - Current Issues [topics are regularly updated and added to this 

module by Hymans] 
 

13. In addition, mandatory induction training is provided for all new members of the 
Committee and Board, including any potential substitute members.  

 
14. Each member of the Committee also receives an Information Pack which will 

contain information key to their role as set out in the Training Policy. 
 

15. A number of external training opportunities take place across the year. Some 
relevant to the LGPS are highlighted below. Further information will be provided to 
Committee members as such opportunities become available, as well as any other 
suitable events. Further details of these will be circulated by officers and will be 
funded by the Pension Fund.  

 
 

125



 

External Training Dates 

LGA, LGPS Pension 
Fundamentals 

3 days split over a number of dates (either online or in 
person) usually around October-December.  

LAPFF Annual Conference 
and Quarterly Meetings 

6-8 December 2024 (Bournemouth) 

LGPS Central Stakeholder 
Day 

March TBC 

LGPS Central RI Day TBC 

Hymans: Webinars and 
conferences covering 
topical issues facing and 
shaping the industry.  

https://www.hymans.co.uk/insights/events/ 
 

LGPS Live https://lgps-live.com/seriessofar/  
 
Webinars on key issues for LGPS funds and pools, these 
can vary from day-to-day operations to broader topics 
which will be of interest to members.  

 
 

16. A record of completion of all training, including Hymans on-line training, undertaken 
by Committee members is included within the Fund’s Annual Report presented in 
September each year. Essentially training progress will be shown as a snapshot of 
the position as at 31 March each year. Appendix B provides a summary of current 
progress in the training undertaken by the Committee members since March 2023 
to date. 
  

17. To show compliance with the Committee’s Terms of Reference and Training Policy 
in demonstrating capacity to prepare for meetings all Members are asked to 
complete all Hymans on-line training modules which were reset in September 2023, 
before 31st March 2024 so that this can be accounted for as part of the Fund’s next 
annual report.  
 

Review of Training Policy 
 

18. Officers are in the process of reviewing the Fund’s existing Training Policy to enable 
more effective reporting on progress against the Policy. Members are asked to 
contribute any thoughts they have on the existing approach to training which can be 
taken into account as part of that review. In particular, the Committee is asked to 
consider whether to mandate specific training requirements. 
 

19. Officers are aware of the pressures on members and does not want to set 
unreasonable standards which create difficulties for members serving on the 
Committee. Individuals are not expected to become technical experts, and levels of 
knowledge will vary depending on experience. It is also acknowledged that some 
have been members of this Committee for a number of years and so have over time 
built up good knowledge and experience. However, ultimately the Local Pension 
Committee must satisfy those providing investment services that it possesses the 
expertise, experience and knowledge required to be capable of making its own 
investment decisions and understands the risks involved and continually keeping up 
to date with training available is an accepted way to provide such assurance. 

 

126

https://www.hymans.co.uk/insights/events/
https://lgps-live.com/seriessofar/


 

20. While some Members have periodically accessed the Hymans modules online, it is 
fair to say routine use could be improved. Members who have not yet found the 
time to work through any of the modules are strongly encouraged to do so, given it 
is a valuable and tailored LGPS training resource which is in accordance with the 
Training Policy and Terms of Reference, though not yet currently mandated. 

 
21. A review has been undertaken of other LGPS fund’s training policies and options for 

discussion are presented to members for next steps in enhancing the Fund’s 
training policy. As an example, other funds have agreed the following more specific 
recommendations: 
 

o Hampshire require at a minimum new members undertake the external LGA 
Fundamentals Course (3 days). All Members must also complete the Aspire 
Hymans modules within 12 months.  
 

o Somerset have agreed key training guidelines which differ depending on time 
served and require a commitment of at least 1-3 days specific training for 
members per year.  
 

o Surrey provides interim updates on training progress to the Committee and 
Board. Where members do not complete the required training in the 
timeframes set out, the matter is reported for action. Membership may be 
terminated due to a member no longer being able to demonstrate to the 
Scheme Manager their capacity to attend and prepare for meetings, or to 
participate in required training or otherwise to carry out the requirements of 
the role appropriately. 

 
22. Having considered other approaches it is proposed that the Fund look to formally 

mandate completion of Hymans on-line Modules and become more active in 
reporting to the Chairman on progress against completion as well as increase 
reporting to the Committee and Board at reasonable intervals.  
 

23. It is proposed that officers recommend specific modules in advance of meetings to 
spread completion over a reasonable timeframe. Members can either complete 
these modules at their own leisure, or officers can set up specific times and dates 
either in person or via Microsoft Teams if there is appetite for Members to view the 
sessions jointly. Alternatively, the Fund could set a specific timeframe for 
completion of all modules which are undertaken by members when possible. 

 
Recommendations 

 
24. It is recommended that the Local Pension Committee agrees that: 

 

a. All members should complete the training needs assessment if not yet 

completed by 2 February 2024.  

 

b. Members should commit to progressing completion of Hymans Aspire 

modules, noting that a record will be taken as at 31 March 2024 for the 

Fund’s Annual report.  

 
c. Members feedback any views on the current approach to the Fund’s Training 

Policy as part of the review. 

127



 

 

Background Papers 
 

Local Pension Committee – 25 March 2022 – Training Policy 

https://democracy.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=740&MId=6758&Ver=4 
 
Equality Implications 
 
25. None. 
 
Human Rights Implications 
 
26. None 

 
Legal Implications 
 
27. The Director of Law and Governance has been consulted on this report.  
 
28. Under MiFID II (Markets in Financial Instruments Directive) local and public 

authorities must satisfy a qualitative test that allows them to be treated as a 
professional investor with the capacity to make investment decisions. This test 
requires the Local Pension Committee to satisfy those providing investment 
services that it possesses the expertise, experience and knowledge required to be 
capable of making its own investment decisions and understanding the risks 
involved.  

 
29. The Local Pension Committee’s Terms of Reference sets out that members must 

demonstrate to the Administering Authority their capacity to attend and prepare for 
meetings or to participate in required training in order to reach the required standard 
in line with MiFID II and the Fund’s Terms of Reference. It is for the Scheme 
Manager (the Administering Authority) to be satisfied that those appointed have the 
appropriate degree of knowledge and understanding to enable them to properly 
exercise their functions as a member of the Committee. 

 
30. In line with these duties under their role, Committee members are required to be 

able to demonstrate their knowledge and understanding and to refresh and keep 
their knowledge up to date on anything that would fall within the remit of their role. A 
written record of all relevant training and development (whether internal or external) 
undertaken by Committee members should be maintained. All members will 
undertake an annual personal training needs analysis and regularly review their 
skills, competencies, and knowledge to identify gaps or weaknesses as well as the 
mandatory training that the Scheme Manager considers is required to ensure the 
Board and Committee operates as effectively as possible. All information in relation 
to training and development of all members shall be made available to the 
Committee as part of the Review Process. 

 
31. It is important that members are trained appropriately so that decisions are made 

from a sound knowledge base thereby minimising the risk of any legal challenge. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Training Needs Assessment Anonymised  

128

https://democracy.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=740&MId=6758&Ver=4


 

Appendix B – Current Training Progress February 2023-December 2023 and Hymans 
Module completion 
 
Background Papers 

 
Local Pension Committee – 25 March 2022 – 

https://democracy.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=740&MId=6758&Ver=4 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Declan Keegan, Director of Corporate Resources 
Tel: 0116 305 7668  Email: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk 
  
Simone Hines, Assistant Director Finance, Strategic Property and Commissioning 
Tel: 0116 305 7066 Email: Simone.Hines@leics.gov.uk 
 
Bhulesh Kachra, Senior Finance Analyst - Investments 
Tel: 0116 305 1449 Email: Bhulesh.Kachra@leics.gov.uk 
 
Cat Tuohy, Responsible Investment Analyst 
Tel: 0116 305 5483  Email: Cat.Tuohy@leics.gov,uk 
 

129

https://democracy.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=740&MId=6758&Ver=4
mailto:Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Simone.Hines@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Bhulesh.Kachra@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Cat.Tuohy@leics.gov,uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Training Needs Assesment 2023 Results 

Respondent 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

General pensions legislative framework in the UK, for example defined benefit, defined contribution, tax treatment and auto-

enrolment.

The roles and powers of the UK Government in relation to the LGPS

The main features of the LGPS legislation relating to benefits, administration and investment. 

The role of Leicestershire County Council as administering authority in relation to the LGPS in relation to the Fund

The role of the Scheme Advisor Board and the Pensions Regulator, Pensions Advisory Service and Pensions Ombudsman to the workings 

of the LGPS

Awareness of the Pension Regulator’s Code of Practice for public sector pension schemes

The role of the Local Pension Committee

The role of the Local Pension Board 

The roles and statutory responsibilities of the Administering Authority S151 officer

Potential conflicts of interest, how they are identified and managed.

Requirements on the Fund in relation to accounting legislation and the Fund’s Annual Accounts. 

Audit Regulations and legislative requirements relating to internal controls and external audit for the Pension Fund. 

The Administration and Communication Strategy and how the service is delivered and communicated to the Fund’s members and 

employers.

An understanding of how Fund breaches in law are reported

Understanding of Fund policies relating to member data, record keeping, internal dispute procedures, cyber risk and contributions.

LGPS discretions and how employers’ discretionary polices impact on the Fund. 

Tax treatment of pensions, retirement lump sums annual allowance and lifetime allowance 

The Fund’s Additional Voluntary Contribution arrangements and  choice of investments offered to members

Statutory deadlines and key performance indicators of the Pension Fund.

An understanding the background of public procurement and the roles of key decision makers and organisations in relation to pensions 

administration (ie. Actuarial services, Investment Advisors, AV...

Supplier risk management. (ie. procurement procedure, risk assessments, what to look for when selecting an investment manager). 

An understanding of how the Fund monitors and manages outsourced providers (software providers, tracing agencies) 

How pension fund management risks are monitored and managed.

The role of the Fund’s investments in paying future pension payments.

Awareness of the Fund's Investment Strategy Statement

Key aspects of Investment Manager Monitoring

The Fund's approach to responsible investment and engagement, and stewardship activities undertaken by fund managers and other 

partners.

The Fund's approach to climate risk and opportunities. 

Investment pooling and the role of LGPS Central. 

The risk and return characteristics of the main asset classes and their role in long-term pension fund investing, including different 

investment vehicles available  (ie. segregated or pooled, acti...

Understanding of the primary importance of the Fund’s Strategic Asset Allocation (at every January Committee).

Awareness of the limits placed by regulation on the investment activities of the Fund (ie. fiduciary duty, ESG, and Fund discretions). 

The actuarial valuation process, including development of the funding strategy statement.

Key assumptions in the actuarial valuation

The types of employer eligible to join the Fund

The importance of the employer covenant

How employers’ contribution rates are set

Where an employer leaves the Fund, how the promised pensions liabilities are paid for.

How employer outsourcings and bulk transfers are dealt with?

If you have any comments you may wish to make in terms of training areas or priorities. 

131



Fully conversant 

I am reasonably familiar, but additional training would be useful

Some but limited knowledge

No knowledge

132



Appendix A – Current Training Progress March 2023 - January 2024  

Hymans Module Training 
 

Meeting Training 
 

Member and Joining Date 

R
ep

re
sen

tin
g

 

In
v Su

b
-C

tte
e - 

H
ym

an
s Liste

d
 

Eq
u

ity an
d

 

Targe
te

d
 R

e
tu

rn
 

Jo
in

t Train
in

g: 
P

F, R
o

les an
d

 
R

e
sp

o
n

sib
ilitie

s, 

C
o

n
flict o

f 
In

te
re

st, LA
P

FF, 
Train

in
g, 

A
d

m
in

istratio
n

, 
R

isk R
e

gister, 

M
an

age
r 

M
o

n
ito

rin
g 

LG
P

S C
e

n
tral &

 

Staffo
rd

 C
ap

ital 
P

re
se

n
tatio

n
 

A
e

go
n

 A
sse

t 
M

an
age

m
e

n
t, 

In
d

e
x-Lin

ked
 

B
o

n
d

s (In
v. Su

b
-

C
tte

e) 

LG
P

S C
e

n
tral 

R
e

en
gage

m
e

n
t 

1
0

1
 train

in
g  

LG
P

S C
e

n
tral - 

In
v-Su

b
 C

tte
e 

LG
IM

 LC
T an

d
 

ESG
, LG

P
SC

 
C

lim
ate 

   
13 June 2023 16 

June 
2023 

26 July 2023 08 
September 

2023 

11 
Octo

ber 
2023 

01 
Decem

ber 
2023          

Mr. T. Barkley CC Leicestershire 
County Council 

Y y y y Y Y X 

Mr. D. Bill CC (from May 2022) Leicestershire 
County Council 

X x x y X X 
 

Mr. Grimley CC (from May 2022) Leicestershire 
County Council 

Y x y y X y 
 

Mr. P. King CC (from May 2022) Leicestershire 
County Council 

\ y x \ Y \ 
 

Mrs. A. Wright CC (from May 
2022) 

Leicestershire 
County Council 

\ y y \ X \ x 

Cllr. R. Denney (June 2023) District 
Representative 

\ y y X Y Y 
 

Cllr. M. Cartwright (June 2023) District 
Representative 

\ \ \ \ Y \ 
 

Cllr. M. Graham (till June 2023) District 
Representative 

Y x y \ \ \ 
 

Mr. N. Booth (from 2023 AGM) Employee Rep 
Elected 2023 
AGM 

\ y y \ Y y 
 

133



Mr. G. Lawrence (From 
December 2021 to 2 August 
2023) 

Employee Rep 
Elected 2021 
AGM 

\ x y X \ \ \ 

Mr. C. Pitt (from 2022 AGM) Employee Rep 
Elected 2022 
AGM 

Y y y y Y \ 
 

Mr. V. Bechar (from 2023 AGM) Employee Rep 
Elected 2023 
AGM for I year 

\ \ \ \ \ \ \ 

Cllr. A. Clarke (from 15 August 
2023) 

Leicester City 
Council 

X \ \ \ X X 
 

Cllr. M. March (from 22 
November 2023) 

Leicester City 
Council 

\ \ \ \ \ \ 
 

Mr. Z. Limbada University 
Representative 

Y y y \ Y y 
 

Mrs. H. Fryer (from January 
2023) - Substitute 

Leicestershire 
County Council 

\ x \ \ \ X y - for 
Mrs. 
Wright 

Mr. D. Harrison (from January 
2023) - Substitute 

Leicestershire 
County Council 

\ y y - for 
Mr. 
King 

\ Y X y - for 
Mr. 
Barkley 

Mr. C. Smith (from January 
2023) - Substitute 

Leicestershire 
County Council 

\ y \ \ \ X \ 

 

 

External Training/Conferences 
LGPS Fundamentals (3 day course) 

- Mr Barkley (end of 2023) 

- Mr King (end of 2022) 

LGPS Conference January 2024 

- Mr King 

 

 

 

134



Fullname Course Name Course Enrolment 
Status 

Adam Clarke Module 2 - Pensions Governance Enrolled 

Adam Clarke An introduction to LGPS Online Learning Academy Enrolled 

Adam Clarke Module 7 - Financial Markets and Product Knowledge Enrolled 

Adam Clarke Current Issues Enrolled 

Adam Clarke Module 8 - Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices Enrolled 

Adam Clarke Module 5 - Procurement and Relationship Management Enrolled 

Adam Clarke Module 4 - Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards Enrolled 

Adam Clarke Module 1 - Committee Role and Pensions Legislation Enrolled 

Adam Clarke Module 6 - Investment Performance and Risk 
Management 

Enrolled 

Adam Clarke Module 3 - Pensions Administration Enrolled 

Anthony Cross Module 8 - Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices Enrolled 

Anthony Cross Module 3 - Pensions Administration Enrolled 

Anthony Cross Module 7 - Financial Markets and Product Knowledge Enrolled 

Anthony Cross Module 4 - Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards Enrolled 

Anthony Cross Module 1 - Committee Role and Pensions Legislation Enrolled 

Anthony Cross Module 6 - Investment Performance and Risk 
Management 

Enrolled 

Anthony Cross Current Issues Enrolled 

Anthony Cross Module 2 - Pensions Governance Enrolled 

Anthony Cross An introduction to LGPS Online Learning Academy Enrolled 

Anthony Cross Module 5 - Procurement and Relationship Management Enrolled 

Amanda Wright Module 5 - Procurement and Relationship Management Enrolled 

Amanda Wright Module 4 - Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards Enrolled 

Amanda Wright Module 1 - Committee Role and Pensions Legislation Enrolled 

Amanda Wright An introduction to LGPS Online Learning Academy Enrolled 

Amanda Wright Module 7 - Financial Markets and Product Knowledge Enrolled 

Amanda Wright Module 6 - Investment Performance and Risk 
Management 

Enrolled 

Amanda Wright Current Issues Enrolled 

Amanda Wright Module 2 - Pensions Governance Enrolled 

Amanda Wright Module 8 - Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices Enrolled 

Amanda Wright Module 3 - Pensions Administration Enrolled 

135



Clive Pitt Module 4 - Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards Enrolled 

Clive Pitt An introduction to LGPS Online Learning Academy Enrolled 

Clive Pitt Module 2 - Pensions Governance Enrolled 

Clive Pitt Current Issues Enrolled 

Clive Pitt Module 7 - Financial Markets and Product Knowledge Enrolled 

Clive Pitt Module 6 - Investment Performance and Risk 
Management 

Enrolled 

Clive Pitt Module 5 - Procurement and Relationship Management Enrolled 

Clive Pitt Module 8 - Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices Enrolled 

Clive Pitt Module 1 - Committee Role and Pensions Legislation Enrolled 

Clive Pitt Module 3 - Pensions Administration Enrolled 

Roy Denney Module 5 - Procurement and Relationship Management Enrolled 

Roy Denney Module 1 - Committee Role and Pensions Legislation Enrolled 

Roy Denney Module 2 - Pensions Governance Enrolled 

Roy Denney Current Issues Enrolled 

Roy Denney Module 3 - Pensions Administration Enrolled 

Roy Denney Module 6 - Investment Performance and Risk 
Management 

Enrolled 

Roy Denney Module 7 - Financial Markets and Product Knowledge Enrolled 

Roy Denney An introduction to LGPS Online Learning Academy Enrolled 

Roy Denney Module 4 - Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards Enrolled 

Roy Denney Module 8 - Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices Enrolled 

Daniel Grimley An introduction to LGPS Online Learning Academy Completed 

Daniel Grimley Module 8 - Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices Enrolled 

Daniel Grimley Module 7 - Financial Markets and Product Knowledge Enrolled 

Daniel Grimley Module 3 - Pensions Administration Enrolled 

Daniel Grimley Module 5 - Procurement and Relationship Management Enrolled 

Daniel Grimley Module 2 - Pensions Governance Enrolled 

Daniel Grimley Module 6 - Investment Performance and Risk 
Management 

Enrolled 

Daniel Grimley Module 4 - Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards Enrolled 

Daniel Grimley Module 1 - Committee Role and Pensions Legislation In Progress 

Daniel Grimley Current Issues In Progress 

David Bill Current Issues Enrolled 

David Bill Module 7 - Financial Markets and Product Knowledge Enrolled 

136



David Bill Module 4 - Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards Enrolled 

David Bill Module 6 - Investment Performance and Risk 
Management 

Enrolled 

David Bill Module 2 - Pensions Governance Enrolled 

David Bill Module 1 - Committee Role and Pensions Legislation Enrolled 

David Bill Module 8 - Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices Enrolled 

David Bill Module 5 - Procurement and Relationship Management Enrolled 

David Bill Module 3 - Pensions Administration Enrolled 

David Bill An introduction to LGPS Online Learning Academy Enrolled 

Elly Cutkelvin Module 6 - Investment Performance and Risk 
Management 

Enrolled 

Elly Cutkelvin Module 5 - Procurement and Relationship Management Enrolled 

Elly Cutkelvin Module 1 - Committee Role and Pensions Legislation Enrolled 

Elly Cutkelvin An introduction to LGPS Online Learning Academy Enrolled 

Elly Cutkelvin Module 4 - Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards Enrolled 

Elly Cutkelvin Module 2 - Pensions Governance Enrolled 

Elly Cutkelvin Module 3 - Pensions Administration Enrolled 

Elly Cutkelvin Current Issues Enrolled 

Elly Cutkelvin Module 8 - Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices Enrolled 

Elly Cutkelvin Module 7 - Financial Markets and Product Knowledge Enrolled 

Manjit Saroya Module 7 - Financial Markets and Product Knowledge Enrolled 

Manjit Saroya Current Issues Enrolled 

Manjit Saroya Module 1 - Committee Role and Pensions Legislation Enrolled 

Manjit Saroya Module 4 - Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards Enrolled 

Manjit Saroya Module 5 - Procurement and Relationship Management Enrolled 

Manjit Saroya Module 8 - Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices Enrolled 

Manjit Saroya An introduction to LGPS Online Learning Academy Enrolled 

Manjit Saroya Module 2 - Pensions Governance Enrolled 

Manjit Saroya Module 3 - Pensions Administration Enrolled 

Manjit Saroya Module 6 - Investment Performance and Risk 
Management 

Enrolled 

Martin Cartwright Module 8 - Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices Enrolled 

Martin Cartwright Module 2 - Pensions Governance Enrolled 

Martin Cartwright Current Issues Enrolled 

137



Martin Cartwright Module 6 - Investment Performance and Risk 
Management 

Enrolled 

Martin Cartwright Module 5 - Procurement and Relationship Management Enrolled 

Martin Cartwright Module 4 - Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards Enrolled 

Martin Cartwright Module 7 - Financial Markets and Product Knowledge Enrolled 

Martin Cartwright An introduction to LGPS Online Learning Academy Enrolled 

Martin Cartwright Module 3 - Pensions Administration Enrolled 

Martin Cartwright Module 1 - Committee Role and Pensions Legislation Enrolled 

Melissa March Module 4 - Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards Enrolled 

Melissa March Module 3 - Pensions Administration Enrolled 

Melissa March An introduction to LGPS Online Learning Academy Completed 

Melissa March Module 7 - Financial Markets and Product Knowledge Enrolled 

Melissa March Module 5 - Procurement and Relationship Management Enrolled 

Melissa March Module 6 - Investment Performance and Risk 
Management 

Enrolled 

Melissa March Module 1 - Committee Role and Pensions Legislation Enrolled 

Melissa March Current Issues In Progress 

Melissa March Module 8 - Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices Enrolled 

Melissa March Module 2 - Pensions Governance Enrolled 

Nick Booth Module 6 - Investment Performance and Risk 
Management 

Completed 

Nick Booth Module 2 - Pensions Governance Enrolled 

Nick Booth Module 5 - Procurement and Relationship Management Enrolled 

Nick Booth Module 3 - Pensions Administration Completed 

Nick Booth Module 8 - Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices In Progress 

Nick Booth An introduction to LGPS Online Learning Academy Completed 

Nick Booth Current Issues Completed 

Nick Booth Module 7 - Financial Markets and Product Knowledge Enrolled 

Nick Booth Module 4 - Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards Completed 

Nick Booth Module 1 - Committee Role and Pensions Legislation Completed 

Phil King Module 4 - Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards Enrolled 

Phil King Module 3 - Pensions Administration Enrolled 

Phil King Module 8 - Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices Enrolled 

Phil King Module 2 - Pensions Governance Enrolled 

Phil King Module 5 - Procurement and Relationship Management Enrolled 

138



Phil King An introduction to LGPS Online Learning Academy Completed 

Phil King Module 1 - Committee Role and Pensions Legislation Enrolled 

Phil King Module 6 - Investment Performance and Risk 
Management 

Enrolled 

Phil King Module 7 - Financial Markets and Product Knowledge Enrolled 

Phil King Current Issues In Progress 

Richard Shepherd Module 6 - Investment Performance and Risk 
Management 

Enrolled 

Richard Shepherd Module 1 - Committee Role and Pensions Legislation Enrolled 

Richard Shepherd Module 2 - Pensions Governance Enrolled 

Richard Shepherd An introduction to LGPS Online Learning Academy Enrolled 

Richard Shepherd Module 5 - Procurement and Relationship Management Enrolled 

Richard Shepherd Module 3 - Pensions Administration Enrolled 

Richard Shepherd Current Issues Enrolled 

Richard Shepherd Module 4 - Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards Enrolled 

Richard Shepherd Module 7 - Financial Markets and Product Knowledge Enrolled 

Richard Shepherd Module 8 - Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices Enrolled 

Rosita Page Module 7 - Financial Markets and Product Knowledge Enrolled 

Rosita Page Module 3 - Pensions Administration Enrolled 

Rosita Page An introduction to LGPS Online Learning Academy Enrolled 

Rosita Page Module 5 - Procurement and Relationship Management Enrolled 

Rosita Page Module 8 - Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices Enrolled 

Rosita Page Module 6 - Investment Performance and Risk 
Management 

Enrolled 

Rosita Page Module 2 - Pensions Governance Enrolled 

Rosita Page Module 1 - Committee Role and Pensions Legislation Enrolled 

Rosita Page Module 4 - Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards Enrolled 

Rosita Page Current Issues Enrolled 

Ruth Gilbert Module 2 - Pensions Governance Enrolled 

Ruth Gilbert Module 8 - Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices Enrolled 

Ruth Gilbert Module 6 - Investment Performance and Risk 
Management 

Enrolled 

Ruth Gilbert An introduction to LGPS Online Learning Academy Enrolled 

Ruth Gilbert Module 7 - Financial Markets and Product Knowledge Enrolled 

Ruth Gilbert Module 5 - Procurement and Relationship Management Enrolled 

139



Ruth Gilbert Module 3 - Pensions Administration Enrolled 

Ruth Gilbert Module 1 - Committee Role and Pensions Legislation Enrolled 

Ruth Gilbert Current Issues Enrolled 

Ruth Gilbert Module 4 - Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards Enrolled 

Thomas Barkley Current Issues Completed 

Thomas Barkley An introduction to LGPS Online Learning Academy Completed 

Thomas Barkley Module 4 - Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards Completed 

Thomas Barkley Module 2 - Pensions Governance Completed 

Thomas Barkley Module 3 - Pensions Administration Completed 

Thomas Barkley Module 8 - Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices Completed 

Thomas Barkley Module 6 - Investment Performance and Risk 
Management 

Completed 

Thomas Barkley Module 5 - Procurement and Relationship Management Completed 

Thomas Barkley Module 1 - Committee Role and Pensions Legislation Completed 

Thomas Barkley Module 7 - Financial Markets and Product Knowledge Completed 

Vipul Bechar Module 5 - Procurement and Relationship Management Completed 

Vipul Bechar Module 2 - Pensions Governance Completed 

Vipul Bechar Module 3 - Pensions Administration Completed 

Vipul Bechar Module 1 - Committee Role and Pensions Legislation Completed 

Vipul Bechar Current Issues Enrolled 

Vipul Bechar Module 8 - Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices Enrolled 

Vipul Bechar An introduction to LGPS Online Learning Academy Completed 

Vipul Bechar Module 6 - Investment Performance and Risk 
Management 

Enrolled 

Vipul Bechar Module 7 - Financial Markets and Product Knowledge Enrolled 

Vipul Bechar Module 4 - Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards Completed 

Zubair Limbada Module 3 - Pensions Administration Enrolled 

Zubair Limbada Module 5 - Procurement and Relationship Management Enrolled 

Zubair Limbada Module 2 - Pensions Governance Enrolled 

Zubair Limbada An introduction to LGPS Online Learning Academy Enrolled 

Zubair Limbada Module 7 - Financial Markets and Product Knowledge Enrolled 

Zubair Limbada Module 6 - Investment Performance and Risk 
Management 

Enrolled 

Zubair Limbada Current Issues Enrolled 

Zubair Limbada Module 8 - Actuarial methods, Standards and Practices Enrolled 

140



Zubair Limbada Module 1 - Committee Role and Pensions Legislation Enrolled 

Zubair Limbada Module 4 - Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards Enrolled 

 

141



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 1 December 2024
	6 Overview of the Current Asset Strategy and Proposed 2024 Asset Strategy.
	Appendix LCCPF strategy review 2024 FINAL

	7 Draft Responsible Investment Plan 2024
	Appendix A - Draft RI Plan 2024
	Appendix B - Progress against 2023 plan - Copy

	8 Pension Fund Training Needs Self Assessment.
	Appendix A - Training Self-Assessment Results
	Appendix B - Training Progress March 2023 - Jan 2024


